# **General Disclaimer**

# One or more of the Following Statements may affect this Document

- This document has been reproduced from the best copy furnished by the organizational source. It is being released in the interest of making available as much information as possible.
- This document may contain data, which exceeds the sheet parameters. It was furnished in this condition by the organizational source and is the best copy available.
- This document may contain tone-on-tone or color graphs, charts and/or pictures, which have been reproduced in black and white.
- This document is paginated as submitted by the original source.
- Portions of this document are not fully legible due to the historical nature of some of the material. However, it is the best reproduction available from the original submission.

Produced by the NASA Center for Aerospace Information (CASI)

NASA CR-135074

(NASA-CR-135074)SCREENING ANALYSIS ANDN77-15038SELECTION OF EMISSION REDUCTION CONCEPTS FORINTERMITTENT COMBUSTION AIRCRAFT ENGINESUnclass(Teledyne Continental Motors, Mobile, Ala.)Unclass202 p HC A10/MF A01CSCL 21A G3/0711486

# SCREENING ANALYSIS AND SELECTION OF EMISSION REDUCTION CONCEPTS FOR INTERMITTENT COMBUSTION AIRCRAFT ENGINES

by: B. J. Rezy, J. E. Meyers, J. R. Tucker, K. J. Stuckas

# November 1976

TELEDYNE CONTINENTAL MOTORS Aircraft Products Division



Ĵ

prepared for

NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE ADMINISTRATION

NASA Lewis Research Center Contract NAS 3-19755

r						
1. Report No.		2. Government Access	ion No.	3. Recipient's Catalog	No.	
NASA CR-135	074				······································	
4. Title and Subtit	le			5. Report Date		
SCREENING A	SCREENING ANALYSIS AND SELECTION OF EMISSION			November 1976		
REDUCTION CONCEPTS FOR INTERMITTENT COMBUSTION AIRCRAFT ENGINES			6. Performing Organia	tation Code		
7. Author(s)			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	8. Performing Organiz	ation Report No.	
B. J. Rezv,	J. E. Meyers, J. R.	Tucker, and S. J	. Stuckas	TCM 5206		
			·			
9 Performing Oraz	nization Name and Address		·····	10. Work Unit No.		
Teledvne Co	ntinental Motors					
Aircraft Pr	oducts Division		[	11. Contract or Grant	No.	
Mobile, Ala	bana			NAS 3-19755		
L			F	13. Type of Report an	d Period Covered	
12. Sponsoring Age	icy Name and Address			Contractor Bo		
Nacional Ad	eronautics and Space .	Administration	ļ	Contractor Report		
Washington,	Washington, D. C. 20546			14. Sponsoring Agency	Code	
15. Supplementary	Notes					
Project Man	ager, M. Skorobatcky	1	<b>A</b> 7			
NASA Lewis	Research Center, Cle	veland, Ohio 441	.35			
[						
16. Abstract						
An ana:	lysis was conducted t	o screen, evaluat	e, and select three	engine exhaust	emission	
reduction (	oncepts from a group	of 14 candidate	alternatives. A con	mprehensive lite	rature	
search was	conducted to survey	the emission redu	etion technology St.	ate-or-cne-art a	nd establish ion reduction	
problems.	Concept development.	advantages, disa	dvantages, and expe	cted emission re-	duction	
responses	are stated herein. A	set of cost-effe	ctiveness criteria	was developed, a	ppraised for	
relative in	oportance, and traded	off against each	concept so that it	s merit could be	determined.	
A decision	model was used to ai	d the evaluators	in managing the cri	teria, make cons	istent	
judgements	, calculate merit sco	res, and rank the	concepts.			
An Imp	coved Fuel Injection	System, Improved	Cooling Combustion	Chamber, and a V	ariable	
Timing Ign	Ltion System were rec	commended to NASA	for approval and fu	rther concept de	velopment.	
An alterna	te concept, Air Injec	tion, was also re	commended.			
1						
	OPro-					
<u> </u>	OTHERNAL D	100				
	UP POOD	AGE IN				
	12 <b>74 6</b> 0	ALITO				
1		577 A 4				
1						
1						
1						
1						
17 Key Made /C.	inneted to Authoritat t		10 Dissibution Contactor	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
	literies of womenisti		to. Untribution Statement	k		
Air pollution Aircraft internal combustion engines Unclosed field - Unlimited						
Exhaust em	Exhaust emissions					
19. Security Classif.	(of this report)	20. Security Classif. (a	of this page)	21. No. of Pages	22, Price*	
Unclassifi	(of this report) ad	20. Security Classif. (a Unclassified	f this page) I	21. No. of Pages 210	22, Price*	

\* For sale by the National Technical Information Service, Springfield, Virginia 22161

94 **4**8

**National** and the second se

uniter 🔅

NASA-C-168 (Rev. 10-75)

1

1

ł

1

L ......

Calum Sine

Contraction of

Edimonest N

CONTRACT OF

NASA CR-135074

# SCREENING ANALYSIS AND SELECTION OF EMISSION REDUCTION CONCEPTS FOR

INTERMITTENT COMBUSTION AIRCRAFT ENGINES

by: B. J. Rezy, J. E. Meyers, J. R. Tucker, K. J. Stuckas

November 1976

TELEDYNE CONTINENTAL MOTORS Aircraft Products Division

 $\left[ \right]$ 

prepared for

NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE ADMINISTRATION

NASA Lewis Research Center Contract NAS 3-19755

ie zeh Mittelen zumen die Bekenden eine sonderlichen der der die eine die eine zuhler die die die Bekenden der die sonder die Bekenden die Bekende B

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

.

.

1

**لغ**ر بالدرجية . ا

- Andrewski B

-----

. .

Section		Page
1. INT	RODUCTION	1
2. SUM	MARY	2
3. CON	CLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	5
4. LIT	ERATURE SEARCH	8
5. CONG	CEPT DEFINITIONS AND EMISSION RESULTS	11
5.1	TCM IO-520-D Engine	11
5.2	Stratified Charge Combustion Chambers	14
	5.2.1 Honda Compound Vortex Controlled Combustion (CVCC)	14
	5.2.2 Ford Programmed Combustion System (PROCO)	15
	5.2.3 Texaco Controlled Combustion System (TCCS)	16
5.3	Improved Cooling Combustion Chambers	17
	5.3.1 Redesigned Cylinder Head Cooling Fins	17
	5.3.2 Exhaust Port Coatings	18
	5.3.3 Exhaust Port Liners	19
5.4	Diesel Combustion Chambers	20
	5.4.1 Four-Stroke Open Chamber Diesel	20
	5.4.2 Two-Stroke Diesel, McCulloch	21
5.5	Variable Camshaft Timing	22
5.6	Improved Fuel Injection Systems	24
5.7	Ultrasonic Fuel Atomization	25
5.8	Thermal Fuel Vaporization	26

Service Service

### TABLE OF CONTENTS - Concluded

レービスと

Section					Page
5.9 Improved Ignition Systems	• • •		•••	•	28
5.9.1 Multiple Spark Discharge Igni	tion		•••	•	28
5.9.2 Variable Timing Ignition			•••	•	29
5.10 Hydrogen Enrichment			• •	•	30
5.11 Air Injection	• • •	•••	••	•	31
5.12 Emission Results		••	••	•	33
6. DECISION MODEL	• • •		••	•	35
6.1 Decision Situation				•	35
6.2 Objectives and the Decision Criteria	a	••	•••	•	35
6.3 Development of Criteria and Attribut	es.		•••	•	35
6.4 Evaluation and Ranking of Design Cri	teria			•	36
6.5 Synthesis of the Solution Alternativ	/es .			•	37
6.6 Evaluation and Ranking of the Soluti Alternatives	Lon	•••		•	37
6.7 Selection of an Optimum Solution Alt Preference Data Set	ernati	ve • •		•	38
6.8 Examination of the Decision Criteric Concept Choices	on and	Desi	lgn •••	٠	39
ILLUSTRATIONS		•••	•••	•	43
TABLES	• • •	•••		•	81
APPENDIX A. RAW EMISSIONS DATA		•••	۰.	•	<b>A-1</b>
APPENDIX B. EXHAUST EMISSIONS CALCULATION PROCES	OURE .	••		•	B-1
LIST OF DEFINITIONS AND SYMBOLS		••		•	L-1
REFERENCES		••		•	R1
BIBLIOGRAPHY		••		•	<b>Bi-1</b>
DISTRIBUTION LIST				•	D-1

ŧ

iv

and the second

بمدر عامد

diam'r.

## LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

and a strategy of the second se

.

Figure	Title	Page
1	Raw Emissions Data Request Form	45
2	IO-520-D, Emission Cycle Mixture Strength Schedule .	46
3	10-520-D, Exhaust Emission Levels for Various Mixture Strength Schedules	47
4	IO-520-D, Effect of Modal Equivalence Ratio on CO, HC, and NOx	48
5	Honda CVCC Engine Concept	49
6	Ford PROCO Stratified Charge Concept	50
7	Texaco Controlled Combustion System Concept	51
8	Typical Port Liner	52
9	Effect of Port Liner on Exhaust Gas Temperature	53
10	Exhaust Port Liner Concept	54
11	TCM Air-Cooled Exhaust Valve Concept	55
12	Effect of Valve Cooling Air Flow on Valve Neck Temperature	56
13	Typical Four-Stroke Diesel Open Combustion Chamber .	57
14	McCulloch Two-Stroke Diesel Combustion Chamber	58
15	Variable Camshaft Timing Concept	59
16	Typical Proposed Injector Nozzle - Cutaway	60
17	Teledyne Continental Motors Fuel Injector Nozzle Assembly	61
18	Pressure-Temperature Compensated Fuel Injection Pump Concept	62
19	Ethyl Turbulent Flow Manifold Concept	63
20	Typical Ignition System Waveforms	64

l - maria

# LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS - Concluded

Figure	Title	Page
21	Effect of Spark Timing on Lean Misfire Limit	65
22	Engine with Hydrogen Generator - Schematic	66
23	Effect of Air Injection on Exhaust Gas Temperature	67
24	Percent Allowable Emissions for Concepts Evaluated on a 7-Mode Aircraft Emission Cycle	68
25	Percent Allowable Emissions Versus Time Weighted Equivalence Ratio for Engines Evaluated on a 7- Mode Aircraft Emission Cycle	70
26	Apollo Applications Decision Model	71
27	Engine Exhaust Emission Reduction Decision Model .	72
28	Decision Analysis Criteria Emphasis Worksheet	73
29	Value Assignment Procedure	74
30	Assignment of Numerical Values	75
31	Sample of Criteria Versus Concept Tradeoff Evaluation and Preliminary Ordering Worksheets	76
32	Decision Analysis Concept Merit Worksheet	77
33	Sample Output of Concept Comparison Tradeoff Evaluation for Engineer Number 2	78
34	Concept Rank Ordering Versus Criteria Importance .	79

### LIST OF TABLES

•

:

the second s

041

Concernant of

Table	Title	Page
I	Concept Ranking for Emissions	83
II	IO-520-D Power Requirements by Operating Mode	84
III	Exhaust Emissions for Engine with Hydrogen Enrichment	85
IV	Selected Cost-Effectiveness Criteria Used to Evaluate the Engine Exhaust Emission Reduction Design Concepts	86
V	Criteria Element With a Partial Listing of Solution Attributes	87
VI	Number of Solution Attributes Used for Describing a Criteria Element	102
VĪI	Engine Exhaust Emission Reduction Criteria Emphasis Coefficients and Rank ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	103
VIII	Engine Exhaust Emission Reduction Criteria Emphasis Coefficients and Ranking - Optimized	107
IX	Engine Exhaust Emission Reduction Criteria Ordering Based on a Simple Arithmetic Average of the Evaluators' Final Ranking	108
X	Engine Exhaust Emission Reduction Concept Preference, Merit Score, and Rank	109
XI	Engine Exhaust Emission Reduction Concept Preference, Merit Score, and Rank - Optimized	113
XII	Engine Exhaust Emission Reduction Concept Comparison Tradeoff Evaluation Merit Scores - Optimized	114

# 1. INTRODUCTION

Teledyne Continental Motors (TCM), under contract to the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA), is conducting a program to establish and demonstrate the technology necessary to safely reduce general aviation piston engine exhaust emissions with minimum adverse effects on cost, weight, fuel economy, and performance. The emissions must be reduced sufficiently to meet the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 1980 Emission Standards as published in the Federal Register of July 17, 1973. Current aircraft piston engines are generally operated at "Full Rich" mixture setting for other than cruise conditions and, as such, discharge exhaust emissions that are high in unburned hydrocarbons (HC) and carbon monoxide (CO). Oxides of nitrogen (NOx) are within the EPA limits.

Although emphasizing emission reduction, the NASA program has a secondary objective of reducing the fuel consumption of these engines. This contract is intended to provide a screening and assessment of promising emission reduction concepts that afford good fuel economy. It is also intended to provide for the preliminary design and development of those promising concepts mutually agreed upon. These concepts will then go through final design, fabrication, and integration with a prototype engine(s). Verification testing will then be performed at the TCM facility.

This report discusses the results of completing Task II, "Screening Analysis and Selection of Three Emission Reduction Concepts", that was conducted from February to June of 1976.

A systems analysis study and a decision-making procedure were used by TCM to evaluate, trade off, and rank the candidate concepts from a list of 14 alternatives. Cost, emissions, and 13 other design criteria considerations were defined and traded off against each candidate co cept to establish its merit and emission reduction usefulness. A computer program (1) was used to assist the evaluators in making the final choice of three concepts.

100

Many automotive concepts were investigated in this study, and it is important to note that the aircraft piston engine emission test cycle is considerably different from the automotive test cycles. For this reason any conclusions made in this study can only be applied to aircraft piston engines.

### 2. SUMMARY

The objectives of Task II were to conduct a screening analysis on a minimum of 10 promising concepts and select three concepts for further development. The approach used to fulfill the objectives was fivefold:

- Select a preliminary list of concepts
- Conduct a detailed literature search
- Contact firms for additional data
- Define criteria and method of evaluation
- Rank concepts based on a consistent set of weighted cost-effectiveness criteria.

Steps 1 through 3 of the approach produced a list of fourteen concepts which were investigated during the remainder of Task II. The promising concepts are listed in order of general category:

- - - - **-**

: 1

i

- Stratified Charge Combustion Chambers:
  - Honda Compound Vortex Controlled Combustion
  - Texaco Controlled Combustion System
  - Ford Programmed Combustion
- Improved Cooling Combustion Chamber
- Diesel Combustion Chambers:
  - Four-Stroke, Open Chamber
  - Two-Stroke, McCulloch
- Variable Camshaft Timing
- Improved Fuel Injection Systems
- Ultrasonic Fuel Atomization Autotronics System
- Thermal Fuel Vaporization Ethyl TFS

وروحيه ترميه فيترقل والربيط فلاصلا فالشاك كبا

- Ignition Systems:
  - Multiple Spark Discharge
  - Variable Timing
- Hydrogen Enrichment
- Air Injection.

Step 4 was accomplished by selecting and defining the decision factors (criteria). The criteria chosen in the evaluation of the concepts were:

- Cost
- Reliability
- Safety
- Technology
- Performance
- Cooling
- Adaptability
- Materials

- Integration
- Producibility
- Fuel Economy
- Weight and Size
- Maintainability and Maintenance
- Emissions
- Operational Characteristics.

Each decision factor was further defined by listing specific questions which were used in evaluating each concept.

The ranking of the concepts, Step 5, was accomplished with a computer program that aids a decision maker in arriving at consistent decisious under conditions of both certainty and uncertainty. The model assists in obtaining consistent rankings of the decision criteria and of the concepts relative to each of the criteria. The emphasis coefficients assigned to each criterion, the merit scores assigned to each concept relative to each criterion, and the associated uncertainties determined the overall merit coefficient for each concept. These merit coefficients defined the concept ranking which was used as a guide in the final selection of the three concepts. The overall concept preference analysis is summarized below:

RANK

Improved Cooling Combustion Chamber	T
Improved Fuel Injection System	2
Air Injection	3
Multiple Spark Discharge Ignition System	4
Ultrasonic Fuel Atomization, Autotronics	5
Variable Timing Ignition System	6
Thermal Fuel Vaporization, Ethyl	7
Hydrogen Enrichment, JPL	8
Texaco CCS	9
Two-Stroke Diesel, McCulloch	10
Ford PROCO	11
Variable Camshaft Timing	12
Honda CVCC	13
Four-Stroke Diesel, Open Chamber	14

The ranking of each concept relative to the most important criterion, emissions, reveals the dramatic effect the remaining criteria had on the overall preference analysis:

CONCEPT	Man
Hydrogen Enrichment, JPL	1
Honda CVCC	2
Improved Fuel Injection System	3
Air Injection	4
Texaco CCS	5
Ford PROCO	6
Two-Stroke Diesel, McCulloch	7
Four-Stroke Diesel, Open Chamber	8
Improved Cooling Combustion Chamber	9
Variable Camshaft Timing	10
Thermal Fuel Vaporization, Ethyl	11
Ultrasonic Fuel Atomization, Autotronic	12
Variable Timing Ignition System	13
Multiple Spark Discharge Ignition System	3.4

Ť.

100

4 - H - H - H

2

A new years

- States

Barrand

Only two of the top five emission concepts ranked in the top five overall preference analysis: Improved Fuel Injection System and Air Injection. An Improved Cooling Combustion Chamber, ranking minth on the emission scale, was the top overall preference.

# 3. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Based on the results of the concept-criteria tradeoff analysis, the following three concepts are recommended to NASA for approval and further development:

- Improved Fuel Injection System
- Improved Cooling Combustion Chamber
- Variable Timing Ignition System.

Air Injection, the third ranked overall preference concept, is recommended as an alternate concept for NASA consideration.

The fourth ranked concept, Multiple Spark Discharge Ignition System, and the fifth ranked concept, Ultrasonic Fuel Atomization, were bypassed as recommendations partly because of NASA contracts presently investigating these concepts. Ultrasonic Fuel Atomization was considered more applicable to carburetted engines than individual cylinder fuelinjected engines. A Multiple Spark Discharge Ignition System was considered less important than a system that provides an ignition spark regulated as a function of engine speed and load.

An Improved Fuel Injection System will consist of a timed, airflow sensitive system capable of supplying fuel at moderate pressure to the injectors. A timed, moderate fuel pressure system is required to ensure a fuel mist with adequate cylinder distribution as opposed to the present continuous flow, low pressure system. An airflow-sensitive system is required to maintain the desired fuel-air ratio, which will control the emission levels, and together with proper cylinder distribution, provide better engine transient response.

Throughout this study exhaust emissions were compared to the TCM IO-520-D engine operating at the lean fuel flow limit of the model specification. This fuel schedule was chosen as representative of a high volume production engine operating at the leanest fuel-air ratios recommended. Exhaust emission values quoted herein reflect minimum projected levels and no tolerance band is inferred. An Improved Fuel Injection System has the potential for reducing HC by 43%, CO by 29%, and increasing NOx by 93%. These emission potentials result in absolute emission levels of 55%, 90%, and 58% of the EPA standard for HC, CO, and NOx, respectively.

An Improved Fuel Injection System capable of maintaining lean fuel-air ratios cannot operate effectively for all engine applications because of possible cylinder head overheating. Operating at leaner than present fuel-air ratios requires a combustion chamber design capable of withstanding greater heat loads. Methods of obtaining an Improved Cooling Combustion Chamber are:

- Cooling fin redesign
- Exhaust port liners
- Exhaust port coatings.

An Improved Cooling Combustion Chamber will not significantly affect HC emissions; however, a 16% decrease in CO and a 47% increase in NOx were projected for the concept which resulted in emission levels of 106%, 95%, and 44% of the EPA standard for CO, HC, and NOx, respectively. The changes resulted through improved cooling during climb and takeoff, which allows leaner fuel-air ratios while maintaining engine power.

A Variable Timing Ignition System can provide improved engine acceleration characteristics while operating at leaner than present fuelair ratios in idle, taxi, and approach modes. Light load operation in the idle and taxi modes will become smoother by retarding the spark, while vacuum advancing the spark in the cruise range will enhance lean mixture burning. A centrifugal advance would be required to compensate for changes in engine speed under constant manifold pressure.

Use of a Variable Timing Ignition System will not significantly reduce exhaust emissions relative to the aircraft emission cycle; however, the ability to provide variable ignition in idle, taxi, and approach modes will decrease the acceleration problem associated with leaning these modes. Potential leaning benefits would result in emission reductions of 11% for HC and 8% for CO, and an increase of 17% for NOx.

÷.

Air Injection was chosen as an alternate concept since aftertreatment of the exhaust products does not attack the fundamental source of the problem, i.e., excessively rich fuel-air ratios. The potential of Air Injection, however, cannot be denied. Reductions of 33% for HC and 23% for CO, and an increase of 13% for NOx are projected for this concept.

The adaptability of all four concepts provides a means for many possible integrated emission reduction packages, as shown in the sketch on the following page. An Improved Fuel Injection System, an Improved Cooling Combustion Chamber, and a Variable Timing Ignition System complement each other in reducing emissions by overcoming the associated problems of operating at leaner than present fuel-air ratios. An exhuast port liner coupled with Air Injection provides a means of after-treatment of the exhaust products, ensures a cooler cylinder head, and suggests leaner fuel-air ratio operation.

The primary and alternate proposed concepts offer extremely promising combinations for a safe and versatile emission reduction package.



# 4. LITERATURE SEARCH

As partial fulfillment of Task II (Screening Analysis) as defined in the Technical Work Plan (2), TCM conducted a literature search through five main sources:

- SAE Technical paper search
- NASA/Lewis RECON key word search
- NTIS Published searches
- NASA/Marshall Space Flight Center RECON key word search
- References Published references from technical papers were searched for additional reports.

Although the literature search, per se, is complete, new technical publications will be searched through the remainder of the contract for information and data pertaining to the chosen concepts. Conclusions from the completed literature search can be summarized as follows:

- No new concepts for reducing exhaust emissions were found, compared to the candidate concepts in the RFP or the 10 selected concepts in the original work plan.
- Minimal data were available for detailed modal analysis (most of the published data were in the form of grams/ mile, dilute data, and/or low power conditions).
- Minimal data were available for supporting evaluation of the concepts on the basis of the criteria presented in Section 6.
- Additional data were required to evaluate certain concepts on the basis of emissions.

Based on the results of the above search, TCM contacted firms considered to be experts in their respective fields to obtain raw emissions data for analysis on the aircraft cycle as well as any other pertinent information on the promising concepts. The firms contacted were:

#### FIRM

Autotronic Controls Corporation

Bendix Corporation

Borg-Warner Corporation

Chrysler Corporation

Environmental Protection Agency

Ethyl Corporation

Ford Motor Company

Honda American Motor Company

Jet Propulsion Laboratory

McCulloch Corporation

NASA - Lewis Research Center

Ricardo & Company Engineers

Southwest Research Institute (SWRI)

Texaco, Incorporated

Toyota Motor Company

#### CONCEPT

Ultrasonic Fuel Atomization Multiple Spark Discharge System

Electronic Fuel Injection

Electronic Fuel Injection

Variable Timing Ignition System

General Emissions Data

Thermal Fuel Vaporization

Stratified Charge - (Ford PROCO)

Stratified Charge - (Honda CVCC)

Hydrogen Enrichment Ultrasonic Fuel Atomization

Diesel, Two-Stroke

General Emissions Data

General Emissions Data

Diesel, Four-Stroke; Stratified Charge - (Honda CVCC, Ford PROCO, and Texaco CCS)

Stratified Charge - (Texaco CCS)

Lean-Burn with Turbulence Generating Pot

White Engines, Incorporated Diesel, Four-Stroke

A typical data request form is presented in Figure 1.

Emissions data in the required form were received for the following concepts:

¥

#### CONCEPT

Diesel. Two-Stroke

Diesel, Four-Stroke Open Chamber

Ford PROCO

Honda CVCC

SWRI

SWRT SWRï

Texaco CCS:

Operation on Casoline Texaco, Inc., and SWRI Operation on Diesel Fuel SWRI

Thermal Fuel Vaporization

Ethyl Corporation

SOURCE

McCulloch Corporation

These analyses were based on the assumption that emissions from a particular combustion chamber are functions of operating conditions (speed, load, and mixture strength) and not application. That is, emissions from an automotive engine are valid for the aircraft emission cycle provided the emissions data were obtained at operational conditions specified for the respective aircraft cycle modes. The Jet Propulsion Laboratory (3) employed a similar approach for hydrogen enrichment studies in which specific emissions data from a Chevrolet 350 CID V-8 automotive engine operating at ultra-lean equivalence ratios were used to predict aircraft engine emissions at the same mixture strength. The automotive engine specific emissions data correlated well with similar data from a TCM IO-520-D engine at mutual equivalence ratios.

These raw emissions data were input to the TCM Aircraft Cycle Emissions Deck to determine mode and total cycle specific emissions. The input data and computer program results of those analyses are presented in Appendix A along with the assumptions that were required for analysis on the seven-mode cycle. The calculation procedure for these analyses and the definition of the seven-mode cycle are presented in Appendix B.

Where raw emissions data were not available, concepts were evaluated by analyzing their impact on emissions as applied to the IO-520-D The IO-520-D engine operating at the lean fuel flow limit of the engine. model specification was chosen as representative of a high-volume production engine.

## 5. CONCEPT DEFINITIONS AND EMISSION RESULTS

In accordance with the contract, a preliminary screening of promising concepts for reducing exhaust emissions and improving engine specific fuel consumption was submitted to NASA for approval.

Approval was granted to study the following concepts in further detail:

- Stratified Charge Combustion Chambers
- Improved Cooling Combustion Chambers
- Diesel Combustion Chambers
- Variable Camshaft Timing
- Improved Fuel Injection Systems
- Ultrasonic Fuel Atomization
- Thermal Fuel Vaporization
- Improved Ignition Systems
- Hydrogen Enrichment
- Air Injection.

The first step in the analysis was to define in greater detail each concept as it applies to this study and to establish emission levels. The basic concepts analyzed in this task are detailed in Sections 5.2 through 5.11 by general category. Emission values quoted for the concepts reflect minimum projected levels and no attempt has been made to establish tolerance bands. Since exhaust emissions levels for some concepts were based on their predicted impact on the emissions from the TCM IO-520-D engine, definitions of that engine and its emission characteristics are provided in Section 5.1.

#### 5.1 TCM IO-520-D ENGINE

The IO-520-D is an air-cooled, 520 CID, horizontally opposed, naturally aspirated, six-cylinder aircraft engine featuring fuel-injection and rated at 300 horsepower. The engine is representative of current highvolume production engines.

Under FAA-NAFEC Contract No. DOT FA74NA-1091, TCM has conducted extensive IO-520-D testing to establish the effects of lean operation on exhaust emissions and safety limits. The testing resulted in categorization of emission data by three separate fuel system schedules: Baseline, Case 1, and Case 2. Figure 2 presents the fuel-air equivalence ratio for each fuel schedule as a function of power. Modal power points are also shown for reference. Baseline is defined as the average fuel flow rate established by the fuel system production tolerance band when operated with the mixture control at the full rich position. Case 1 is defined as the minimum allowable fuel flow rate established by the engine type certificate. Case 2 is defined as the fuel flow rate corresponding to the leanest fuel-air ratio obtainable before a safety limit occurred with the engine operating on a test stand. The engine test stand installation incorporated the same constant speed propeller as would normally be used on the airframe configuration. Safety limits which developed during testing were cylinder head overheating or inadequate acceleration from a given mode of operation and were defined as "uninstalled" safety limits. ì

The general trend in mixture strength (i.e., richer at low power, leaner at the mid-power range, and richer at maximum power) is typical of all TCM fuel-injected engines that have been evaluated. This trend may be rationalized by considering the present fuel injection system design. Rich mixtures are required at the low power idle-taxi regime to provide adequate fuel distribution to all cylinders and to ensure adequate engine transient response (acceleration). Since the IO-520-D fuel system is not temperature compensating, the fuel flow required for the idle-taxi modes is dependent on the fuel-air ratio required for cold day operation. As the induction air temperature increases, the resultant fuel-air ratio enriches. Leaner mixtures are acceptable and desirable in the mid-power range where fuel distribution is good and cylinder head temperatures are well within the limits. Richer mixtures are required at high power points for cylinder head cooling and detonation suppression. The Federal Aviation Administration requires that the minimum certified fuel-flow rate be at least 10% above the fuel flow rate at which detonation occurs. Note the mixture strength schedule trend with respect to Baseline, Case 1, and Case 2 fuel schedules. A wider equivalence ratio band exists between each fuel schedule at low power and this band decreases to a minimum at maximum power. This is due to the larger tolerance band associated with controlling low fuel flow rates. This trend is typical of all TCM engines that have been evaluated.

Figure 3 presents the IO-520-D emission levels in percent of the EPA standard as a function of time-weighted fuel-air equivalence ratio,  $\phi_{tw}$ . Time-weighted fuel-air equivalence ratio is defined as the summation of the product of modal time and the modal equivalence ratio divided by the total cycle time. In equation form:

$$\phi_{tw} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{7} T_i \cdot \phi_i}{27.3}$$

where

 $T_i$  - time in mode i, minutes  $\phi_i$  - equivalence ratio in mode i. Time-weighted equivalence ratio provides a means of establishing Baseline, Case 1, and Case 2 emission levels as a function of a common reference for each pollutant. The results of leaning can therefore be quickly recognized. As expected, leaning the engine resulted in a decrease for carbon monoxide (CO) and hydrocarbons (HC), while the oxides of nitrogen (NOx) increase. The Baseline mixture schedule resulted in a  $\phi_{tw}$  of 1.43 with CO and HC above the standard and NOx well below the limit. Decreases of 34% for CO and 19% for HC were observed when the engine was leaned to a  $\phi_{tw}$  of 1.23 (Case 1), and NOx increased 118% but remained considerably below the limit. Case 2,  $\phi_{tw}$  of 1.12, resulted in levels for all three pollutants below the EPA standards with decreases from Case 1 of 34% for CO and 37% for HC. NOx increased by 83%. From Figure 3, an estimated band of time-weighted fuel-air equivalence ratios which meet all of the EPA standards can be determined. This total band ranges from a  $\phi_{tw}$  of 1.02 to 1.16; however, when Case 2 is considered (uninstalled safety limits), this band is reduced to a  $\phi_{tw}$  range of 1.12 to 1.16, which results in a +1.75% tolerance band on fuel-air ratio for the complete seven-mode cycle.

Figure 4 represents the effect of modal equivalence ratio on CO, HC, and NOx for the IO-520-D engine. The figure illustrates the pollutant percent of EPA standard as a function of modal equivalence ratio decrease from Case 1. The curve clearly shows the effects of each mode on the total cycle emission level as the modes are leaned beyond the lean limit of the engine model specification. Case 1 was chosen as the starting point from which the leaning was referenced since leaning beyond Case 1 is mandatory to reduce CO and HC to values below the EPA standard, Figure 3.

Each modal curve has been identified with symbols which locate two important points of reference, Case 2, and the stoichiometric fuelair ratio. The closed symbols represent the reduction in modal equivalence ratio required to provide a stoichiometric mixture and the corresponding emission level for the cycle. The flagged symbols represent the reduction in modal equivalence ratio required to lean to the uninstalled modal safety limit. Dashed lines represent extrapolations of available data.

Significant information can be derived from these curves, such as the effect of modal leaning on CO. For example, if only the climb mode was leaned to Case 2 ( $\phi = 0.07$  decrease from Case 1) the CO percent of EPA standard would drop from 124 to 107%, or a delta reduction of 17%. Any combination of modal leaning can be predicted by summing the individual modal delta reductions. To obtain the absolute emission level the sum is subtracted from the Case 1 value.

The above test results established emissions levels for the 10-520-D engine as a function of fuel mixture strength and are the basis for determining the minimum projected emission levels for various concepts described in this report.

#### 5.2 STRATIFIED CHARGE COMBUSTION CHAMBERS

Charge stratification is the generation of a significant spatial variation of fuel-air ratio in the combustion chamber at time of ignition and during at least a portion of the progressive burning process.

The object of the strata is to provide a fuel-rich environment near the point(s) of ignition and progressively leaner zones as the flame front traverses the combustion region. This formation promotes the establishment of the flame kernel and a strong flame front that can easily traverse the leaner fuel-air zones. The result is more nearly complete combustion of an overall lean mixture (generally stoichiometric or leaner) with attendant low pollutant emission levels and improved fuel economy.

The two main classifications for stratified charge engines are prechamber engines and open-chamber engines. The former is characterized by a mechanically divided combustion chamber with the individual chamber sections connected by an orifice. The latter engines obtain the spatial fuel-air ratio variation chrough coordination of direct fuel injection and dynamic air motion. The three stratified charge concepts investigated were:

#### 5.2.1 Honda Compound Vortex Controlled Combustion (CVCC)

The CVCC, Figure 5, is a prechamber stratified charge engine with a "compound" carburetor and third valve in the prechamber. During the intake stroke the "compound" carburetor supplies a fuel-rich mixture to the prechamber via the auxiliary valve and a leaner-than-stoichiometric mixture to the main chamber through the main intake valve. A prechamber spark plug initiates ignition in the fuel-rich prechamber mixture. The resulting prechamber pressure forces burning gases through the connecting orifice into the main chamber where a mixture of intermediate richness has formed as a result of proper geometry and proportioning of air and fuel. This "mixture cloud" (4) is ignited by the flame initiated in the auxiliary chamber and ensures positive combustion of the lean mixture in the main chamber. Raw emission data (5) received for the Honda CVCC were based on operation with the standard exhaust system. This system did not include a catalytic converter or a thermal reactor, per se. The exhaust manifold was designed with an inner liner, Figure 5, to increase exhaust gas residence time and provide an intake manifold "hot spot". Therefore some benefits of HC and CO oxidation and thermal fuel vaporization are inherent in the data. The data were evaluated on the aircraft seven-mode emission cycle, and emissions were well below EPA limits despite a timeweighted equivalence ratio slightly rich of stoichiometric (1.01). These favorable emission levels resulted in an emission ranking of second for the Honda CVCC, Table I.

The literature search produced the following Pros and Cons which further characterized the Honda CVCC:

#### PROS

- Good Specific Fuel Consumption
- Stable Combustion Assured
- Good Operational Characteristics
- Low Octane Fuel Requirements
- Low Emissions for Aircraft Emission Cycle

#### CONS

- Possible Cooling Problems
- Hardware Complexity
- High Surface Area-to-Volume Ratio
- High Rate of Pressure Rise at Rich Mixtures
- Implementation Problems
- Increased Weight
- Expensive
- Increased Maintenance.

#### 5.2.2 Ford Programmed Combustion System (PROCO)

The PROCO, Figure 6, is an open-chamber stratified charge engine which relies on the coordination of directly injected fuel into circumferentially swirling air to stratify the fuel-air mixture.

The intake port is shaped to impart a high-rate (three to five times crankshaft speed) circumferential swirl to the incoming air. The swirling air charge is compressed at a high compression ratio (~11:1) into the cup-shaped combustion chamber. The chamber is located concentrically in the piston with about 65% squish area. Fuel is directly injected into the cylinder during the compression stroke in a soft, low-penetrating, wideangle, conical spray which results in a rich mixture at the center, surrounded by a leaner mixture and excess air (6). Combustion progresses rapidly in the rich mixture around the spark plug which is located either near the bore centerline or just above the spray. The toroidal mixture resulting from the squish action plus the intake swirl promotes flame travel as combustion spreads out of the rich region into the leaner regions. Air motion tends to homogenize the mixture and promote nearly complete combustion as the swirling charge expands from the piston cup into the cylinder space during the expansion stroke. Air throttling is utilized for part-load fuel-air control.

The Ford PROCO emission data (5) evaluated on the aircraft emission seven-mode cycle indicated high nitric oxide emissions (32% over EPA limit) at a relatively lean 0.5 time-weighted equivalence ratio. Hydrocarbons and carbon monoxide at less than 10% EPA standard were typical of lean operation. The high nitric oxide emissions resulted in the PROCO being ranked sixth in the emission ranking.

The literature search produced the following Pros and Cons which further characterized the Ford PROCO:

#### PROS

- Low HC and CO Emissions for Aircraft Emission Cycle
- Good Specific Fuel Consumption

#### CONS

- Octane Sensitive
- Not Easily Turbocharged
- Implementation Problems
- Air Throttling Required for Low Emissions
- High NOx Emissions for Aircraft Emission Cycle
- Expensive.

#### 5.2.3 Texaco Controlled Combustion System (TCCS)

The TCCS (7, 8), Figure 7, is an open-chamber stratified charge engine which encompasses direct fuel injection, air swirl, and positive ignition.

Suitably shaped intake passages and combustion chamber impart a high rate (up to ten times crankshaft speed) circumferential swirl to the normally unthrottled air charge. Fuel is injected directly into the cylinder late in the compression stroke to establish a flame front immediately downstream from the nozzle. A combustible mixture is supplied to the stabilized flame through continued injection and is burned as rapidly as it is formed. Part load fuel-air ratio is maintained by fuel injection duration and quantity.

1

Three sets of raw emission data (5) from two TCCS equipped engines were evaluated on TCM's version of the aircraft emissions seven-mode cycle. The resulting time-weighted equivalence ratios were essentially the same in all three instances. In two cases the engines were operated on gasoline while the third case was for diesel fuel operation. Nitric oxide emissions were comparable for all three cases and exceeded EPA limits by up to 38%.

Carbon monoxide emissions were also similar for all three cases and were well below EPA standard. Hydrocarbons were well below EPA standards but not as consistent as NOX or CO, varying from 12% to 58% of the EPA limit. The high NOX level forced the TCCS concept into fifth position for the emission ranking, one position above the Ford PROCO.

The literature search produced the following Pros and Cons which further characterized the Texaco CCS:

#### PROS

- Limited Air Throttling Requirements
- Low Octane Fuel Requirements
- Multi-Fuel Capability with Comparable Performance and Emissions
- Easily Turbocharged
- Good Specific Fuel Consumption
- Good Starting Characteristics
- Low Wall Quenching Potential
- Low HC and CO Emissions for Aircraft Emission Cycle

#### CONS

1

- Incomplete Air Utilization
- Limited Speed Range
- Implementation Problems
- Poor Performance
- Expensive
- High NOx Emissions for Aircraft Emission Cycle.

#### 5.3 IMPROVED COOLING COMBUSTION CHAMBERS

Improved Cooling Combustion Chambers entail modifications or redesign of the cylinder head/combustion chamber to improve cooling characteristics and thereby allowing leaner fuel-air operation and, in some cases, increased NC/CO oxidation.

TCM has evaluated the effect of lean operation on exhaust emissions for the IO-520-D, Figures 3 and 4. That information was used to predict exhaust emissions by realizing that improved cooling during climb and takeoff will permit leaner fuel-air ratios while maintaining engine power. For idle, taxi, and approach modes, Case 1 was used because of inadequate acceleration at Case 2 which improved cooling techniques would not affect. For takeoff and climb modes, Case 2 was used because excessive cylinder head temperature is the limiting factor with current cooling characteristics. Figure 4 indicates that this modal leaning results in a CO decrease of 20% of the EPA standard and an NOx increase of 14% of the EPA standard. The resulting absolute levels of CO and NOx were 106% and and 44% of the EPA standard, respectively. Hydrocarbon emissions were not significantly affected, Table I. Candidate improvements for improving combustion chamber cooling are described in Sections 5.3.1 through 5.3.3.

#### 5.3.1 Redesigned Cylinder Head Cooling Fins

This concept will encompass a detailed thermal analysis to ascertain the required fin geometry (size, shape, separation, etc.) for increased heat dissipation in the cylinder head. The basic redesign problem involves only heat transfer characteristics of the extended surface and hardware considerations (cost, weight, available space, pressure drop, etc.), and, as such, no information was expected or obtained through the emission-type literature that was researched. Detailed NACA reports are available, however, for establishing the effects of fin geometry. The following Pros and Cons for redesigned cylinder head cooling fins were utilized in assessing Improved Cooling Combustion Chambers:

#### PROS

- Allows Leaner Operation in Certain Modes
- Versatile One Basic Configuration for All Applications
- Minimal Weight Penalty
- o No Increased Maintenance Requirements
- No Performance Penalty
- No Effect on Operational Characteristics
- Relatively Inexpensive

#### CONS

- Implementation Problems
- No Fuel Economy Benefits
- Complex Heat Transfer Analysis Required.

#### 5.3.2 Exhaust Port Coatings

This cooling technique requires evaluation of various ceramics to determine their benefit as low thermal conductors. The emission reduction potential would be gained through leaner operation, which is possible only if the exhaust heat can be retained in the exhaust gases rather than transferred to the cylinder head. The literature provided minimal information on the subject since most research is being directed toward exhaust port liners rather than coatings.

: :

The following Pros and Cons for exhaust port coatings were considered in evaluating Improved Cooling Combustion Chambers:

#### PROS

- Allows Leaner Operation in Certain Modes
- Minimal Hardware Change
- Relatively Inexpensive
- No Effect on Operational Characteristics
- Relative Ease of Implementation
- Simple
- Minimal Weight Penalty
- No Performance Penalty

#### CONS

- Subject to Damage from Expansion and Contraction of Cylinder Head
- Brittle Subject to Mechanical Shock Damage
- No Fuel Economy Benefits.

#### 5.3.3 Exhaust Port Liners

This concept requires the assessment of materials and geometry that offer low thermal conductance, durability, ease of installation, and good gas flow characteristics with reasonable cost and weight.

The basic concept, Figure 8, has been tested in automotive engines (9) with significant cooling effects, Figure 9. A liner with low thermal conductivity in conjunction with the enclosed (small freeconvection currents) air space provides excellent insulation against the flow of exhaust heat to the cylinder head. An additional merit of the liner is its versatility, i.e., the potential for adding an air injection feature that will maintain good cooling potential while increasing HC and CO oxidation in the exhaust. A typical scheme is presented in Figure 10. Cooling air is pumped through the nozzle into the space behind the liner which is film cooled as the air flows to the openings at the valve and into the exhaust gas stream.

TCM has proved the cooling potential of the proposed method during testing of a similar concept for air cooling exhaust valves, Figure 11. In this case cooling air was pumped to the plenum at the valve guide sleeve and through the four passages between the outer surface of the valve guide and the inner surface of the valve guide sleeve for dispersion over the valve neck. The extent of valve cooling is indicated by the substantial decrease in neck temperature presented as a function of cooling air flow in Figure 12. Cylinder head temperatures were monitored during the testing, and decreases on the order of 5° to 10°F were observed at the normal thermocouple head location.

The following Pros and Cons for the exhaust port liners were employed in evaluating Improved Cooling Combustion Chambers:

#### PROS

- Allows Leaner Operation in Certain Modes
- Proven Concept
- Provides Air Injection and Valve Cooling Potential
- Minimal Weight Penalty
- No Increased Maintenance Requirements
- No Performance Penalty
- No Effect on Operational Characteristics
- Relatively Inexpensive
- Simple

#### CONS

- Implementation Problems
- No Fuel Economy Benefits.

#### 5.4 DIESEL COMBUSTION CHAMBERS

Since the principles of compression ignition (diesel) are well established and understood, a detailed explanation is omitted. The diesel combustion chamber concepts investigated are described in Sections 5.4.1 and 5.4.2.

#### 5.4.1 Four-Stroke Open Chamber Diesel

This concept, Figure 13, is characterized by high pressure fuel injection through a multiple orifice directly into the clearance space or chamber between the piston and cylinder head. Intake valve shrouding or intake port design is utilized to impart swirl to the unthrottled air charge. This air swirl moves the unsprayed air into the fuel spray. Small clearance volume induces high turbulence as the gases are forced out of the small clearances and agitates the mixture. The combustion is compression initiated and results in high temperatures and high pressures which necessitate more stringent structural considerations than the spark ignition counterpart with attendant cost, weight, and size implications.

Only the open chamber concept was considered due to marginal cooling potential for a prechamber configuration in which the combustion process has relatively high fluid friction and heat transfer losses.

Data from three four-stroke open chamber diesels (5, 10) were evaluated on the aircraft emission seven-mode cycle. Data from one engine, a Datsun, is suspect due to the extremely low NOx emissions. Nitric oxides for the other two cases exceed EPA limits by up to 90%. This high level resulted from the high peak temperatures incurred in diesels, even though equilibrium considerations suggest very low production for such lean operation, i.e., 0.3 time weighted equivalence ratio. Carbon monoxide and HC were well below EPA standards for all three cases.

The literature search produced the following Pros and Cons which further characterize the Four-Stroke Open Chamber Diesel:

#### PROS

- Low HC and CO Emissions for Aircraft Emission Cycle
- Low Fuel Costs
- Good Fuel Economy
- No Air Throttling Requirements
- Easily Turbocharged

#### CONS

- High NOx Emissions for Aircraft Emission Cycle
- Poor Performance
- Limited Speed Range

- Hard Starting
- Exhaust Smell and Smoke
- Expensive
- Implementation Problems
- Noisy
- Heavy.

#### 5.4.2 Two-Stroke Diesel, McCulloch

This concept is a turbocharged engine combining the two-stroke cycle with the diesel principle of operation. The existing prototype for which emission data were obtained is a radial configuration; however, the basic concept could be applied to horizontally opposed cylinder arrange-A unique combustion chamber design (11, 12), Figure 14, is utilized ments. to produce low peak pressures (1,100 psi) relative to the four-stroke diesel (1,600 to 2,000 psi). A portion of the chamber called the "poker" is attached to the piston. The upper face of the poker is part of a toroid and has five or more equally spaced vertical slots about its cylindrical periphery. The cylinder head recess has a cylindrical lower section and an upper end which is one-half a toroid. The combustion process occurs in two stages. The first stage occurs during compression when the compressed air in the outer ring between the cylinder head and the outer top edge of the piston is forced through the vertical slots in the poker into the toroidal part of the chamber. Violent circular motion is imparted to the air in the toroid which tears the fringe from the injected fuel spray (8 deg BTDC), mixes it with the heated air, and ignites it. As the piston reaches TDC the gas flow reverses direction because of high toroid pressure and because the fuel spray core has reached the poker slots. The second combustion stage begins as the heated air carries the fuel spray core down the slot and into the space above the piston, incurring high turbulence as it does so. Fuel atomization and thorough fuel-air mixing occur as regulated burning takes place until the fuel injection is terminated. The burning mixture emerges from the slots and into the quench area, the purpose of which is to slow the burning rate and hold the mixture temperature down to minimize NOx formation. This technique is reflected in the low NOx emission (54% EPA standard) compared to that of conventional four-stroke open chamber diesels (up to 190% of the EPA standard). This quenching may also account for the high HC emissions which exceed the EPA standard by 40%, whereas HC emissions for conventional four-stroke open chamber diesels was 53% below the EPA limit. The CO emission at 10% of the EPA limit was representative of lean operation, 0.32 time-weighted equivalence ratio. The high HC emission forced the McCulloch two-stroke diesel into seventh position in the emission ranking, which is just above the four-stroke diesel concept. It should be noted that the HC level is conservative since full power data were not available and the rated power was reduced accordingly. Hydrocarbons should decrease for the higher speed/load conditions.

The Pros and Cons inherent in such a design are summarized below:

PROS

- High Power/Weight Ratio
- Good SFC
- Multi-Fuel Capability
- Aircraft Configuration Prototype Built and Tested
- Low Peak Pressures
- Low CO and NOx Emissions for Aircraft Emission Cycle
- Good Starting Characteristics
- No Air Throttling Requirements
- Less Exhaust Smoke Than Conventional Diesels
- Quieter Than Conventional Diesels

CONS

- Unproven Durability
- High HC Emissions for Aircraft Emission Cycle
- Turbocharging Required
- Radial Configuration Not Readily Adaptable to Conventional Aircraft
- Expensive.

#### 5.5 VARIABLE CAMSHAFT TIMING

Variable Camshaft Timing was conceptually envisioned as a multipiece camshaft, Figure 15, capable of rotating the intake cams relative to the exhaust cams. The purpose of this variability is to provide optimum valve overlap (a measure of time the intake and exhaust valves are open simultaneously) for all speed ranges. At low engine speeds low valve overlap is desired for good idle quality and HC control, while greater valve overlap is required at higher engine speed for efficient breathing.

In evaluating variable camshaft timing, a general design concept (13) was assumed. The design has a central actuating member translatable along the camshaft axis of rotation. The angular position of the intake cams relative to the exhaust cams can be altered without affecting the exhaust cams by sliding the central member in and out as a function of engine speed. It was assumed that such a design would fit within standard engine camshaft spaces without major engine modifications. The literature search (14) revealed that rotating the intake cam rather than the exhaust cam was the more efficient means of reducing emissions by varying valve overlap.

The emission reduction feature of variable camshaft timing is twofold. First, hydrocarbons (and fuel consumption) may be decreased at low engine speeds by retarding the intake valve opening relative to the exhaust valve closure. This eliminates much incoming charge "short circuiting", i.e., being exhausted during the intake stroke. Second, NOx and HC reductions as well as good breathing can be provided at high engine speeds by increasing valve overlap, e.g., advancing the intake cams relative to the exhaust cams. In this case, the difference between exhaust backpressure and intake manifold pressure forces some of the exhaust gases to reverse direction and flow back into the combustion chamber and intake manifold. These residual exhaust gases dilute the incoming charge and curb NOx formation by limiting peak combustion temperature. This process is known as internal exhaust gas recirculation. The exhaust gases may be selectively recirculated because of exhaust gas stratification (14, 15) to effect a reduction in HC. Exhaust gas stratification means that the exhaust gases highest in HC are adjacent to the combustion chamber walls (quench gases). Since these gases are the last portion of the exhaust gases to leave the cylinder, they comprise a large portion of the exhaust gases retained for charge dilution. Carbon monoxide effects in either case are minimal.

Emission predictions for variable camshaft timing were based on Tiara 6-285-B data for idle, taxi, and approach modes and on IO-520-D Case 1 data for climb and takeoff. Tiara data were considered representative of HC emissions that could be expected on the IO-520-D for low valve overlap in low speed modes. This is due to higher engine speeds of a geared engine in these modes and because of the comparatively low Tiara valve overlap. The Tiara emission data were taken at IO-520-D fuel-air ratios for the respective modes and corrected for flow rate differences. No exhaust emission reduction benefits from exhaust gas recirculation were assumed for the IO-520-D because the design point for valve overlap is at high engine speed, i.e., large valve overlap already exists on the IO-520-D and no increase in internal exhaust gas recirculation would be expected from variable camshaft timing as defined here.

Consistent with the literature (13, 14), CO remained essentially unchanged from the standard engine value, exceeding the EPA limit by 27%, and was the determining factor in Variable Camshaft Timing being ranked tenth. Hydrocarbons were reduced by 49% of the EPA standard (from 97% to 48%) relative to the standard engine. Nitric oxide emissions remained essentially unchanged at 33% of the EPA standard.

The literature search produced the following Pros and Cons which further characterized Variable Camshaft Timing:

#### PROS

- Minimal Hardware Change
- Minimal Weight Penalty
- Improved Performance
- Reduced HC Emissions for Aircraft Emission Cycle

#### CONS

- Complex Mechanism
- Little Effect on CO and NOx for Aircraft Emission Cycle
- Unproven Design.

#### 5.6 IMPROVED FUEL INJECTION SYSTEMS

An Improved Fuel Injection System will mechanically provide moderate high pressure fuel flow (100 to 200 psi) metered as a function of engine air flow by monitoring and responding to intake manifold pressure, temperature, and engine speed. The system will be timed to supply a fuel mist to each intake valve as it opens. Cylinder mixture formation will be improved through the use of pintle nozzles, Figure 16, which will promote better fuel atomization than the current continuous flow nozzle used by TCM, Figure 17. Such a system will result in a more homogeneous fuelair mixture within each cylinder and decrease cylinder-to-cylinder fuelair ratio variation, provided an even air distribution is supplied by the intake manifold. This will allow leaner operation without the attendant operational problems with carburetted or conventional (low pressure) fuel injection systems while providing the fuel-air ratio necessary to maintain low exhaust emissions at all load conditions.

A system manufactured by Simmonds Precision Products, Inc. (16) which meets all the above requirements was utilized for evaluation of the concept based on the cost-effectiveness criteria. In this system, a multiplunger, axial-driven pump rotates a wobble plate, Figure 18. An oiloperated servo system responding to manifold pressure and temperature varies the stroke of the pump. Fuel distribution from the individual plungers to the designated injection nozzle is coordinated by a valving mechanism which permits each plunger to deliver fuel to two different cylinders on alternate crankshaft revolutions. This is necessary on this particular unit because the pump is driven at engine crankshaft speeds in order to inject over a 180-degree period. On a six-cylinder engine, for instance, each of three plungers supplies fuel to two different cylinders.

For the purpose of predicting exhaust emissions for operation with such a system, the fuel-air ratios that could be maintained for the sevenmode aircraft cycle were defined as a time-weighted equivalence ratio range of 1.03 to 1.13. Exhaust emission reductions were based on the IO-520-D engine, Figure 3, resulting in absolute emission levels of 55%, 90%, and 58% of the EPA standard for HC, CO, and NOx, respectively, and in an emission ranking of third for the Improved Fuel Injection System.

The literature search produced the following Pros and Cons which further characterized an Improved Fuel Injection System:

#### PROS

- Less Cylinder-To-Cylinder Fuel-Air Ratio Variation
- Versatile, i.e., One Design for All Applications
- Improved Engine Response
- Better Specific Fuel Consumption
- Minimal Weight Penalty
- Air Flow Sensitive Fuel Flow
- Timed Fuel Flow, i.e., No Fuel Accumulation Between Intake Strokes
- Increased Fuel Atomization
- Low Emissions for Aircraft Emission Cycle

#### CONS

- Expensive
- Close Manufacturing Tolerances Required
- Possible Cylinder Head Cooling Problems.

#### 5.7 ULTRASONIC FUEL ATOMIZATION

This concept achieves good fuel atomization, i.e., breaking fuel down to small droplet diameter, over a wide range of operating conditions by separating the fuel-air metering requirements from the atomization requirement. Better atomization provides a more homogeneous fuel-air mixture for delivery to the cylinders and decreases cylinder-to-cylinder fuel-air ratio variations which extends lean-burn capability. Various means are available for providing segregated fuel atomization, some of which claim an order-of-magnitude reduction in fuel droplet diameter. Some systems employ mechanical agitation of an ultrasonic driver mounted in the carburetor throat. The principle of operation is similar to spraying a liquid on the diaphragm of an operating compression type hi-fi "tweeter" (17). The transducers used for this application may be a magnetostrictive type or a piezoelectric type driven at frequencies from 20 to 40 kHz into a half horn.

No raw emission data were obtained for ultrasonic fuel atomization. To rank the concept for emissions relative to the other thirteen concepts it was assumed to have the same emission reduction potential as Thermal Fuel Vaporization (Section 5.8). This approach was taken because both concepts have essentially the same end result, i.e., homogeneous fuel-air mixture with decreased cylinder-to-cylinder fuel-air ratio variation. The predicted emission levels are presented in Table I and result in a rating of 12 for Ultrasonic Fuel Atomization, one position below Thermal Fuel Vaporization. The literature search produced the following Pros and Cons which further characterized Ultrasonic Fuel Atomization: ł.

2

1

÷

#### PROS

- Increased Fuel Atomization Over a Wide Range of Operating Conditions
- Reduced HC Emissions for Aircraft Cycle
- Function Independent of Ambient Temperature
- Fail-safe
- Better Starting Characteristics
- Relatively Inexpensive

#### CONS

- Possible Power Requirements
- Primarily for Carburetted Applications
- Implementation Problems
- Possible Increased Frontal Area
- No Effect on CO and NOx Emissions for Aircraft Emission Cycle

#### 5.8 THERMAL FUEL VAPORIZATION

This concept promotes a more uniform fuel-air mixture through utilization of waste exhaust heat. The Ethyl Corporation version of the concept, termed the Turbulent Flow System (TFS) (9) was considered a typical Thermal Fuel Vaporization system for the purposes of Task II. The system, designed for carburetted applications, includes a specially designed intake manifold called the Turbulent Flow Manifold (TFM). The purpose of this manifold is to utilize exhaust heat, increased mixing length, and a turbulence generating geometry to provide better fuel-air mixture preparation. The result has been some direct extension of the lean limit, but, more important, it has helped to ensure that all cylinders consistently receive a fuel-air charge that is richer than the lean limit at time of ignition. This improves the poor operational characteristics generally associated with lean mixtures. An additional claim for the TFM is alleviation of cycle-to-cycle fuel-air ratio variation by delivering the above homogeneous mixture into a plenum at low velocity so that the tank will be filled uniformly and evenly withdrawn by the individual cylinders. This prevents the formation of large unstable vortices in the intake manifold which collapse in random fashion under certain conditions.

The TFM illustrated in Figure 19 is for water-cooled applications; however, exhaust gases could serve as the heating media for air-cooled engines. The mixing tube extends beneath the primary barrel(s) of the carburetor and terminates in the conditioning chamber. The conditioning chamber is located beneath the plane of the intake manifold with exit tubes leading from the top of the conditioning chamber to the floor of the intake manifold. Portions of the conditioning chamber exterior are heated by engine coolant (or exhaust gas for air-cooled applications). This inherent increase in mixing length provides much better fuel-air mixing of the two jets set up downstream of the throttle plate by increasing time for expansion and formation of one stream. Lips on the walls above the primary mixing tube aid in the single jet formation but also reentrain any liquid fuel which might collect on the walls. The TFM with its 180-degree change in direction in the conditioning chamber collects large fuel droplets in the conditioning chamber and vaporizes them with heat.

Raw emissions data from two engines, an American 350 CID V-8 and a European 121 CID I-4, were obtained from Ethyl Corporation and evaluated on the aircraft emissions seven-mode cycle. The results were inconsistent for the two engines. The results for the American V-8 seemed more reasonable because of the predictable insignificant effect on NOx, whereas for the European four-cylinder the NOx was reduced by almost 60%. For that reason, the results of the American V-8 data analysis were used for ranking the TFM emission reduction potential relative to the other concepts. As expected, only HC emissions were reduced (39%) with the addition of the TFM, which resulted in Thermal Fuel Vaporization being ranked eleventh for the emission ranking.

The Pros and Cons associated with Thermal Fuel Vaporization are:

#### PROS

- Less Cylinder-to-Cylinder Fuel-Air Ratio Variations
- Increased Intake System Fuel and Air Turbulence
- No Power Requirements
- Relatively Inexpensive
- Durable
- Reduced HC Emissions for Aircraft Emission Cycle
- Improved Lean Operation Characteristics
- Fail-safe
- Low HC Emissions for Aircraft Emission Cycle
### CONS

- Primarily for Carburetted Applications
- Possible Increased Frontal Area
- Implementation Problems
- No Effect on CO and NOx Emissions for Aircraft Emission Cycle.

### 5.9 IMPROVED IGNITION SYSTEMS

Conventional aircraft piston engine ignition systems employ fixed timing and single-spark firing. Two potential improvements for existing systems, therefore, are multiple-spark firing and spark timing variability. Representative systems capable of providing these improvements are presented in Sections 5.9.1 and 5.9.2.

### 5.9.1 Multiple Spark Discharge Ignition

This concept was envisioned as a high-energy, capacitive-discharge ignition system capable of providing a series of ignition sparks with fast voltage rise time 'hrough 20 degrees of crankshaft rotation. The principle of operation is that ignition (particularly of a lean mixture) is more likely to occur if a series of high-energy, fast-rise sparks over some time interval is applied to the mixture rather than a single slow-rise spark of decreasing magnitude, for less time, Figure 20. A typical system is manufactured by Autotronic Controls Corporation for automobile applications but could be adapted to aircraft systems. This particular system was considered for the purpose of evaluating the Multiple Spark Discharge Ignition concept.

The literature search (18) indicated that lean misfire limit extension over conventional ignition systems is the primary benefit of the concept. The improvement was found to decrease for increasing load. No emission reduction capability was demonstrated over a sizeable range of fuel-air ratios except for HC emissions which differed beyond the point of incipient misfire. For the purpose of ranking Multiple Spark Discharge Ignition based on emission reduction potential this theory was adhered to, i.e., emissions would not be affected for a given fuel-air ratio above the lean limit of a conventional system. IO-520-D Case 1 emission levels were assumed to be the standard. As a result, the Multiple Spark Discharge Ignition System was ranked last, Table I.

The literature search produced the following Pros and Cons which further characterized the Multiple Spark Discharge Ignition System:

### PROS

- Improved Ignition Under All Operating Conditions
- Better Starting Characteristics
- Relatively Easily Implemented
- Minimal Weight Penalty
- Relatively Inexpensive

### CONS

- Possible Radio Frequency Interference
- No Emission Reduction Potential Has Been Demonstrated.

### 5.9.2 Variable Timing Ignition

A Variable Timing Ignition System would employ methods of advancing and retarding spark timing as a function of speed/load conditions such as the conventional automotive centrifugal/vacuum system. Spark timing variability would improve transient operation and reduce incipient lean fuelair limits imposed by acceleration problems. The effect of ignition timing on the Tiara 6-285-B lean misfire limit is presented in Figure 21.

Estimated leaning potential on the IO-520-D resulted in CO, HC, and NOx emissions of 116%, 85%, and 35% of EPA standards, respectively. These levels were predicated on Variable Timing Ignition improving transient operation at idle, taxi, and approach modes since IO-520-D "safety buttlines" at these modes were established as inadequate acceleration. The quantity of improvement was defined as that required to alleviate acceleration problems at the richest fuel-air ratio at which transient problems were encountered during lean-out testing of the uninstalled engine. This method resulted in fuel-air ratios richer than existing "safety butt-lines" but leaner than best power fuel-air ratios (Case 1) for the above modes. Best power (Case 1) fuel-air ratios were used for climb and takeoff modes. The resultant exhaust emissions are considered conservative because at the fuel-air ratios chosen only transient hesitation was noted rather than complete response failure. Variable Timing Ignition should easily provide at least the minimum improvement required for satisfactory transient operation at the above conditions.

Additional benefits from a vacuum advance would be smoother operation at light loads while maintaining or improving the lean mixture combustion in the cruise range. The former effect could be realized through spark retardation relative to the latter case, which requires early spark timing to compensate for the slow burning characteristics of lean fuel-air mixtures. A centrifugal (speed) advance would be required to compensate the initial flame speed for changes in engine speed.

The literature search produced the following Pros and Cons which further characterized the Variable Timing Ignition concept:

### PROS

- Extended Lean Misfire Limit
- Improved Acceleration
- Improved Fuel Economy
- Improved Light Load Operation
- Reduced NC and CO Emissions
- Relatively Inexpensive
- Relatively Easily Implemented

### CONS

- Increased NOx Emissions
- Ignition System Size Increase.

### 5.10 HYDROGEN ENRICHMENT

Hydrogen Enrichment is the process of mixing hydrogen with normal gasoline (or other hydrocarbon fuel) to form a fuel mixture with the lean flammability limit extended to ultralean fuel-air ratios. Ultralean operation results in higher thermal efficiencies, hence lower fuel consumption, and low exhaust emissions that accompany lean operation in the fuel-air range possible. For the purposes of evaluating the concept in Task II, the system proposed by Jet Propulsion Laboratory (3) was considered typical. The proposed system reportedly requires relatively small modifications to aircraft engines (3) but high turbulence valves, combustion chamber shape, spark plug location, high energy ignition, and camshaft timing might require consideration to obtain maximum benefit from ultralean operation (17). i

į

Ī

. :

-----

Safety and logistics problems which could be associated with such a concept are reduced substantially by catalytically generating the hydrogen from the gasoline on the aircraft as the engine requires it rather than storing gaseous or liquid hydrogen on board. Integration of a hydrogen generator with a turbocharged fuel injected aircraft piston engine is illustrated schematically in the simplified flow diagram of Figure 22. Conventional operation without hydrogen enrichment is denoted by solid lines, whereas the dashed lines indicate the additional requirements (plus the generator and heat exchanger) for Hydrogen Enrichment. For the latter mode of operation, some of the fuel and compressed air are diverted to the generator where they are heated, mixed, and passed into a hot catalyst bed where partial oxidation decomposes the mixture to form a hydrogen-rich product gas. (At input fuel flow rates of less than 18 lbm/hr, the variation of hydrogen produced is reported to be very nearly linear with fuel input with approximately 8.5 1bm of fuel consumed to generate 1.0 1bm of hydrogen.) To avoid thermal distress in the air induction system and maintain high volumetric efficiency, the product gas is passed through an air/gas heat exchanger to reduce the temperature of the product gas prior

we want the Carlo scheme in second in Strain Strain and the second second second second second second second se

to engine induction. No raw emissions data were available for determining the exhaust emission reduction potential for an aircraft piston engine utilizing Hydrogen Enrichment. The Jet Propulsion Laboratory (3) predicted emission characteristics for a standard aircraft engine utilizing Hydrogen Enrichment. The predictions were based on the assumption that the correlations of indicated specific emission production with equivalence ratio are valid. The data base utilized in generating these representations at richer equivalence ratios (>1.1) was for a TCM 10-520-D engine. Data for ultralean operation were obtained by JPL for a 350 CID V-8 engine operating with both straight gasoline and mixtures of gasoline and hydrogen-rich gases from a hydrogen generator. Reasonable coalescence occurred where the data sets joined. Hydrogen Enrichment emission levels for Task II were determined through the use of the above ultralean data and 10-520-D data.

Idle, taxi, and approach modes emission rates (1bm pollutant/indicated horsepower.hr) were defined by JPL data at 0.6 equivalence ratio. The corresponding values of indicated horsepower were calculated from known brake horsepower and friction horsepower characteristics for the IO-520-D engine. Hydrogen Enrichment was assumed nonoperational at climb and takeoff in order to maintain engine power. Emission levels for climb and takeoff were taken directly from IO-520-D data for Case 1 (best power). The method is outlined in Tables II and III. Applying Hydrogen Enrichment to the IO-520-D engine produced CO, HC, and NOx levels of 68%, 43%, and 30% of the EPA standards, respectively, and resulted in Hydrogen Enrichment being ranked first for emission reduction potential, Table I. The literature search produced the following Pros and Cons which further characterized Hydrogen Enrichment.

#### PROS

- Ultralean Operation
- Improved Fuel Economy
- Low Emissions for Aircraft Emission Cycle

### CONS

- Increased Weight
- Added Complexity
- Increased Engine Nacelle
- Costly
- Performance Penalty.

### 5.11 AIR INJECTION

Air Injection is an exhaust after-treatment concept that promotes secondary oxidation of incompletely oxidized carbonaceous species, CO and HC. The process is accomplished by adding supplementary air to the exhaust gases to provide an oxidizing environment. The conceptual design considered for the purposes of Task II evaluation included an engine-driven pump and

associated hardware, including tubing necessary to inject secondary air through injection nozzles located in the exhaust port of each cylinder. The feasibility of the concept is well-proven and has had widespread use in controlling automotive emissions. TCM demonstrated the exhaust gas thermal effects of air injection during Tiara 6-320 testing of an aircooled exhaust valve concept, Figure 11. Thermocouples measuring exhaust gas temperatures at the port exits and at the turbocharger inlet indicated that the oxidation reaction occurred between those locations. The typical data for a particular engine fuel-air ratio (fuel flow) are presented in Figure 23 over the range of cooling air flows considered. The air flow actually reduces the exhaust gas temperature at the port exit, indicating that little or no oxidation has occurred up to that point. The turbocharger inlet gas temperature increases, however, indicating that the reaction has occurred or is occurring at that point. At leaner engine fuel-air ratios where lower levels of HC and CO emissions would be predicted, the turbocharger inlet temperature leveled off at the higher cooling air flows and showed indications of decreasing. This indicated that essentially complete oxidation had occurred and further Air Injection would only reduce the exhaust gas temperature.

Bendix Corporation (19) evaluated the emission reduction potential of Air Injection on a TCM 0-200 engine. The results of that analysis were converted to terms that express the change in each pollutant per quantity of air injected as a function of equivalence ratio by the following:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\pi}{A}(\text{Pollutant})_{i} \\ \frac{\pi}{A} \text{ ir Injected} \end{bmatrix}_{\phi} = \frac{\begin{bmatrix} (\text{Pollutant})_{i} \\ \frac{\pi}{A} \text{ ir Injection Flow Rate/Engine Air Flow}}{\text{Air Injection Flow Rate/Engine Air Flow}}$$

where  $\phi$  is equivalence ratio and subscript i designates pollutant HC, CO, or NOx. These effects were applied to IO-520-D Case 1 (best power) emission data at the appropriate time-weighted equivalence ratio, assuming an Air Injection flow rate equal to 20% of the engine inlet air flow rate. A rate of 20% was selected on the basis of minimum Air Injection flow rate necessary to meet EPA standards for all three pollutants at reasonable pump size and power requirements. The results, Table I, placed Air Injection fourth in the emission ranking.

The literature search produced the following Pros and Cons which further characterized Air Injection:

### PROS

- Simple
- Fail-safe
- Easily Implemented
- Low Maintenance
- Inexpensive
- Minimal Weight Penalty
- Proven Concept
- Reduced HC and CO For Aircraft Emission Cycle

### CONS

- Power Requirements
- High Temperatures
- Possible Increased NOx Emissions

### 5.12 EMISSION RESULTS

Figure 24 represents the emission levels for the concepts evaluated using raw emissions data. Shown for reference are the emission levels for the IO-520-D Case 1 and two automotive engines, a conventional highproduction Chevrolet 350 CID V-8 engine and a high-performance BMW 121 CID I-4 engine. The Chevrolet engine was a 1975 model without a catalytic converter, exhaust gas recirculation, or secondary air injection. The BMW engine was a 1973 model lacking the same pollution control devices. Neither engine met the EPA aircraft emission standard. While CO and HC were within the limits, the oxides of nitrogen were well over the allowable emissions, as compared to 30% of the allowable emissions for the IO-520-D engine.

Graphical representation of engine emissions as a function of time-weighted fuel-air equivalence ratio from Figure 24 and four current production TCM engines resulted in the generalized curves presented in Figure 25. Data from four TCM engines (IO-520-D, GTSIO-520-K, O-200-A, and Tiara 6-285-B) operating at three mixture strength schedules, were utilized in developing the rich end of the curves. Emissions from all open-chamber four-stroke Otto cycle engines evaluated adhered very closely to these trends. Note that only a narrow band of seven-mode, time-weighted equivalence ratios, 1.03 to 1.13, exists where all three regulated pollutants are at or below the EPA limits.

Conclusions which have been made from these analyses are:

- Conventional automotive engines exceeded aircraft NOx limits (50% to 120%); HC and CO were below limits
- The four-stroke open chamber diesel engine exceeded aircraft NOx limits (up to 90%); HC and CO were below limits

 Thermal Fuel Vaporization (Ethyl TFS) reduced HC 39%, with insignificant effects on CO and NOx. landar Landar

Sector A

- The two-stroke diesel (McCulloch) produced less NOx than any other concept evaluated and was well below aircraft NOx and CO limits. Hydrocarbons exceeded the limit.
- Texaco CCS, operating on gasoline or diesel fuel, produced CO and HC emissions well below the EPA Aircraft Standard; NOx limit was exceeded (20% and 30%, respectively).
- Honda CVCC met all EPA emission standards and was the best Stratified Charge Concept evaluated on overall emission reduction.
- Ford PROCO exceeded NOx limits but was well below CO and HC standards.
- The NOx emissions for all concepts evaluated, except the two-stroke diesel, exceeded those for the IO-520-D operating at fuel-air ratios from baseline to safety butt-line.
- Generalized plots of open chamber four-stroke Otto cycle engine emissions as a function of time-weighted equivalence ratio are possible, Figure 25.
- Only a narrow band of seven-mode time-weighted equivalence ratios exist where all three major pollutants are below EPA limits, Figure 25.

Table I presents the percent of EPA exhaust emission standards assigned to each of the fourteen concepts and the resultant concept ranking for emissions. Values in the table were based on the previously discussed raw emission data analyses, assumptions, and considerations and reflect minimum projected levels without tolerance band considerations.

# 6. DECISION MODEL

### 6.1 DECISION SITUATION

It is desired that the necessary technology be developed to effectively and safely reduce general aviation piston engine exhaust emissions to meet the EPA 1980 emission standards. Major engine exhaust emissions being discharged are unburned HC, CO, and NOx. Further, it is desired to reduce these pollutants in such a way that they have minimum adverse effects on aircraft and engine cost, weight, fuel economy, and performance. Secondary emission reduction design considerations must be defined and analyzed to ensure that they do not penalize aircraft performance or significantly affect equipment configuration. The decision situation is:

> • Develop a set of cost-effectiveness criteria for evaluating and screening 14 emission reduction concepts so that three candidates may be chosen for further development.

### 6.2 OBJECTIVES AND THE DECISION CRITERIA

The primary objective is to reduce intermittent combustion aircraft engine exhaust emissions consistent with the EPA exhaust emission standards as indicated in Section 87.31 of Reference 20. The secondary objective is to reduce engine specific fuel consumption (SFC) without incurring a loss of engine rated horsepower. The decision criterion is:

> Select the alternative concepts that effect the maximum opportunity to reduce engine emissions and SFC while minimizing adverse consequences to critical aircraft system design and performance characteristics.

### 6.3 DEVELOPMENT OF CRITERIA AND ATTRIBUTES

and the second second second second

Cost and design emission reduction criteria were selected after extensive documentation review (21 through 50) and internal discussion. Further, the criteria (defined as "decision factors") are traceable to the NASA Request for Proposal (LeRC RFP No. 3-499786Q). A list of solution attributes (indicating a further breakdown of policy, monetary, and technical issues pertinent to the criteria) were generated and used for evaluating the merit and usefulness of emission reduction concepts. A solution attribute is defined as a subset of knowledge, considerations, and thoughts (sometimes intangible or ill defined) that identifies, particularizes, or

supplements the meaning of the criteria. Solution attributes actually drive the definition of criteria elements. Table IV depicts a listing of the criteria used in this study. Sample listings of the attributes for each of the criteria elements are shown in Table V. These tables present a summary of attributes that played an important role in buttressing our understanding of the criteria and how they are related to emission reduction requirements. The assignment portion, to be used during the evaluation of the concepts, is also shown. Table VI presents a correlation of the number of attributes that were actually generated and used for a given criteria element as opposed to the partial listing shown in Table V.

### 6.4 EVALUATION AND RANKING OF DESIGN CRITERIA

Four evaluators were asked to make critical value judgments concerning the relative importance of the criteria as they would be used to assign merit to the emission reduction alternative concepts. A total of 42 years of industrial experience in combustion analysis, equipment design, reciprocating and turbine engine development, and systems engineering is noted for the evaluation team. The criteria were ranked according to their importance as perceived by each evaluator. The method for accomplishing this task is explained in Reference 1. A model of the procedure, as used in the NASA Apollo-Skylab Space Program, is presented in Figure 26. Some liberty was taken to relate the emission reduction problem situation to the original decision model. These changes are depicted in Figure 27. Each evaluator reviewed the criteria and the associated attributes. The evaluators were then asked to choose between sets of criteria as to their relative importance. For example, given any pairwise combination of criteria elements, which ones are preferred? Are cost criteria more important than emissions criteria? What criteria should be ranked first and those last? Figure 28 shows a sample worksheet provided to each evaluator. The criteria choices were denoted by rows and columns. Criteria comparison choices were numerically recorded in each cell for the attending row and column. By distributing a value whose interval lies between (0, 1) among criteria ith, criteria jth, and the associated uncertainty ith, the evaluator logically orders the criteria to emphasize its importance to him. Thus, the equation below illustrates a formal statement of the value assignment procedure between any pair of properties and the associated uncertainty:

			/			۱.
RELATIVE			RELATIVE	۱ I	ASSOCIATED	1
IMPORTANCE	=	1 -	IMPORTANCE	-	UNCERTAINTY	
OF PROPERTY j			OF PROPERTY 1	/ \	OF PROPERTY ij	<b>/</b> .

١

Property ith value assignment is recorded in the upper left-hand portion of the matrix cell, property jth value assignment is calculated as the complement of the matrix cell, and the associated uncertainty between the properties is recorded in the lower right-hand portion of the cell as shown in Figure 29. Hence, by substituting arbitrary values for cost, reliability, and the associated uncertainty, it follows that

RELIABILITY 
$$(j) = 1 - COST (i) - UNCERTAINTY (ij)$$
  
= 1 - 0.6 - 0.1  
= 1 - 0.7  
= 0.3

were the specific values assigned according to Figure 30. A total of 105 pairwise choices were made. A simple logic check, based on the theory of transitivity, was made on the evaluator's choices to ensure consistent pairwise value judgments. Once the evaluator's value judgments were assigned and consistency established, a second computer program was used to rank his multidimensional complex criteria set. The criteria ranking emphasis coefficient is based on the theory of combinations as used to normalize the relative importance and uncertainty scores. An emphasis coefficient is associated with each criterion and it is defined as the sum of the importance scores for that criterion normalized by the total number of pairwise comparisons made. Table VII presents each evaluator's ranked criteria set.

### 6.5 SYNTHESIS OF THE SOLUTION ALTERNATIVES

The synthesis and description of the design concepts, designated as solution alternatives, actually began at contract initiation. Selection of the 14 alternatives occurred after the completion of a literature search, review of concept performance characteristics, and an implementation feasibility assessment. A comprehensive description of each design concept is presented in Section 5.

### 6.6 EVALUATION AND RANKING OF THE SOLUTION ALTERNATIVES

Each evaluator was asked to make a value judgment concerning the choice among selected pairs of design concepts when traded off against a criteria element. It is desired to order the solution alternatives according to one's preference based on a weighted merit score that accounts for his value judgment and gives an indication of his confidence level. Each evaluator answered the questions and followed the assignment instructions shown in Table V. The answers were scored on worksheets, Figure 31, to obtain a preliminary ordering of the solution alternatives with respect to the criteria elements. Seven worksheets were supplied to each evaluator so he could record his notions and make a preliminary assessment of the alternatives. Other columnar schemes were used by some of the evaluators, but they are actually a variation of Figure 31. Where clusters of solution alternatives occurred and appeared to be ranked at the same level, they were reassessed and reordered within the ranking. The preliminary ordering was used to logically organize facts, crystallize ill-defined notions, and recognize intangible ideas about the design concepts and the criteria elements. This procedure forced the evaluator to recognize his knowledge weakness and expertise strengths.

Actual ranking of the concepts began after the above task was completed. Its procedure is identical to that of ranking the criteria, except that the concern is now with selecting a concept with respect to a criteria element, as shown in Figure 32. That is, given the choice among alternative concepts, when traded off against the criteria, which ones are preferred? Is the Improved Cooling Combustion Chamber concept preferred over the Air Injection concept when considered from emission benefits, advantages, and disadvantages? These were the fundamental questions answered by each evaluator. The choices among pairwise solution alternatives were depicted numerically. By distributing a value among alternative ith, alternative jth, and the associated uncertainty ijth, the evaluator logically ordered the concepts to emphasize the importance to him. A total of 1,365 pairwise choices (91 decisions for each of the 15 criteria elements) were made by each evaluator. Again, a consistency check was made to ensure a logical ordering of the evaluator's preferences. A second program that calculates the evaluator's merit scores (associated with his comparison of solution alternatives and criteria elements) was used after consistency was established. The procedure for the ranking of alternative solution approaches is similar to that of the criteria, as explained above. The calculation of the merit coefficient is simply a summation of the product of criteria emphasis coefficients multiplied by the concept merit scores. The merit coefficient yields the statement of preference. An example of a concept comparison tradeoff evaluation for an evaluator is shown in Figure 33.

### 6.7 SELECTION OF AN OPTIMUM SOLUTION ALTERNATIVE PREFERENCE DATA SET

After each evaluator had established his individual criteria set and design concept preference ranking (and associated merit scores), he was directed to meet with his colleagues and select an optimized criteria and concept data set that reflects the consensus of the group. This was accomplished by arguing in favor of a generalized or explicit interpretation of the attributes/criteria elements, amalgamating ideas, compromising individual differences, and forming an opinion that was tolerated by the evaluation group. The optimized criteria data set was selected first and then the group assembled an optimized concept data set.

Consider the individual criteria emphasis ranking in Table VII. The criteria are listed in order of highest ranking (largest numerical emphasis coefficient). The uncertainty coefficient is a measure of the evaluator's level of confidence in his value judgments (the larger numerical value indicates less confidence). Summation of the emphasis and uncertainty coefficient equals unity. Each evaluator rated Emissions and Safety in the top 3 ranking. The remaining criteria are ranked considerably differently, however. Table VIII depicts the criteria ranking based on the consensus of the evaluators and is used as part of the input data to form an optimized solution approach. The formulation of the consensus involved three discrete tasks: 1) fine-tune the selected criteria data, i.e., make slight changes in value assignments, 2) input the selected criteria data into the computer program to determine the optimized emphasis coefficients, and 3) ensure that the criteria data really represent the group's attitude. Table IX shows an ordering of the criteria based on a simple arithmetic average of each evaluator's cliteria ranking. However, after subsequent discussion, it became apparent that the group reordered its priorities and assigned a new criteria ranking as shown in the optimized case of Table VIII.

1

A set of solution alternatives were arrived at in the same manner as the criteria set. Table X presents a summary of individual design concept preferences with associated merit and uncertainty coefficients. It should be realized that the individual preferences are a summation of the comparisons of concepts as a function of criteria tradeoff merit scores. Where possible, a consensus was reached to select an individual's data set that best satisfied the decision criterion. The Emissions and Performance tradeoff merit scores were slightly modified to meet the group's considered value judgment. The merit scores, together with the criteria emphasis set, formed the optimized input data for the solution approach. The rank order of the solution approaches shown in Table XI represents the consensus of the evaluators. The optimized preference listing of emission reduction design concepts was generated by the decision algorithm. Table XII is submitted as supportive data showing the optimized ranking for each concept as a function of the criteria.

### 6.8 EXAMINATION OF THE DECISION CRITERION AND DESIGN CONCEPT CHOICES

The optimized emission reduction criteria ranking and concept preference selection was evaluated for a reasonable fit to the decision criterion. Inspection of Table VIII shows that Emissions, Performance, and Fuel Economy rank within the top 40 percentile of 15 criteria elements. Emissions is ranked first; Performance, third; and Fuel economy, sixth. The above criteria elements are considered congruent with respect to the decision criterion since they are explicitly stated in the primary and secondary objectives as the needs to be satisfied. Safety, ranked second; Cooling, fourth; and Weight and Size, fifth, are important criteria design

considerations that are also included in the upper 40 percentile. The first seven criteria elements are considered the dominant requirements that have the greatest influence on the selection of solution alternatives.

The Reliability requirement was considered marginally important insofar as two evaluators thought it should be placed in the upper 40 percentile. However, Engineers 1 and 3 could not justify or substantiate a strong rationale that favored such high esteem for it. The consensus relegated Reliability to eighth position while the order of the first seven criteria elements prevailed.

In most cases, the evaluators considered Technology, Operational Characteristics, and Maintainability and Maintenance moderately important but lacking in authority. This can be attributed to either the evaluator's ignorance and unfamiliarity of how the criteria requirement relates to the emission reduction problem or the realization that they are coupled to a higher ordered criteria element that has already been satisfactorily answered. The same rationale is used for expressing the consensus for the last four ranked criteria. They do not significantly influence the selection of the solution alternatives at this time. This does not mean that Integration, Materials, Producibility, and Adaptability are to be totally ignored. Most evaluators considered the above criteria of minor importance when selecting a design concept. However, the evaluators may indeed be forced to reassess their initial criteria ranking as subsequent tasks are pursued.

Inspection of Figure 34 shows the optimized correlation matrix for each concept as a function of criteria rank ordering. The concepts are listed in order of their final ranking for the optimized preference analysis. The numbers shown at each intersection point represent the order of concept ranking based on the merit scores when compared with the criteria element. The Improved Cooling Combustion Chamber design concept is ranked first because it scores well among the dominant criteria elements, i.e., first for safety, cooling, and weight and size, and moderately well among the remaining four dominant criteria. The Improved Cooling Combustion Chamber ranked ninth with the emissions criteria, but the influence of the remaining dominant criteria elements forced this design concept to be the top ranked candidate. The Improved Cooling Combustion Chamber candidate was also ranked within the top three design concepts for each evaluator.

The Improved Fuel Injection Systems and Air Injection design concepts are ranked second and third, respectively. Inspection of the dominant criteria (Figure 34) shows a relative high rank scoring for these two candidates when compared against the remainder of design concepts. Again, the Improved Fuel Injection Systems candidate was ranked within the top three design concepts for each evaluator. It becomes apparent that the further one proceeds down the list of design concepts, the corresponding numerical ranking values increase in magnitude for the criteria elements, thus indicating lower utility.

Table XI shows that the first four concepts offer considerable promise at meeting the decision criterion. When considered from the perspective of what is now known about small aircraft reciprocating engine emission reduction methods; the state-of-the-art for emission reduction technology; current industry in-progress emission reduction efforts; and the likelihood of meeting present and future EPA air quality standards, it is envisaged that the first six concepts offer a good chance of successful exploitation. The evaluators believe that the rank ordering of the design concepts, merit coefficient scores, and uncertainty coefficients are realistic and represent a true and accurate estimate of their judgment.

ļ

# **ILLUSTRATIONS**

....

ĺ

1

	ENGINE CO Requi	INDITIONS IRED	DATA REQUIRED									ACTUAL ENGINE CONDITIONS				
HODE Name	ENGINE BRAKE KORSEPOWER (%)	ENGINE SPEED	FUEL FLOW (1b/hr)	MASS AIR OR FUEL- FLOW OR AIR (1b/hr) RATIO	INDUCTIO TEMPERATURE (°F)	DN AIR UPS PRESSURE (in. Hg abs)	TREAM SPECIFIC HUMIDITY (15/15)	нс	NOx	¢0	C02	0 <sub>2</sub>	MANIFOLD PRESSURE (in. Hg abs)	ENGINE TOROUE (ft/1b)	ENGINE SPEED (rpm)	INDICATED H.P. OR FRICTIONA H.P.
Idle		600 rpm														
Taxi		1200 rpm														
Take-Off	100	100% of Maximum Speed														
Climb	80	90% of Maximum Speed														
Approach	40	87% of Maximum Speed														

NOTES:				
HC NOx CO CO <sub>2</sub> G <sub>2</sub>	 Total hydrocarbons in ppm Cx Hy by volume Total oxides of nitrogen in ppm by volume Carbon monoxide in ppm or % by volume Carbon dioxide in ppm or % by volume Oxygen in ppm or % by volume	- Undiluted - Undiluted - Undiluted - Undiluted - Undiluted	(or) gm/hr of Cx Hy (or) gm/hr of N0x (or) gm/hr of C0 (or) gm/hr of C0 (or) gm/hr of 02	(define x and y) (define x)

OF POOR QUALITY

If volumetric data is provided, please designate whether concentrations are wet or dry (water vapor removed) values.

FIGURE 1. RAW EMISSIONS DATA REQUEST FORM



FIGURE 2. 10-520-D, EMISSION CYCLE MIXTURE STRENGTH SCHEDULE

46



FIGURE 3. IO-520-D, EXHAUST EMISSION LEVELS FOR VARIOUS MIXTURE STRENGTH SCHEDULES

47

and the second secon



FIGURE 4. IO-520-D, EFFECT OF MODAL EQUIVALENCE RATIO ON CO, HC, AND NOx



-



The stand of the set of the set of the stand of the set of the set

ł







# FIGURE 7. TEXACO CONTROLLED COMBUSTION SYSTEM CONCEPT

ł



FIGURE 8. TYPICAL PORT LINER



6-1-1-6

American

FIGURE 9. EFFECT OF PORT LINER ON EXHAUST GAS TEMPERATURE







FIGURE 11. TCM AIR-COOLED EXHAUST VALVE CONCEPT



FIGURE 12. EFFECT OF VALVE COOLING AIR FLOW ON VALVE NECK TEMPERATURE



FIGURE 13. TYPICAL FOUR-STROKE DIESEL OPEN COMBUSTION CHAMBER



1

FIGURE 14. McCULLOCH TWO-STROKE DIESEL COMBUSTION CHAMBER

ł



ENGINE INSTALLATION



FIGURE 15. VARIABLE CAMSHAFT TIMING CONCEPT

ł





### FIGURE 17. TELEDYNE CONTINENTAL MOTORS FUEL INJECTOR NOZZLE ASSEMBLY

erned 3 William Newson



### FIGURE 18. PRESSURE-TEMPERATURE COMPENSATED FUEL INJECTION PUMP CONCEPT



.

1

----



ł



FIGURE 20. TYPICAL IGNITION SYSTEM WAVEFORMS

64

1

ł

-

\_

-

-



مريد أستوقف منذى والارتجاز ومريدة والعقار مدار والارتدائي








PERCENT ALLOWABLE EMISSIONS



FIGURE 24 - Concluded



FIGURE 25. PERCENT ALLOWABLE EMISSIONS VERSUS TIME WEIGHTED EQUIVALENCE RATIO FOR ENGINES EVALUATED ON A 7-MODE AIRCRAFT EMISSION CYCLE

70

~



FIGURE 26. APOLLO APPLICATIONS DECISION MODEL

71

·.,



ŀ

and a second second

FIGURE 27. ENGINE EXHAUST EMISSION REDUCTION DECISION MODEL

72

. .

								[	DATE	-						
								ł	RUN	NO	•					
EVA	LUATOR:							ſ	PASS	5 N(	).					
		, }			<u></u>			DE	ECIS	510	NS					
	COST-EFFECTIVENESS CRITERIA	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
1	Cost		/	7	/	1	$\overline{\prime}$		/	/	1	/	/	/	1	/
2	Reliability			/	/	1	1	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	/
3	Safety				/	1	/			/	1	/		/	/	/
4	Technology					1	1	/	1	1			[		1	/
5	Performance						17		$\overline{}$	$\overline{\mathcal{S}}$	$\square$	$\square$	$\overline{}$			$\overline{\prime}$
6	Fuel Economy							1	/	1			$\overline{\Box}$	$\square$	1	1
7	Weight and Size								/	/	$\overline{\checkmark}$	$\square$	1		/	
8	Maintainability and Maintenance										$\overline{\checkmark}$	$\overline{V}$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		1
9	Emissions										$\square$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		1
10	Operational Characteristics											$\square$	$\square$			$\square$
11	Cooling											*	17	1		1
12	Adaptability												<b>-</b>	17	$\square$	
13	Materials														~	1
14	Integration			· · · · ·												1
15	Producibility											<u></u>				

FIGURE 28. DECISION ANALYSIS CRITERIA EMPHASIS WORKSHEET

L



1

- QUESTION: WHICH CRITERIA IS MORE IMPORTANT COST OR RELIABILITY?
- SCORE RANGE: NUMERICAL INTERVAL IS BETWEEN [0, 1]
- NUMERICAL DISTRIBUTION:



ŧ





# NOTE: THE RELIABILITY VALUE, 0.3. IS ASSIGNED TO MATRIX CELL 2, 1.

FIGURE 30. ASSIGNMENT OF NUMERICAL VALUES

Land Market Street and a street and the street and the street and the

75

f .....

ORI USIO	CRITERIA: Safety			CRITI	ERIA: Safety		She EVALUATOR: Engineer No. 1	et: <u>6</u>	- of	
GINAL PA( POOR QUA)	DEFINITION: Freedom from those conditions that can cause injury or dea or loss of equipment or property. Safety also implies cra hazards, and fire prevention.			CONS 1. 2. 3.	CONSTRAINTS: . To make a relative valu . If you are indifferent . If you don't want to ma		ERIA: Safety 	Sheet: 7 o EVALUATOR: Engineer No. 1 DATE:		
ALLT SI At	VA	. UE			CONCEPT ND. 11	1. 2. 3.	To make a relative value judgement use If you are indifferent to the choices o If you don't want to make a value judge	(1), oi f value ment in	r null (D) for no or less value. e, depict as (1) and (1). ndicate (O) and (D).	
	ATTRIBUTES			SCORE	REMARKS		JUDGE	MENT		
	1. Are "fail-safe" principles incoporated	a. If <u>yes</u> ,		1			CONCEPT NO. 13		CONCEPT NO, 14	
	into the design approach where failures would disable the system or cause a catactrophe through infury to personnel	Score (1 better " Score (0		:		SCORE	REMARKS	SCORE	REMARKS	
	damage to equipment, or inadvertent operation of critical equipment?	minīmal		n		0		1		
~	<ol> <li>Is the E<sup>3</sup>R design approach protected against "backfire"?</li> </ol>	a. If <u>yes</u> ,		Ţ						
6	<ol> <li>Does the design approz &gt;&gt; tend to minimize severe damage or injury to personnel and equipment in the event of an accident or misuse?</li> </ol>	a. If <u>yes</u> ,	s			0 0		0 0		
	<ol> <li>Does the E<sup>3</sup>R method or equipment impose operating constraints on either the engine and, or aircraft?</li> </ol>	a. If <u>yes</u> ,	5	1						
	5. Have equipment components been located so that access to them by personnel during ground operation, maintenance, repair, or adjustment shall not require exposure to hazards such as burns, sharp points, cutting edges, or toxic atmospheres?	a. lf <u>yes</u> , score (1 attribut	td ). es	1		0		0		
				4						
L						0	Total Score	1	Total Score	

# FIGURE 31. SAMPLE OF CRITERIA VERSUS CONCEPT TRADEOFF EVALUATION AND PRELIMINARY ORDERING WORKSHEETS

ł

E1	IA1	IIA T	OD.	
			01.	



~

----

							DEC	ISI	ONS							(9)
	CONCEPTS	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	
Π	Honda Compound Vortex Controlled Combustion		1	1	/	/	/	/	/	/	1	/	17	1	1	
2	Texaco Controlled Combustion System			1	/	/	/	/	/	1	/	/	1	1	1	EMISSIONS
3	Ford Programmed Combustion				/	/	1	/	1	/	/	/	1	1	1	
4	Improved Cooling Combustion Chamber					/	/	/	1	1	/	/	1	1	1	
5	Four-Stroke Diesel, Open Chamber						1	/	/	1		1	1	1	1	
6	Two-Stroke Diesel - McCulloch			10				/	1	/	/	/	1	1	1	
7	Variable Camshaft Timing								1	1	/	/	1	/	/	~
8	Improved Fuel Injection System									/	/	/	1	1	1	COST
9	Ultrasonic Fuel Atomization - Autotronic System										1	/	1	1	/	SAFETY
10	Thermal Fuel Vaporization - Ethyl Turbulent Flo	wS	yst	em								1	1	1	/	
11	Multiple Spark Discharge System - Autotronics												1	1	/	COOLING
12	Variable Timing Ignition System													1	1	A. C. L.
13	Hydrogen Enrichment - Jet Propulsion Laboratory							1	(15 UNITS)							
14	Air Injection															
		and the		1111		1000										

# FIGURE 32. DECISION ANALYSIS CONCEPT MERIT WORKSHEET

ł



FIGURE 33. SAMPLE OUTPUT OF CONCEPT COMPARISON TRADEOFF EVALUATION FOR ENGINEER NUMBER 2

							С	RITE	RIA						
				DOMI	NANT				SE	CONDAR	Y		MIN	OR	
CONCEPT	EMISSIONS	SAFETY	PERFORMANCE	COOL ING	WEIGHT AND SIZE	FUEL ECONOMY	COST	RELIABILITY	TECHNOLOGY	OPERATIONAL CHARACTERISTICS	MAINTAINABILITY AND MAINTENANCE	INTEGRATION	MATERIALS	PRODUCIBILITY	ADAPTABILITY
IMPROVED COOLING COMBUSTION CHAMBER	9	1	6	1	1	6	6	3	2	1	1	6	3	2	4
IMPROVED FUEL INJECTION SYSTEMS	3	2	1	14	2	5	7	4	1	6	2	4	2	7	6
AIR INJECTION	4	5	8	9	6	14	1	5	3	3	5	2	6	1	1
MULTIPLE SPARK DISCHARGE SYSTEM	14	3	5	7	3	12	2	6	4	2	3	1	1	5	2
ULTRASONIC FUEL ATOMIZATION, AUTOTRONIC	12	4	9	11	5	10	4	1	5	5	4	10	4	4	7
VARIABLE TIMING IGNITION SYSTEM	13	6	3	8	4	11	5	7	7	9	6	3	5	6	3
THERMAL FUEL VAPORIZATION, ETHYL	11	7	10	13	7	9	3	2	6	4	7	9	7	3	5
HYDROGEN ENRICHMENT, JPL	1	14	7	4	8	1	12	8	9	12	8	7	14	8	8
TEXACO CCS	5	8	12	2	10	2	10	12	13	10	13	11	13	11	11
TWO-STROKE DIESEL, McCULLOCH	7	11	2	6	13	4	13	9	11	:3	9	13	12	13	14
FORD PROCO	6	9	13	ن	11	3	9	11	14	11	14	12	9	12	12
VARIABLE CAMSHAFT TIMING	10	13	4	10	9	13	8	14	8	8	10	5	8	9	9
HONDA CVCC	2	12	11	12	12	8	11	13	10	7	11	8	10	10	10
FOUR-STROKE DIESEL, OPEN CHAMBER	8	10	14	5	14	7	14	10	12	14	12	14	11	14	13

. .

FIGURE 34. CONCEPT RANK ORDERING VERSUS CRITERIA IMPORTANCE

TABLES

ы

		PROJECTE	D MINIMUM E	MISSIONS
		PERCE	NT EPA STAN	DARDS
RANK	CONCEPT	CO	НС	NOx
1	Hydrogen Enrichment, JPL	68.	43.	30.
2	Honda CVCC	36.	22.	76.
3	Improved Fuel Injection Systems	90.	55.	58.
4	Air Injection	97.	65.	34.
5	Texaco CCS	8.	58.	128.
6	Ford PROCO	4.	7.	132.
7	Two-Stroke Diesel, McCullc:h	10.	140.	54.
8	Four-Stroke Diesel, Open Chamber	3.	47.	163.
9	Improved Cooling Combustion Chamber	106.	95.	44.
10	Variable Camshaft Timing	127.	48.	33.
11	Thermal Fuel Vaporization, Ethyl	126.	59.	30.
12	Ultrasonic Fuel Atmoization, Autotronic	126.	5 <del>9</del> .	30.
13	Variable Timing Ignition System	116.	86.	35.
14	Multiple Spark Discharge System	126.	97.	30.
* *	* * * * * * * *			
-	IO-520-D Case 1 (Exhaust Emission Reference Level)	126.	97.	30.

#### TABLE I. CONCEPT RANKING FOR EMISSIONS

MODE	rpm	BHP	FHP	ІнР	REMARKS
Idle	600.	1.	5.	6.	BHP per test data
Taxi	1200.	9.	10.	19.	BHP per test data
Take-off	2850.	300.	46.	346.	Maximum rated power at speed
Climb	2565.	240.	39.	270.	80% maximum power/90% speed
Approach	2480.	120.	37.	157.	40% maximum power/87% speed

ļ

TABLE II. IO-520-D POWER REQUIREMENTS BY OPERATING MODE

	TIME			EMISSION RATE (1bm/IHP $\cdot$ hr) $\times$ 10 <sup>3</sup>			POLLUI	TANT PRODUC (1bm)	ED/MODE
MODE	(hr)	<u>IHP</u>	φ	NO x	нс	CO	NOx	НС	C0
Idle, Out	0.0167	6.	0.6	2.65	8.82	16.31	0.0003	0.0009	0.0016
Taxi, Out	0.1833	19.	0.6	2.65	8.82	16.31	0.0092	0.0307	0.0568
Take-off	0.0050	346.	1.23	2.08	4.73	361.	0.0044	0.0082	0.625
Climb	0.0833	279.	1.20	1.81	3.23	447.	0.075	0.06	7.6
Approach	0.1000	157.	C.6	2.65	8.82	16.31	0.0416	0.1385	0.2561
Taxi, In	0.0500	19.	0.6	2.65	8.82	16.31	0.0025	0.0084	0.0155
Idle, In	0.0167	6.	0.6	2.65	8.82	16.31	0.0003	0.0009	0.0016
	Total Po Produc	llutant ced/Cycle	e, 1bm		<u> </u>	<u></u>	0.1333	0.2476	8.56
	Total Pol Rated	llutant   HP/Cycle	Produced e, (1bm/	/ BHP) × 1	0 <sup>3</sup>		0.444	0.825	28.5
	Percent A	llowable	e Standa	rd			29.6	43.4	67.9

the survey is a large of the first of the track and he was the start of a status states and its

TABLE III. EXHAUST EMISSIONS FOR ENGINE WITH HYDROGEN ENRICHMENT

.

.

.

.

1

.

ىرىنى ئۆلۈكۈ ئۈۈكۈنى بەر ئەر مەرەپ بېزىكىتىنىڭ ئەرەپ مەرەپ تە ئەرەپ ئىرىنى بەرەپ بىرىنى بىرىنى ئۇل**تىكىكىكىكى بەر**  4

•

÷

TABLE IV.	SELECTED COST-EFFECTIVENESS CRITERIA USED TO EVALUATE THE ENGINE	•
	EXHAUST EMISSION REDUCTION DESIGN CONCEPTS	

ŀ

•	COST	•	MATERIALS
•	RELIABILITY	•	INTEGRATION
٠	SAFETY	•	PRODUCIBILITY
•	TECHNOLOGY	•	FUEL ECONOMY
•	PERFORMANCE	•	WEIGHT AND SIZE
•	COOLING	4	MAINTAINABILITY AND MAINTENANCE
•	ADAPTABILITY	•	EMISSIONS
٠	OPERATIONAL CHARACTERISTICS		

Į

## TABLE V. CRITERIA ELEMENT WITH A PARTIAL LISTING OF SOLUTION ATTRIBUTES

	Sheet: <u>1</u> of <u>7</u>
CRITERIA: Cost	
DEFINITION:	
Cost is the dollars paid by an organization expected expenditure of money for glanning, services to realize an effective E <sup>3</sup> R design	for an end item or service. Cost is the engineering, manufacturing, and supportive solution approach.
VA	LUE
ATTRIBUTES	ASSIGNMENT
<ol> <li>Will the expected cost, to produce the design approach, be high (H), moderate</li> <li>(M) or Low (L)2</li> </ol>	a. Give a ROM cost estimate range per concept unit:
ARSITRARY COST SCALE SCALE RANGE(S) Low O to 9 Moderate 100 to 999 High 1,000 to 9,999	If ROM cost estimates cannot be made then indicate L, M, H per concept. Score (1) to the concept that has low cost indication and (0) to moderate or high.
<ol> <li>Will the concept require considerable engineering analysis, tradeoff study, and evaluation to gain design adapta- bility/flexibility?</li> </ol>	a. If <u>yes</u> , score (0); if <u>no</u> , score (1).
<ol> <li>Can the concept be developed and integrated into a manufacturer's product line by 1981, 1985, or 1986 (pessimistic cases)? If the concept can be developed before or by 1979 (optimistic case) then indicate the date.</li> </ol>	a. If optimistic (developed before or by 1979), score (1). If pessimistic, score (0).
4. What test equipment is needed (large capital expenditures) to verify the E <sup>3</sup> R design approach?	a. Itemize mechanical and electrical/ electronic equipment required. Esti- mate the range (L, M, or H) of capital outlay to acquire, rent, lease, and fabricate such equipment.

POOR QUALITY

анда ана 1917 - 1917 1917 - 194

. .

\* -

.

1

÷.

		Sheet: <u>1</u> of <u>5</u>
CR	ITERIA: Reliability	
DE! Rel giv the a f occ an	FINITION: iability is the probability that a system en period of time when used under stated question: Will it work? A reliability unction of the time period. Reliability eur. Failure means "unsatisfactory perfor operator or a maintenance man. This does	will perform satisfactorily for at least a conditions. This notion can be reduced to function is the same probability expressed as relates to the frequency with which failures mance", usually representing a judgment of not preclude the
	VA	-UE
	ATTRIBUTES	ASSIGNMENT
1.	Is equipment design complexity minimized?	<ul> <li>a. Score (1) if design concept is simple, or (0) if complex.</li> </ul>
2.	Will standardized processes, components, and materials be used to manufacture the E <sup>3</sup> R system?	<ul> <li>a. If answer is <u>yes</u> to all elements, score</li> <li>(1). If answer is <u>no</u> to any element, score (0).</li> </ul>
3.	Can E <sup>3</sup> R equipment mean life (opera- tional hours) be predicted for the design approach?	a. Score (1) for predicted (ROM) E <sup>3</sup> R mean life, or (0) for <u>no</u> E <sup>3</sup> R mean life estimate.
4.	Can the E <sup>3</sup> R system/equipment wear- out period, expressed as operational hours, be predicted (warranty implications)?	a. Score (1) for predicted (ROM) E <sup>3</sup> R wearout period, or (0) for <u>no</u> estimate available.
5.	Can E <sup>3</sup> R equipment and/or system failure rates be predicted in terms of MTBF and MTBM?	a. If either MTBF or MTBM can be pre- dicted for a concept, then score (1). If MTBF or MTBM cannot be established, score (0).
6.	Can E <sup>3</sup> R failure modes and effects, i.e., what can fail, and what are the consequences if it does fail, be identified or predicted?	a. Score (0) for the concept that contains 5 or greater quantity of FMEA. Score (1) for the concept with fewer than 5 FMEA.
7.	Does the design approach lend itself to at least univariate life testing (i.e., vary one stress load at a time, or step-stress the load condition until failure occurs):	a. Score (1) for <u>yes</u> and (0) for <u>no</u> .

.

•

.

1

CRITERIA: Safety	Sheet: <u>1</u> of <u>5</u>
DEFINITION: Freedom from those conditions that can cause or loss of equipment or property. Safety al hazards, and fire prevention.	injury or death to personnel, damage to so implies crashworthiness, freedom from
VAI	"UE
ATTRIBUTES	ASSIGNMENT
<ol> <li>Are "fail-safe" principles incoporated into the design approach where failures would disable the system or cause a catastrophe through injury to personnel, damage to equipment, or inadvertent operation of critical equipment?</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>a. If <u>yes</u>, score (1), if <u>no</u> score (0).</li> <li>Score (1) to the concept that has better "fail-safe" design features.</li> <li>Score (0) for concept that has minimal safety features.</li> </ul>
2. Is the E <sup>3</sup> R design approach protected against "backfire"?	a. If <u>yes</u> , score (1). If <u>no</u> , score (0).
<ol> <li>Does the design approach tend to minimize severe damage or injury to personnel and equipment in the event of an accident or misuse?</li> </ol>	a. If <u>yes</u> , score (1). If <u>no</u> , score (0).
<ol> <li>Does the E<sup>3</sup>R method or equipment impose operating constraints on either the engine and/or aircraft?</li> </ol>	a. If <u>yes</u> , score (0); if <u>no</u> , score (1).
5. Have equipment components been located so that access to them by personnel during ground operation, maintenance, repair, or adjustment shall not require exposure to hazards such as burns, sharp points, cutting edges, or toxic atmospheres?	a. If <u>yes</u> , to most safety attributes, then score (1). If not <u>yes</u> to most safety attributes, then score (0).

DIGINAL PAGE 19 OF POOR OF ALITY

i

Į

÷

ł

		Sheet: ] of 4	
CRI	TERIA: Technology	010000 <u></u> 01 <u></u>	
DEF	INITION:		
A t sys tin rec	A technological state may be defined as a given storehouse of hardware; physical man-made systems; human knowledge and skills; methods and standards of performance that exist in time, and are constrained by acceptance and limited by cost. The technology needed to reduce engine exhaust emissions is probably within the state of the art.		
	VA	L.UE	
	ATTRIBUTES	ASSIGNMENT	
٦.	Is all necessary basic scientific knowledge available, or are new developments needed to realize the design approach (R&D implications)?	<ul> <li>a. If new developments are needed, then indicate (0), of if new developments are not needed, then indicate (1). Indicate what new developments are needed.</li> </ul>	
2.	Can basic materials be used or must fundamental research be initiated to improve or develop new materials for application to the concept?	a. Indicate (1) for basic materials to be used, or (0) for research required.	
3.	What technologies (welding, machining, turbine manufacturing, pressure vessel, combustion, etc.) are implicit in the concept?	a. Give the name of each discipline. Indicate (1) for the fewest; (0) for the largest.	
4.	Are advanced manufacturing methods needed to fabricate an E <sup>3</sup> R system?	a. Indicate (1) for needed or (0) for not needed.	
5.	Are the technology disciplines well understood, or are they new within the state of the art?	a. Indicate (1) for "understood" or (0) if any are new.	
6.	Does TCM have the skill, desire, money, and tooling to pursue advanced manu- facturing methods or must we be con- strained to use available equipment, facilities, and resources?	a. Score (1) for "will pursue" and (0) for "be constrained".	

;

··· · · ·

1

- 1

- 1

4

	Sheet: <u>1</u> of <u>3</u>
CRITERIA: Performance	
DEFINITION:	
The ability of an aircraft engine to meet the given airframe application.	he minimum propulsion requirements for a
VA	LUE
ATTRIBUTES	ASSIGNMENT
<ol> <li>Which concept has the greater engine horsepower-to-weight ratio?</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>a. Score (1) for greater hp/lb ratio, and</li> <li>(0) for less hp/lb.</li> </ul>
<ol> <li>For a given rated hp, which concept has the smallest engine frontal area?</li> </ol>	a. For smaller, score (1); for larger, score (0).
<ol> <li>For a given rated hp, which E<sup>3</sup>R concept has the smallest engine volume?</li> </ol>	a. For larger, score (0); for smaller, score (1).
4. Which concept has the greatest potential for engine acceleration off idle, taxi, and approach?	a. Indicate (1) for greater potential and (0) for less potential
5. Which concept has the greatest potential for easy starting in cold and hot weather?	a. If greater potential, score (1): if less potential, score (0).
6. Which concept has the greatest potential for turbocharging?	<ul> <li>a. If greater potential, score (1); if less potential, indicate (0).</li> </ul>
7. Which concept has the minimum fuel octane number or performance number, and cetane number requirement?	a. Indicate (1) for concept with lower requirement and (0) for concept with greater requirement.

ORIGINAL PAGE IS OF POOR QUALITY

N

-----

1

11

-

. . . .

Ì

1

1

1

1

. . .....

•

•

•

.

\_

.

.

		Sheet: <u>1</u> of <u>2</u>	
CF	NITERIA: Fuel Economy		
DE	FINITION:		
Tr (1 Tr tr	The fuel economy of an aircraft may be defined as the amount of useful work derived (i.e., moving the mass of the aircraft through a distance) per unit of fuel consumed. The assumption is that in a given airframe, a new concept engine is required to have the same brake horsepower output as the standard piston engine it replaces.		
	. VA	LUE	
	ATTRIBUTES	ASSIGNMENT	
1.	For concepts of the same bhp and weight does one concept run leaner than another?	a. Score (1) for leaner, and (0) for not as lean.	
2.	For concepts of the same bph does one concept have a smaller engine frontal area than another?	a. Score (1) for smaller engine frontal area and (0) for a larger engine frontal area.	
3.	Does one concept have the potential for further reductions in fuel economy with advancing technology over another concept.	a. Score (1) for "shows potential" and (0) for "does not show potential"	
4.	Can one concept use a larger variety of fuel types than another?	P. If larger variety of fuel types are apparent, score (1); if not apparent, score (0).	

.

.

•

.

CRITERIA: Emissions	
DEFINITION: Each concept must be evaluated on its projec per the EPA aircraft cycle regulations.	ted potential to reduce HC, CO, and NOx
VAL	υE
ATTRIBUTES	ASSIGNMENT
1. What is the projected emissions in percent of EPS Standard for each pollutant?	a. Indicate percent of emissions.
2. Based on the above percent of emissions, which concept has the greatest potential for meeting the EPA Standards?	a. Indicate greatest potential (1), and less potential (0).

.

. .

• •

.

.

. .

- -

• •

- --

• •

· ·

. .

7 -1

.

•

1. 1.

•

. .

.

.

----

Charles -

di kunazi

Approx 2

Construction of the second

(), -----

allocation and a second se

Particular Value

Sanatica Tannon d

LIS USING

And And

101-1021

Contract of

Angles (

			Sheet: <u>1</u> of <u>3</u>
CRI	TERIA: . Weight and Size		
DEFINITION:			
Weight is defined as a unit mass (kg or lb) of a functional subsystem (body) added to any airworthy aircraft system. Size is defined as any increase or decrease of "flat plate" and "wetted" area attributed to aircraft structure growth; addition of fittings, wire, and tubes that influences aerodynamic drag.			
	VAL	UE	
	ATTRIBUTES		ASSIGNMENT
1.	Does the design approach lend itself to specifying an estimate of weight (1b) (+25% error), or can the growth weight be predicted over a three-year period?	a.	If response is <u>no</u> , score (0). If response is <u>yes</u> , score (1) and estimate weight.
2.	Does the E <sup>3</sup> R design concept imply that additional equipment must be added to the aircraft system?	a.	If <u>yes</u> , indicate (0). If <u>no</u> , indicate (1).
3.	Is it necessary to redesign the engine mounts to facilitate the design approach?	a.	If <u>yes</u> , score (0). If <u>no</u> , score (1).
4.	Is it necessary to increase frontal area of the engine cowling, and/or ram air scoop so that the E <sup>3</sup> R equipment can be accommodated?	a.	If <u>yes</u> , score (1) to the smallest size increase, or <u>no</u> increase in size. Score (0) for the concept that has an increase in size as compared to a concept that has <u>no</u> increase in size.
5.	Does the design approach extend the engine cylinder head into the air-stream.	a.	If <u>yes</u> , indicate (0), and if <u>no</u> , indi- cate (1).

94

Ciy

[	Sheet: <u>1</u> of <u>5</u>		
CRITERIA: Maintainability and Maintenance			
DEFINITION:			
Maintainability (M) is a characteristic of d the probability that an item will conform to time when maintenance action is performed in and resources. Maintenance is the consequen ability forestalls the requirement of mainte eliminate or reduce the effect. Maintenance	Maintainability ( $\underline{M}$ ) is a characteristic of design and installation which is expressed as the probability that an item will conform to specified conditions within a given period of time when maintenance action is performed in accordance with prescribed procedures and resources. Maintenance is the consequence of design. Properly applied, maintain- ability forestalls the requirement of maintenance and alters the course of design to eliminate or reduce the effect. Maintenance ( $M_w$ ) is all actions necessary for		
VA			
ATTRIBUTES	ASSIGNMENT		
1. Does the concept lend itself to the principle of frequency-of-use, i.e., positioning the $E^{3}R$ equipment in preferred locations so that it can be easily maintained? (M)	a. If <u>yes</u> or relatively better, then score (1), and if <u>no</u> or not as good, score (0).		
<ol> <li>Does the concept require spares during its life cycle? (M)</li> </ol>	a. Indicate what you think the primary hardware spares might be. Score (1) to the concept that is best defined. Score (0) to the concept that is least defined.		
	b. Score (U) to the concept that has the most spares, and (1) to the concept that has the fewest spares.		
3. Can you write a comprehensive state- ment concerning the maintenance policy for each concept? If an E <sup>3</sup> R unit experiences equipment failure does the mechanic "remove and replace", or "remove and reinstall"? If he "removes and replaces? what does he do with the old equipment (return to vendor, return to manufacturer, scrap, repair, etc.)? (M <sub>e</sub> )	a. Assign a (1) o the concept that has the greatest number of definable maintenance policy characteristics. Indicate (0) for ill-defined maintenance policy.		
4. Is the adjustment/alignment automatic (self adjusting), semiautomatic, or manual? (M <sub>#</sub> )	<ul> <li>a. Indicate type of adjustment/alignment and score relative to each other, i.e., (1) for manual as opposed to (0)</li> </ul>		

ORIGINAL PAGE IS OF POOR QUALITY

.

، ....

-----

1

and a start a fight shart for so into the second

1

• •

.

Ţ

3

Sheet: <u>1</u> of <u>2</u> CRITERIA: Operational Characteristics DEFINITION: Operational characteristics as used in this study are those responses, changes, and additions that affect pilot ground and flight action.		
VA	LUE	
ATTRIBUTES	ASSIGNMENT	
<ol> <li>Is the starting procedure different from a conventional horizontally opposed and radial engine?</li> </ol>	a. Score (1) for less of a change. Score (0) for greater change.	
2. Is personnel training required to properly use the concept?	a. If <u>yes</u> , score (0). If <u>no</u> , score (1).	
<ol> <li>Is additional monitoring of tempera- tures, pressures, rpm, etc., required?</li> </ol>	a. Score (1) for less monitoring, and (0) for greater monitoring.	
4. Has the engine's controls (throttle, mixture, and propeller pitch) signifi- cantly changed from conventional engine equipment designs?	a. Score (1) for <u>no</u> , or less of a change; (0) for a greater change.	

96

a ta di ta da se alto - tala di a ta ta a ta

าย ระวงกระนาจ และ นำเหล่างและได้เราะเร

and the state of the second second

		Sheet: <u>1</u> of <u>1</u>	
	TIERTA. GOUTING		
DE	FINITION:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Co cy CO co	Cooling of a cylinder head is presently accomplished by ambient air flowing around the cylinder head, and by rich F/A ratios in the combustion process. In order to reduce CO and HC emissions, it is essential to reduce F/A ratio. However, this reduction could cause cooling problems.		
	VAL	.UE	
	ATTRIBUTES	ASSIGNMENT	
1.	What is the projected F/A ratios for each mode of operation?	a. Estimate F/A ratio data.	
2.	Based on the above F/A ratios in question number 1, what are the theoretical flame temperatures (°F) of these mixtures?	a. Estimate temperature data.	
3.	Based on the above temperatures in question number 2, which concept has the greatest potential for running cooler?	a. Score (1) to indicate greatest . potential; (0) to show less potential.	

DRIGINAL PACE DD POOR

1. -

{

-

ļ

а н

	Sheet: of
CRITERIA: Adaptability	
CEFINITION:	
Adaptability is the quality for a design app favorable, in some sense, to continue the fu though it was not intended for that purpose.	roach, system, and equipment to be used Inctional operation of a system, even
VA	LUE
ATTRIBUTES	ASSIGNMENT
I. Is the design concept applicable to: • New TCM engines? • Existing TCM engines? • Competitor's engines?	<ul> <li>a. If <u>yes</u> to all, score (1). If relative for pairwise comparison, score (1) to the concept that has the greater application, and (0) for the lesser application.</li> <li>b. If possible, name engine manufacturer and models.</li> </ul>

	Sheet: <u>1</u> of <u>2</u>	
CRITERIA: Materials		
DEFINITION:		
A substance that can be classified as either metallic or non-metallic, and whose physical and mechanical properties can be observed and measured. It is desired to address the types of materials to be used in each concept, i.e., metals (ferrous and non-ferrous), and non-metals (wood, plastic, etc.).		
VA	LUE	
ATTRIBUTES	ASSIGNMENT	
<ol> <li>Are further developments in materials required, such as increasing the mechanical property of strengths to meet concept design needs?</li> </ol>	a. If further developments are needed, score (0). If not needed, score (1).	
<ol> <li>Are exotic materials (e.g., boron fiber reinforced metals, beryllium alloys, etc.) required?</li> </ol>	a. If <u>yes</u> , score (0); if <u>no</u> score (1).	
<ol> <li>Is the availability of materials used for the E<sup>3</sup>R equipment and concept, likely to decrease?</li> </ol>	a. If likely to decrease, score (0). If likely to increase, score (1).	
4. Are the materials to be used easy to process and fabricate?	a. If <u>yes</u> to both processes and fabricate, score (1). If <u>no</u> to either or both, score (0).	
5. Are additional materials required for one concept over another?	a. If <u>yes</u> , list what the materials are, and score (0). If <u>no</u> , score (1).	

1

ł

Sheet: <u>1</u> of <u>1</u> CRITERIA: Integration DEFINITION: Integration is the combining of different equipments into subsystems so they work together harmoniously. Integration implies that various skills will be addressed for design, test, manufacturing, and organizational direction. VALUE **ATTRIBUTES** ASSIGNMENT 1. Can the design approach subsystems Identify the likely subsystems that a. be interchanged, e.g., an induction are interchangeable. system from one concept applied to a stratified charge concept, and still Score (1) for the concept that shows the greater interchangeability and (0) for the least interchangeability. ь. be workable? What E<sup>3</sup>R design interfaces are expected to occur per concept, and a. Identify interfaces in terms of: RANK ELEMENT how do you consider their relative importance? • Mechanical Electrical Fluids Instrumentation Support Equipment Score (1) to the concept that has the least amount of interfaces and (0) to the concept that has the greatest b. number of interfaces.

TABLE V - Continued

-----

1. 400

TABLE V - Concluded

		Sheet: <u>1</u> of <u>4</u>	
CR	ITERIA: Producibility		
DE	FINITION:		
Th th of to	DEFINITION: The ability of resources to be technologically converted into functional end items so that needs can be fulfilled. We are concerned with the ease of manufacture and assembly of an end item, including access to its parts, tooling requirements, and realistic tolerances.		
	AA	LUE	
	ATTRIBUTES	ASSIGNMENT	
1.	Do you expect that the design approach would use a greater number of standard parts, rather than specialized parts?	a. If <u>no</u> , score (0); if <u>yes</u> , score (1).	
2.	Does the concept imply the need to use close fitting manufacturing allowances and rigid true dimensional tolerances?	a. Score (1), if the concept does not require rigid manufacturing dimen- sional constraints. Score (0) if it does,	
3.	What retooling is envisaged to manufacture the E <sup>3</sup> R equipment?	<ul> <li>a. Identify and list standard tooling.</li> <li>b. Score (1) for the concept that has the most identifiable machine tools.</li> <li>Score (0) for the least identifiable machine tools.</li> </ul>	
4.	Are standard fabrication and assembly procedures applicable for the concept and the E <sup>3</sup> R equipment?	a. If <u>yes</u> to both concept and E <sup>3</sup> R equipment, score (1). If <u>no</u> to either, score (0).	
_			



on the second states of a

. . . . . . . .

[]

1

.

and the second of

1

1

......

ала а марија на има и брани и Марија и Станцика Станиј, и на колтон Макерски и Дорбун (1996). На именика и на

CRITERIA	NUMBER OF ATTRIBUTES USED
Cost	15
Reliability	14
Safety	14
Technology	10
Performance	6
Fuel Economy	3
Weight and Size	9
Maintainability and Maintenance	14 .
Emissions	2
Operational Characteristics	4
Cooling	3
Adaptability	١
Materials	5
Integration	2
Producibility	12

#### TABLE VI. NUMBER OF SOLUTION ATTRIBUTES USED FOR DESCRIBING A CRITERIA ELEMENT

Langer the second

 $\Box$ 

### TABLE VII. ENGINE EXHAUST EMISSION REDUCTION CRITERIA EMPHASIS COEFFICIENTS AND RANK FOR ENGINEER NO. 1

Sheet  $\underline{1}$  of  $\underline{4}$ 

CRITERIA	EMPHASIS COEFFICIENT	UNCERTAINTY
Emissions	0.08000	0.01599
Reliability	0.07429	0.01695
Safety	0.07238	0.01019
Cost	0.06857	0.01842
Fuel Economy	0.06286	0.01390
Materials	0.05810	0.01610
Producibility	0.05333	0.01089
Performance	0.05238	0.02031
Integration	0.04857	0.01371
Maintainability and Maintenance	0.04762	0.01022
Operational Characteristics	0.04381	0.01503
Technology	0.04286	0.01146
Cooling	0.03619	0.01157
Weight and Size	0.03048	0.00986
Adaptability	0.02857	0.00543

adio and a stand and a substantial substantia

DRIGINAL PAGE, IS

and the second second
#### TABLE VII. ENGINE EXHAUST EMISSION REDUCTION CRITERIA EMPHASIS COEFFICIENTS AND RANK FOR ENGINEER NO. 2 - Continued

Sheet 2 of 4

CRITERIA	EMPHASIS COEFFICIENT	UNCERTAINTY
Emissions	0.09257	0.01485
Performance	0.08400	0.01910
Safety	0.08219	0.01337
Cooling	0.07524	0.01516
Weight and Size	0.07419	0.01033
Cost	0.06286	0.01484
Reliability	0.06267	0.00976
Fuel Economy	0.05667	0.01046
Technology	0.05238	0.00772
Maintainability and Maintenance	0.04428	0.00896
Operational Characteristics	0.03990	0.00825
Producibility	0.03476	0.00903
Integration	0.02876	0.00918
Materials	0.02581	0.00606
Adaptability	0.01981	0.00673

and a second and the second second

\$1,560 pt

diax 27 diate

S 201- 2215

#### TABLE VII. ENGINE EXHAUST EMISSION REDUCTION CRITERIA EMPHASIS COEFFICIENTS AND RANK FOR ENGINEER NO. 3 - Continued

Sheet  $\underline{3}$  of  $\underline{4}$ 

CRITERIA	EMPHASIS COEFFICIENT	UNCERTAINTY
Emissions	0.08343	0.01181
Safety	0.07733	0.01410
Reliability	0.07257	0.01410
Fuel Economy	0.06981	0.01971
Operational Characteristics	0.06552	0.01638
Performance	0.06505	0.01495
Weight and Size	0.05867	0.01657
Integration	0.05771	0.01467
Technology	0.05171	0.01495
Adaptability	0.04771	0.01610
Cooling	0.04086	0.01629
Producibility	0.03876	0.01171
Maintainability and Maintenance	0.03676	0.00610
Cost	0.02657	0.00581
Materials	0.01229	0.00200

#### TABLE VII. ENGINE EXHAUST EMISSION REDUCTION CRITERIA EMPHASIS COEFFICIENTS AND RANK FOR ENGINEER NO. 4 - Concluded

Sheet  $\underline{4}$  of  $\underline{4}$ 

ş.

CRITERIA	EMPHASIS COEFFICIENT	UNCERTAINTY
Emissions	0.10952	0.00138
Safety	0.09667	0.00746
Performance	0.08724	0.00705
Cooling	0.07695	0.00707
Weight and Size	0.07229	0.01152
Fuel Economy	0.06981	0.01019
Cost	0.06781	0.01198
Reliability	0.05933	0.00903
Technology	0.05457	0.00659
Operational Characteristics	0.04200	0.01059
Maintainability and Maintenance	0.04029	0.00924
Integration	0.03324	0.00295
Materials	0.03029	0.00305
Producibility	0.02933	0.00210
Adaptability	0.02781	0.00267

المحاف المحاف المحافظ المتنا ومحاور والمهم ومحاف المحافية

# TABLE VIII. ENGINE EXHAUST EMISSION REDUCTION CRITERIA EMPHASIS COEFFICIENTS AND RANKING - OPTIMIZED

CRITERIA	EMPHASIS COEFFICIENT	UNCERTAINTY
Emissions	0.10952	0.00138
Safety	0.09676	0.00750
Performance	0.08714	0.00701
Cooling	0.07695	0.00707
Weight and Size	0.07238	0.01159
Fuel Economy	0.06990	0.01020
Cost	0.06771	0.01192
Reliability	0.05933	0.00903
Technology	0.05548	0.00658
Operational Characteristics	0.04200	0.01059
Maintainability and Maintenance	0.04029	0.00924
Integration	0.03324	0.00295
Materials	0.03029	0.00305
Producibility	0.02933	0.00210
Adaptability	0.02781	0.00267

and the second second

ŧ

Contraction and the second statement of the

antalaasiaanna araan araan

#### TABLE IX. ENGINE EXHAUST EMISSION REDUCTION CRITERIA ORDERING BASED ON A SIMPLE ARITHMETIC AVERAGE OF THE EVALUATORS' FINAL RANKING

And Street, St

.

transfer a

1

ţ

And the second second

1

-

CRITERIA	RANK
Emissions	1
Safety	2
Performance	3
Reliability	4
Fuel Economy	5
Cost	6
Weight and Size	7
Cooling	8
Operational Characteristics	9
Technology	10
Maintainability and Maintenance	11
Materials	12
Integration	13
Producibility	14
Adaptability	15

#### TABLE X. ENGINE EXHAUST EMISSION REDUCTION CONCEPT PREFERENCE, MERIT SCORE, AND RANK FOR ENGINEER NO. 1

Sheet  $\underline{1}$  of  $\underline{4}$ 

CONCEPT	RANK	MERIT COEFFICIENT	UNCERTAINTY
Thermal Fuel Vaporization, Ethyl	1	0.06404	0.03004
Improved Cooling Combustion Chamber	2	0.05618	0.02778
Improved Fuel Injection Systems	3	0.05443	0.03083
Ultrasonic Fuel Atomization, Autotronic	4	0.05264	0.03017
Multiple Spark Discharge System	5	0.05199	0.02832
Texaco CCS	6	0.04931	0.02932
Ford PROCO	7	0.04655	0.02889
Variable Timing System	8	0.04278	0.02735
Air Injection	9	0.04037	0.02452
Two-Stroke Diesel, McCulloch	10	0.03913	0.02425
Honda CVCC	11	0.03853	0.02040
Four-Stroke Diesel, Open Chamber	12	0.03823	0.02291
Variable Camshaft Timing	13	0.03269	0.01890
Hydrogen Enrichment, JPL	14	0.03177	0.01766

. . . .

ale and the second second

#### TABLE X. ENGINE EXHAUST EMISSION REDUCTION CONCEPT PREFERENCE, MERIT SCORE, AND RANK FOR ENGINEER NO. 2 - Continued

٠.

Sh	eet	: 2	01	F 4

والمراجع والمحافظ والمحافظ أنجع ليقيقه والمستعدين والمعادي والمعادي والمتكامين والمعقوة فيتها والمحافظ ومعاميرا فال

· ·········

a a construction and a construction of the second second second second second second second second second second

. .

CONCEPT	RANK	MERIT COEFFICIENT	UNCERTAINTY
Improved Cooling Combustion Chamber	1	0.06195	0.02917
Air Injection	2	0.05478	0.02845
Improved Fuel Injection Systems	3	0.05416	0.02544
Thermal Fuel Vaporization, Ethyl	4	0.05300	0.02726
Hydrogen Enrichment, JPL	5	0.04922	0.02226
Ultrasonic Fuel Atomization, Autotronic	6	0.04915	0.02525
Multiple Spark Discharge System	7	0.04779	0.02532
Texaco CCS	8	0.04710	0.02186
Variable Timing System	9	0.04553	0.02353
Variable Camshaft Timing	10	0.04528	0.02287
Ford PROCO	11	0.04402	0.02022
Two-Stroke Diesel, McCulloch	12	0.04303	0.01969
Honda CVCC	13	0.04014	0.02260
Four-Stroke Diesel, Open Chamber	14	0.03451	0.01641

~

and a first second s

n na hini na na na hini n

#### TABLE X. ENGINE EXHAUST EMISSION REDUCTION CONCEPT PREFERENCE, MERIT SCORE, AND RANK FOR ENGINEER NO. 3 - Continued

Ş	he	et	3	of	4

Į

CONCEPT	RANK	MERIT COEFFICIENT	UNCERTAINTY
Improved Fuel Injection Systems	1	0.06759	0.03360
Air Injection	2	0.06530	0.03127
Improved Cooling Combustion Chamber	3	0.06402	0.03455
Multiple Spark Discharge System	4	0.05953	0.03096
Ultrasonic Fuel Atomization, Autotronic	5	0.05852	0.03060
Variable Timing System	6	0.05702	0.03189
Thermal Fuel Vaporization, Ethyl	7	0.04695	0.02785
Hydrogen Enrichment, JPL	8	0.04527	0.02627
Variable Camshaft Timing	9	0.03605	0.02434
Honda CVCC	10	0.03024	0.01965
Two-Stroke Diesel, McCulloch	11	0.02898	0.01910
Four-Stroke Diesel, Open Chamber	12	0.02681	0.01684
Texaco CCS	13	0.02518	0.01849
Ford PROCO	14	0.02513	0.01795

and the second state of the se

# TABLE X.ENGINE EXHAUST EMISSION REDUCTION CONCEPT PREFERENCE,<br/>MERIT SCORE, AND RANK FOR ENGINEER NO. 4 - Concluded

Shee	t 4	of	- 4

and the second design of the second second

CONCEPT	RANK	MERIT COEFFICIENT	UNCERTAINTY
Improved Cooling Combustion Chamber	1	0.05961	0.02425
Texaco CCS	2	0.05791	0.02657
Multiple Spark Discharge System	3	0.05668	0.02721
Improved Fuel Injection Systems	4	0.05629	0.02337
Ford PROCO	5	0.05219	0.02453
Variable Timing System	6	0.05112	0.02668
Air Injection	7	0.05057	0.02369
Thermal Fuel Vaporization, Ethyl	8	0.04799	0.02215
Variable Camshaft Timing	9	0.04722	0.02542
Two-Stroke Diesel, McCulloch	10	0.04582	0.02532
Honda CVCC	11	0.04083	0.01962
Ultrasonic Fuel Atomization, Autotronic	12	0.03782	0.01985
Four-Stroke Diesel, Open Chamber	13	0.03732	0.01837
Hydrogen Enrichment, JPL	13	0.03410	0.01751

ada na ming dina mananana manan' arawa mining dina sa marang kata marang na mina kana kata na kata na mang mini 👘

hickory and some in the

Barrow, 1999. Rocket et alle and and a self and a some and a second state and a second state and a second secon

#### TABLE XI. ENGINE EXHAUST EMISSION REDUCTION CONCEPT PREFERENCE, MERIT SCORE, AND RANK - OPTIMIZED

CONCEPT	RANK	MERIT COEFFICIENT	UNCERTAINTY
Improved Cooling Combustion Chamber	1	0.07294	0.02391
Improved Fuel Injection Systems	2	0.07084	0.02165
Air Injection	3	0.06540	0.02096
Multiple Spark Discharge System	4	0.06485	0.02201
Ultrasonic Fuel Atomization, Autotronic	5	0.05822	0.02018
Variable Timing System	6	0.05761	0.02024
Thermal Fuel Vaporization, Ethyl	7	0.05390	0.01986
Hydrogen Enrichment, JPL	8	0.04974	0.01641
Texaco CCS	9	0.04397	0.01657
Two-Stroke Diesel, McCulloch	10	0.04374	0.01691
Ford PROCO	11	0.04210	0.01549
Variable Camshaft Timing	12	0.04081	0.01659
Honda CVCC	13	0.04057	0.01548
Four-Stroke Diesel, Open Chamber	14	0.03471	0.01432

and the second second

Destricted in the second strictly and the statistical strength of the second strength and the state of the second strength of the s

- 16-16-16

# TABLE XII. ENGINE EXHAUST EMISSION REDUCTION CONCEPT COMPARISON TRADEOFF EVALUATION MERIT SCORES - OPTIMIZED

\*EMISSIONS

Sheet  $\underline{1}$  of  $\underline{15}$ 

CONCEPT	MERIT SCORE	UNCERTAINTY
HYDROGEN ENRICHMENT, JPL	0.09848	0.01072
HONDA CVCC	0.09143	0.01016
IMPROVED FUEL INJECTION SYSTEMS	0.08659	0.00962
AIR INJECTION	0.08165	0.00907
TEXACO CCS	0.07538	0.00967
FORD PROCO	0.07066	0.00900
TWO-STROKE DIESEL, McCULLOCH	0.06560	0.00865
FOUR-STROKE DIESEL, OPEN CHAMBER	0.06066	0.00796
IMPROVED COOLING COMBUSTION CHAMBER	0.05582	0.00729
VARIABLE CAMSHAFT TIMING	0.05187	0.00576
THERMAL FUEL VAPORIZATION, ETHYL	0.04692	0.00521
ULTRASONIC FUEL ATOMIZATION, AUTOTRONIC	0.04209	0.00468
VARIABLE TIMING SYSTEM	0.03714	0.00413
MULTIPLE SPARK DISCHARGE SYSTEM	0.03220	0.00358

\*SAFETY

Sheet  $\underline{2}$  of  $\underline{15}$ 

ł

CONCEPT	MERIT SCOPE	UNCERTAINTY
IMPROVED COOLING COMBUSTION CHAMBER	0.09901	0.01857
IMPROVED FUEL INJECTION SYSTEMS	0.09824	0.01604
MULTIPLE SPARK DISCHARGE SYSTEM	0.09451	0.01429
ULTRASONIC FUEL ATOMIZATION, AUTOTRONIC	0.08934	0.01396
AIR INJECTION	0.08308	0.01143
VARIABLE TIMING SYSTEM	0.07582	0.01319
THERMAL FUEL VAPORIZATION, ETHYL	0.05747	0.01176
TEXACO CCS	0.03626	0.01868
FORD PROCO	0.03582	0.01692
FOUR-STROKE DIESEL, OPEN CHAMBER	0.03495	0.01890
TWO-STROKE DIESEL, McCULLOCH	0.03484	0.01901
HONDA CVCC	0.02813	0.01143
VARIABLE CAMSHAFT TIMING	0.02176	0.00901
HYDROGEN ENRICHMENT, JPL	0.01187	0.00571

Sheet  $\underline{3}$  of  $\underline{15}$ 

#### \*PERFORMANCE

CONCEPT	MERIT SCORE	UNCERTAINTY
IMPROVED FUEL INJECTION SYSTEMS	0.09703	0.01078
TWO-STROKE DIESEL, McCULLOCH	0.09132	0.01092
VARIABLE TIMING SYSTEM	0.08604	0.01022
VARIABLE CAMSHAFT TIMING	0.08000	0.01081
MULTIPLE SPARK DISCHARGE SYSTEM	0.07615	0.00903
IMPROVED COOLING COMBUSTION CHAMBER	0.06945	0.01020
HYDROGEN ENRICHMENT, JPL	0.06560	0.00858
AIR INJECTION	0.06088	0.00792
ULTRASONIC FUEL ATOMIZATION, AUTOTRONIC	0.05462	0.00783
THERMAL FUEL VAPORIZATION, ETHYL	0.04989	0.00714
HONDA CVCC	0.04582	0.00645
TEXACO CCS	0.04022	0.00632
FORD PROCO	0.03549	0.00561
FOUR-STROKE DIESEL, OPEN CHAMBER	0.03209	0.00357

فيفاقى والمرجعين

Sheet  $\underline{4}$  of  $\underline{15}$ 

ļ

\*COOLING

CONCEPT	MERIT SCORE	UNCERTAINTY
IMPROVED COOLING COMBUSTION CHAMBER	0.08769	0.01931
TEXACO CCS	0.08264	0.01892
FORD PROCO	0.07835	0.01761
HYDROGEN ENRICHMENT, JPL	0.06802	0.01165
FOUR-STROKE DIESEL, OPEN CHAMBER	0.05934	0.03154
TWO-STROKE DIESEL, McCULLOCH	0.05582	0.02958
MULTIPLE SPARK DISCHARGE SYSTEM	0.04637	0.02785
VARIABLE TIMING SYSTEM	0.04286	0.02595
AIR INJECTION	0.04077	0.02246
VARIABLE CAMSHAFT TIMING	0.03538	0.02229
ULTRASONIC FUEL ATOMIZATION, AUTOTRONIC	0.03099	0.02105
HONDA CVCC	0.02901	0.01202
THERMAL FUEL VAPORIZATION, ETHYL	0.02769	0.01915
IMPROVED FUEL INJECTION SYSTEMS	0.02055	0.01512

والالاد فبداج وفاقة والارد الاطراط ولأ

والمراجع وال

and the second second second and a second second

174 X 44

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

ARE CALLED AND A DECK

*WEIGHT A	ND SIZE
-----------	---------

CONCEPT	MERIT SCORE	UNCERTAINTY
IMPROVED COOLING COMBUSTION CHAMBER	0.10286	0.01143
IMPROVED FUEL INJECTION SYSTEMS	0.09890	0.01099
MULTIPLE SPARK DISCHARGE SYSTEM	0.09494	0.01055
VARIABLE TIMING SYSTEM	0.09099	0.01011
ULTRASONIC FUEL ATOMIZATION, AUTOTRONIC	0.08703	0.00967
AIR INJECTION	0.08308	0.00923
THERMAL FUEL VAPORIZATION, ETHYL	0.07363	0.00989
HYDROGEN ENRICHMENT, JPL	0.04956	0.01198
VARIABLE CAMSHAFT TIMING	0.04692	0.01462
TEXACO CCS	0.03011	0.01275
FORD PROCO	0.02835	0.01011
HONDA CVCC	0.02813	0.00923
TWO-STROKE DIESEL, McCULLOCH	0.02648	0.00978
FOUR-STROKE DIESEL, OPEN CHAMBER	0.01615	0.00253

TABLE XII - Continued

Sheet <u>6</u> of <u>15</u>

ł

\*FUEL ECONOMY

CONCEPT	MERIT SCORE	UNCERTAINTY
HYDROGEN ENRICHMENT, JPL	0.09648	0.01072
TEXACO CCS	0.09143	0.01016
FORD PROCO	0.08648	0.00961
TWO-STROKE DIESEL, McCULLOCH	0.08154	0.00906
IMPROVED FUEL INJECTION SYSTEMS	0.07659	0.00851
IMPROVED COOLING COMBUSTION CHAMBER	0.06989	0.00972
FOUR-STROKE DIESEL, OPEN CHAMBER	0.06516	0.00895
HONDA CVCC	0.06176	0.00686
THERMAL FUEL VAPORIZATION, ETHYL	0.05692	0.00632
ULTRASONIC FUEL ATOMIZATION, AUTOTRONIC	0.05198	0.00578
VARIABLE TIMING SYSTEM	0.04703	0.00523
MULTIPLE SPARK DISCHARGE SYSTEM	0.04209	0.00468
VARIABLE CAMSHAFT TIMING	0.03714	0.00413
AIR INJECTION	0.03220	0.00358

119

the block and some interaction with

1 merene [

ม้อากร้าน และกันและ มีนักษณีที่มีหมายนี้ให้แล้วมาที่สืบมีที่มีหลังสินชีวิตรรณ มีนากแหน่งสามชื่อมีมีเชี้ย์นั้นสาม

9.00 Here - 1

f-

Sec. 1. 440

\*COST

「「「「「「」」

Second States Second

CONCEPT	MERIT SCORE	UNCERTAINTY
AIR INJECTION	0.09648	0.01072
MULTIPLE SPARK DISCHARGE SYSTEM	0.08681	0.01480
THERMAL FUEL VAPORIZATION, ETHYL	0.08231	0.01394
ULTRASONIC FUEL ATOMIZATION, AUTOTRONIC	0.07758	0.01302
VARIABLE TIMING SYSTEM	0.07308	0.01216
IMPROVED COOLING COMBUSTION CHAMBER	0.07275	0.00808
IMPROVED FUEL INJECTION SYSTEMS	0.06440	0.00990
VARIABLE CAMSHAFT TIMING	0.05923	0.00909
FORD PROCO	0.05516	0.00792
TEXACO CCS	0.05033	0.00724
HONDA CVCC	0.04484	0.00719
HYDROGEN ENRICHMENT, JPL	0.04209	0.00468
TWO-STROKE DIESEL, McCULLOCH	0.03714	0.00413
FOUR-STROKE DIESEL, OPEN CHAMBER	0.03143	0.00349

a - 1

د د معود ا م

4-14 - 1 - 44

#### \*RELIABILITY

CONCEPT	MERIT SCORE	UNCERTAINTY
ULTRASONIC FUEL ATOMIZATION, AUTOTRONIC	0.09011	0.01538
THERMAL FUEL VAPORIZATION, ETHYL	0.08714	0.01615
IMPROVED COOLING COMBUSTION CHAMBER	0.08319	0.02780
IMPROVED FUEL INJECTION SYSTEMS	0.08154	0.01407
AIR INJECTION	0.08088	0.01363
MULTIPLE SPARK DISCHARGE SYSTEM	0.07967	0.01593
VARIABLE TIMING SYSTEM	0.06308	0.01604
HYDROGEN ENRICHMENT, JPL	0.05154	0.01440
TWO-STROKE DIESEL, McCULLOCH	0.04747	0.00967
FOUR-STROKE DIESEL, OPEN CHAMBER	0.04088	0.00857
FORD PROCO	0.03571	0.00714
TEXACO CCS	0.03220	0.00736
HONDA CVCC	0.02692	0.00824
VARIABLE CAMSHAFT TIMING	0.01945	0.00582

องที่ ซึ่งสีสัตร์เหมือน จากกร้องไม่สาว จำนวีกสาวหนึ่ง จากกร้องที่มีการสี่มีการสี่มีการสี่มีการสี่มีการสี่งการส

and the second secon

Sheet  $\underline{8}$  of  $\underline{15}$ 

and a second and an and the second and a second and the second and the second and the second and the second and

ł

4.20.5.5

\*\*\*\*

22,7

\*TECHNOLOGY

CONCEPT	MERIT SCORE	UNCERTAINTY
IMPROVED FUEL INJECTION SYSTEMS	0.10110	0.01648
IMPROVED COOLING COMBUSTION CHAMBER	0.09736	0.01363
AIR INJECTION	0.09473	0.01516
MULTIPLE SPARK DISCHARGE SYSTEM	0.08879	0.01451
ULTRASONIC FUEL ATOMIZATION, AUTOTRONIC	0.07857	0.01374
THERMAL FUEL VAPORIZATION, ETHYL	0.07637	0.01374
VARIABLE TIMING SYSTEM	0.06165	0.00978
VARIABLE CAMSHAFT TIMING	0.05231	0.01473
HYDROGEN ENRICHMENT, JPL	0.04407	0.01418
HONDA CVCC	0.03582	0.01363
TWO-STROKE DIESEL, McCULLOCH	0.02516	0.01000
FOUR-STROKE DIESEL, OPEN CHAMBER	0.02275	0.01022
TEXACO CCS	0.02275	0.00912
FORD PROCO	0.02165	0.00802

<mark>alanan darah kanan dari sala anan dara kan kali kasi kasa kanan kanan kanan kana kanan kana kana kana kana kana</mark>

n – na na na manana a na manana a na papanana manana manana manana kana manana kana manana kana manana a manana 🗤 ma

The best of the second s

ļ

and the lat

#### TABLE XII - Continued

Sheet  $\underline{10}$  of  $\underline{15}$ 

Ţ

a and a second of the second sec

**\*OPERATIONAL CHARACTERISTICS** 

Martin Martin Bart Charles Street, and South Starts

CONCEPT	MERIT SCORE	UNCERTAINTY
IMPROVED COOLING COMBUSTION CHAMBER	0.07494	0.03212
MULTIPLE SPARK DISCHARGE SYSTEM	0.07099	0.03042
AIR INJECTION	0.06703	0.02873
THERMAL FUEL VAPORIZATION, ETHYL	0.06330	0.02713
ULTRASONIC FUEL ATOMIZATION, AUTOTRONIC	0.05956	0.02553
IMPROVED FUEL INJECTION SYSTEMS	0.05571	0.02388
HONDA CVCC	0.05198	0.02228
VARIABLE CAMSHAFT TIMING	0.04802	0.02058
VARIABLE TIMING SYSTEM	0.04418	0.01893
TEXACO CCS	0.04055	0.01738
FORD PROCO	0.03670	0.01573
HYDROGEN ENRICHMENT, JPL	0.03275	0.01403
TWO-STROKE DIESEL, McCULLOCH	0.02912	0.01248
FOUR-STROKE DIESEL, OPEN CHAMBER	0.02516	0.01078

Christian Matthewart and a statistic

•

P. Annalist

es en arrel

• 5 m - 4

#### \*MAINTAINABILITY AND MAINTENANCE

..

includes a new property the second second

CONCEPT	MERIT SCORE	UNCERTAINTY
IMPROVED COOLING COMBUSTION CHAMBER	0.11769	0.01308
IMPROVED FUEL INJECTION SYSTEMS	0.08527	0.01802
MULTIPLE SPARK DISCHARGE SYSTEM	0.07725	0.02055
ULTRASONIC FUEL ATOMIZATION, AUTOTRONIC	0.07121	0.02000
AIR INJECTION	0.06769	0.02022
VARIABLE TIMING SYSTEM	0.06319	0.02912
THERMAL FUEL VAPORIZATION, ETHYL	0.06253	0.01989
HYDROGEN ENRICHMENT, JPL	0.04187	0.01637
TWO-STROKE DIESEL, McCULLOCH	0.03407	0.01538
VARIABLE CAMSHAFT TIMING	0.03132	0.01264
HONDA CVCC	0.02934	0.01901
FOUR-STROKE DIESEL, OPEN CHAMBER	0.02560	0.01396
TEXACO CCS	0.02440	0.01407
FORD PROCO	0.02352	0.01275

. . . . .

Sheet  $\underline{12}$  of  $\underline{15}$ 

t

ł

Constitution of the

#### **\*INTEGRATION**

CONCEPT	MERIT SCORE	UNCERTAINTY
MULTIPLE SPARK DISCHARGE SYSTEM	0.09593	0.01136
AIR INJECTION	0.08066	0.02099
VARIABLE TIMING SYSTEM	0.07846	0.01780
IMPROVED FUEL INJECTION SYSTEMS	0.07242	0.01840
VARIABLE CAMSHAFT TIMING	0.06110	0.02407
IMPROVED COOLING COMBUSTION CHAMBER	0.06099	0.01859
HYDROGEN ENRICHMENT, JPL	0.04978	0.02441
HONDA CVCC	0.04747	0.02125
THERMAL FUEL VAPORIZATION, ETHYL	0.04396	0.01913
ULTRASONIC FUEL ATOMIZATION, AUTOTRONIC	0.04110	0.01645
TEXACO CCS	0.03934	0.01288
FORD PROCO	0.03429	0.01215
TWO-STROKE DIESEL, McCULLOCH	0.03418	0.00713
FOUR-STROKE DIESEL, OPEN CHAMBER	0.02956	0.00616

#### Sheet $\underline{13}$ of $\underline{15}$

**HORNEY** 

11-1-25

#### \*MATERIALS

• • • •

مستحد بالجفار بالسر وتعجاب فرتوت بالمقو فتستحد تتت مسوحته

· · · · · · · · · ·

CONCEPT	MERIT SCORE	UNCERTAINTY
MULTIPLE SPARK DISCHARGE SYSTEM	0.10483	0.01275
IMPROVED FUEL INJECTION SYSTEMS	0.09769	0.01440
IMPROVED COOLING COMBUSTION CHAMBER	0.08967	0.01253
ULTRASONIC FUEL ATOMIZATION, AUTOTRONIC	0.08396	0.01165
VARIABLE TIMING SYSTEM	0.08165	0.01176
AIR INJECTION	0.06934	0.00978
THERMAL FUEL VAPORIZATION, ETHYL	0.05912	0.01341
VARIABLE CAMSHAFT TIMING	0.04044	0.01670
TWO-STROKE DIESEL, McCULLOCH	0.03879	0.01615
HONDA CVCC	0.03868	0.01297
FOUR-STROKE DIESEL, OPEN CHAMBER	0.03440	0.01396
FORD PROCO	0.03143	0.01363
TEXACO CCS	0.03033	0.01253
HYDROGEN ENRICHMENT, JPL	0.02055	0.00692

1 1 1 1 I I

. . . . . . . .

**.**....

Breast Sector

t. Satis

#### TABLE XII - Continued

### Sheet $\underline{14}$ of $\underline{15}$

----

#### \*PRODUCIBILITY

CONCEPT	MERIT SCORE	UNCERTAINTY
AIR INJECTION	0.08571	0.02143
IMPROVED COOLING COMBUSTION CHAMBER	0.08132	0.02033
THERMAL FUEL VAPORIZATION, ETHYL	0.07692	0.01923
ULTRASONIC FUEL ATOMIZATION, AUTOTRONIC	0.07253	0.01813
MULTIPLE SPARK DISCHARGE SYSTEM	0.06813	0.01703
VARIABLE TIMING SYSTEM	0.06374	0.01593
IMPROVED FUEL INJECTION SYSTEMS	0.05934	0.01484
HYDROGEN ENRICHMENT, JPL	0.05495	0.01374
VARIABLE CAMSHAFT TIMING	0.05055	0.01264
HONDA CVCC	0.04615	0.01154
TEXACO CCS	0.04176	0.01044
FORD PROCO	0.03736	0.00934
TWO-STROKE DIESEL, McCULLOCH	0.03297	0.00824
FOUR-STROKE DIESEL, OPEN CHAMBER	0.02857	0.00714

والمستحد والمحافظ والمرادية والمحافظ والمحافظ والمتحافظ والمتحافظ والمحافظ والمحافظ والمحافظ والمحافظ والمحافظ والمحافظ

TABLE XII - Concluded

\*ADAPTABILITY

CONCEPT	MERIT SCORE	UNCERTAINTY
AIR INJECTION	0.08571	0.02143
MULTIPLE SPARK DISCHARGE SYSTEM	0.08132	0.02033
VARIABLE TIMING SYSTEM	0.07692	0.01923
IMPROVED COOLING COMBUSTION CHAMBER	0.06945	0.02058
THERMAL FUEL VAPORIZATION, ETHYL	0.06560	0.01938
IMPROVED FUEL INJECTION SYSTEMS	0.06154	0.01813
ULTRASONIC FUEL ATOMIZATION, AUTOTRONIC	0.05747	0.01688
HYDROGEN ENRICHMENT, JPL	0.05330	0.01560
VARIABLE CAMSHAFT TIMING	0.04703	0.01590
HONDA CVCC	0.04330	0.01469
TEXACO CCS	0.03879	0.01327
FORD PROCO	0.03484	0.01201
FOUR-STROKE DIESEL, OPEN CHAMBER	0.03066	0.01067
TWO-STROKE DIESEL, McCULLOCH	0.02659	0.00938

(a) 10.1

. การประการเป็นของสามารถสามารถสามารถสามารถสามารถสามารถสามารถสามารถสามารถสามารถสามารถสามารถสามารถสามารถสามสมสมสมส

a first sector and the sector and th

٠

Sheet  $\underline{15}$  of  $\underline{15}$ 

l

## APPENDIX A. RAW EMISSIONS DATA

PRECEDING PAGE BLANK NOT FILMEL

. i

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS FOR APPENDIX A

and and a second

n seren a

futur f

- -

. . .

.

- |

. . .

: |

Concept											
Honda CVCC	A-1										
Ford PROCO	A-3										
Texaco CCS											
• 183 CID Military Engine Operating on Gasoline	A5										
• 141 CID Plymouth Engine Operating on Gasoline	A-8										
• 141 CID Plymouth Engine Operating on Diesel Fuel	A-10										
Four-Stroke Diesel											
• 407 CID International Engine	A-12										
• 236 CID Perkins Engine	A-14										
• 132 CID Datsun Engine	A-16										
Two-Stroke Diesel, McCulloch	A-18										
Thermal Fuel Vaporization, Ethyl											
• 350 CID Chevrolet Engine	A-20										
• 121 CID BMW Engine	A-25										

alan an in the tract

#### HONDA COMPOUND VORTEX CONTROLLED COMBUSTION

DATA SOURCE: Southwest Research Institute (Ref. 5, p. B-16, Table B-19)

#### ENGINE DESCRIPTION:

j

Manufacturer: Honda Motor Co. Cylinder Arrangement: I-4 Displacement (in<sup>3</sup>): 95.2 Aspiration: Natural Rated (Maximum) Power: 63 hp at 5500 rpm

**OPERATING CONDITIONS:** 

	REQUI	<b>E</b> D	ACTUA	L	
MODE	BHP (%)	rpm	BHP (%)	rpm	
Idle, In and Out		600.	-	1000.	
Taxi, In and Out	-	1200.	-	1000.	
Take-Off	100.	100.%	100.	100.%	
Climb	80.	90.%	75.	100.%	
Approach	40.	87.%	50.	100.%	

ASSUMPTIONS:

- Equilibrium values of  $CO_2$  and  $O_2$  used for all modes.
- Fuel hydrogen-to-carbon ratio assumed to be 2.0.

#### 95 CID HONDA COMPOUND VORTEX CONTROLLED COMBUSTION

PBARGAV		FUEL HYDRUGEN-	TANB	RATED	C I D	EXHAUST	AVG H20	3 IN AIR	
IN HG ABS		CARBON KATIO	DEG F	HP	INCH##3	C - H FORM	IULA PI	RCENT	
14.700		2.0000	76.00	63.00	95.20	1+000 1-	850	D.720	
	UNITS	NODE 1	NUDE 2	NODE 3	NODE 4	MODE 5	NODE 6	MODE 7	TOTAL
TIME IN NUDE	MINUTES	L-00	11-00	0.30	5.00	6.00	3.00	1.00	27.30
FUEL FLOù	L8/HR	1.72	1-72	30.83	25.53	20-24	1.72	1.72	
AIR FLOW	LO/HR	27.78	27.78	367.79	316-20	276.51	27.78	27.78	
HYURGCARBUN CUNC.	ррн-с	636.00	00,000	1872-00	1504.00	100-00	280.00	280-00	
OXIDES OF NITROGEN CU	ING PPM	86.CQ	86-00	801.00	461.00	962.00	82.00	82-00	
CARBON MONGXIDE CONC.	PERCENT	0.26	0.26	2.84	2.54	0.46	J. 25	0.25	
LARBON DIUXIDE CONC.	PERCENT	12.13	12.13	9.45	10.20	11.58	12.13	12.13	
OXYGEN CONC.	PERCENT	1.20	1.20	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.20	1.20	
PROP. TORCUE	FT-LB	- -		60.23	45-17	30.11			
PROP. SPEED	RPM	1000.00	1000-00	5500.00	5500.00	5500-00	1000.00	1060-00	
DRY BULS TEMP	UEG A	F 68.00	68.00	75.70	75.70	80.20	82.00	82.00	
WET BULB TEMP	UEG B	F 60.00	60-00	60.00	60.00	60-00	60.00	60.00	
FUEL AIR RATIO	18/18	0-0 <del>-248</del>	0-05248	0-08445	0.04136	0-07367	0-062.29	0.06229	0-06861 14
FUEL ATR FLUI VALENCE	RATIO	0.52	0.92	1.25	1.20	1-09	0.92	0.92	1.01 T
ENGINE UBSERVED POWER	х. ни	>		63-07	47-30	31.53		40.72	
URS RMEP	PSI	1		95-41	71-55	47.70			
OBS ASEC LE	34/842-46	-		0.489	0.540	0-642			
EXHAUST MULE, MT. 11	AZI B-MGI P	28-91	28.91	27.57	27.80	28-41	28. GI	28.91	
HET A LEBECTION BACTOR		0.85066	0.85066	0.90945	0.89910	D.89713	0.85582	0.855.82	
MY EMICEINN DATE		0.00000	4.00944	0-37667	0.25648	0.01449	0.00394	0.00106	
NC MACE / MONE	LUTIN	0.00025	0.00165	0.00188	0-02137	0.00145	0.00320	0-00007	0 02677
HE MASS / HUDE	1 8 7 4 6		0100103	0100100	0105131	0.00147	01000 to	0400007	0.02017
NG MAJJ / NAIEW OF	27440400								22.24
CO ENTESTON DATE		0.07466	0.07466	11 51484	4 76120	1 24672	0.07005	0.07006	22.570
CO MARC / MODE	LOFAR		0.01360	0.05757	0 72010	1437362	0.00250	0.000000	0.04195
CO MASS / NUVE		0.00154	0101303	0.03131	0-12010	V-13431	0.00330	0-00111	0.94103
CU MASS / RAIEU NY									0-01473 26 40
LU - PERLENI UP EPA	SIANUARL		0 00604	0 53307	0 14 04 0	0 44 127	0.003.05	0 00305	37+QV
NUA ERISSIUN KAIE	1.0/08	A 0.00404 A 60007	0.00074	Ua93201 0 00344	0.02172	U. 06636	0.00010	0.00000	0.07140
NUA MASS / MUUE	LD	0.00007	u- 90014	0.00200	0.02112	V=V4024	0-00013	0-00006	0.00110
NOX- PERCENT OF EPA	STANDARL	- -							75.86
CALCULATED FUEL AIR R	ATIU FRO	IN EXHAUST GAS	ANALYSIS						
CAL. FUEL AIR BATIO	LB/LB	0.06465	0.06465	0.01747	0.07594	0.06904	0.06438	0.06438	D. 06778 TA
INTER MEAS & CM . FIA	A PERCENT	r 9.47	3-47	-8-27	-6-64	+6-28	3, 37	3, 37	-1-20 TA

ORIGINAL PAGE IS OF POOR QUALITY

. ...

#### FORD PROGRAMMED COMBUSTION

DATA SOURCE: Southwest Research Institute (Ref. 5, p. B-10, Table B-13)

**ENGINE DESCRIPTON:** 

-----

Manufacturer: Ford (Capri) Cylinder Arrangement: I-4 Displacement (in<sup>3</sup>): 141 Aspiration: Natural Rated (Maximum) Power: 73 hp at 4000 rpm

**OPERATING CONDITIONS:** 

	REQUI	RED	ACTUA	L	
MODE	BHP (%)	rpm	BHP (%)	rpm	
Idle, In and Out	-	600.	_	900.	
Taxi, In and Out	-	1200.	-	900.	
Take-Off	100.	100.%	100.	100.%	
Climb	80.	90.%	75.	100.%	
Approach	40.	87.%	50.	100.%	

ASSUMPTIONS:

- Equilibrium values of CO2 and O2 used for all modes.
- Fuel hydrogen-to-carbon ratio assumed to be 2.0.

ORIGINAL PAGE IS OF POOR QUALITY

#### 141 CID CAPKI WITH FORD PROCO

PBARCAV		FUEL HYUKEGEN-	TAMB	RATED	613	EXHAUST	AVG H20	IN AIR	
IN HG ABS		CANDUN RATIU	UEG F	HP	INCH##3	C - H FOR	NULA PI	RCENT	
29-000		<b>∠.</b> 6606	00+UŬ	73.40	141.00	1.000 1.	-850 0	.917	
	UNIIS	MODE 1	NUDE 2	MUDE 3	MUDE 4	MUDE 5	NÚDĚ 6	MODE 7	TOTAL
TIME IN MULE	MINUTES	5 <b>1.60</b>	11.00	Ű.J.J	5.00	6.00	3.00	1.00	27.30
FUEL FLUM	L8/HH	0.53	0.53	41.41	33.87	26.46	0.53	0.53	
AIR FLOW	L6/HR	58.21	58-21	504.00	497.45	388.96	58.21	58-21	
HYDROCARBON CUNC.	PPH-C	67.60	67.00	5664.00	20 <u>-</u> 00	30.00	14.00	14.00	
UXIDES OF NITHUGEN CO	NL PPH	50.80	ຮປະບໍຍ	384.00	1110-00	944.00	68-00	68.00	
CARBON MONEXIDE LUNC.	PERCENT	0-00	4.00	4-41	0.00	0.00	0.00	0-00	
LARBEN DIGAIDE GENL.	Procent	1.88	1.80	9.75	12.75	12.76	1.88	1.88	
UXYGEN CLNC.	PERCENT	17.75	17.75	0.01	0.01	0.01	17.75	17-75	
PROP. TUKCUE	FT-Lo	1		96.46	86.57	74-91			
PRLP. SPEEL	кри	1 966.CC	900 <b>.</b> uu	4000.00	4000+00	4000-00	900.00	900-00	
DRY CLES LEAP	DEG P		09.00	00.ĴU	00.00	65.00	65.00	65.00	
MET BULB TEMP	UEG P	- 60.CC	60+00	40.00	00.€Cô	5 <b>0.</b> 00	60.00	60.00	
				<b>A</b> 1.21.4	<b>A</b>				
FUEL AIN RATIU	Ld/Lo	9-00211	0.00911	0.08293	0.06873	0-06470	0-00918	0.00918	0.03397 TA
FUEL AIR ELUIVALENCE	RATIU	U-14	0-14	_L+23	1-02	1.02	0.14	V-14	0.50 TA
ENGINE UUSERVED POWER	hP			13+41	65.94	57+05			
DES EMEP	PSI			103-17	92.59	80-12			
LES ESFC LE	н/онр-нr			0.564	0.514	4.464			
EXHAUST MULE. WI. LB	/L3-MOLE	28.96	28.90	27+66	2.8 - <b>81</b>	28.81	28.96	28.96	
NET CURRECTION FACTUR		Ú-96024	G. 90034	0+86632	0-85604	J-86511	0.96049	0.96049	
HC EMISSION RATE	LUZHK	0.06185	0-00198	1.54854	0.01279	0.00000	0.00039	0.00039	
HC MASS / MODE	LÞ	ü. Luu Li 3	0.00035	0.00774	0.00107	0.00060	0+00002	0.00001	0.00981
HC MASS / KATED HP	L B / HP								0.00013
HL - PERCENT UF EPA	STAGUARU							_	7+04
CU EMISSIUN RATE	Lo∕Hk	<b>U_00136</b>	C. UU135	24-32472	0.01085	0.01090	0.00136	0.00136	
CL MASS / MUDE	Ľ۵	じょししほり2	0-00025	0=12162	0-00040	0-00109	0+00007	0-00002	0.12398
CO MASS / RATED HP	L d/HP								0.00169
CO - PERCENT OF EPA	STANLARU								4-02
NLX EMISSICN KATE	L B/HŔ	0.00747	Ŭ <b>∎</b> UŬ747	0.34813	0.94696	0-62623	0.00635	0.00635	
NOX MASS / MULE	Ľ۵	u_00012	0.00137	0-00174	0.07891	0.06262	0.00032	0.00011	0.14519
NUX HASS / RATEU Hr	LUZHP								0.00198
NGX- PERCENT OF EPA	STANLARD								131.87
CALCULATED FUEL AIN N	ATIU FRU	M EXHAUST GAS A	ANALYSIS				_		
CAL. FUEL AIR RAIIU	しぢ/しび	0.00933	0.00933	75680.0	0.05771	0.06770	0.00931	0.00931	0.03367 TA
DIFF. MEAS & LAL. F/A	PERCENT	1.79	1.79	4+13	-1.48	-1.45	1.40	1.40	-0.89 TA

# ORIGINAL PAGE IS OF POOR QUALITY

------

#### TEXACO CONTROLLED COMBUSTION SYSTEM

#### CASE 1

#### DATA SOURCE: Texaco, Incorporated (Ref. 54)

#### ENGINE DESCRIPTION:

Type: Military Engine Cylinder Arrangement: I-4 Displacement (in<sup>3</sup>): 183 Aspiration: Natural Rated (Maximum) Power: 82 hp at 3500 rpm Fuel: Gasoline

#### **OPERATING CONDITIONS:**

	REQU	IRED	ACTUAL	•	
MODE	BHP (%)	rpm	BHP (%)	rpm	
Idle, In and Out	-	600.	-	725.	
Taxi, In and Out	-	1200.	13.	1500.	
Take-Off	100.	100.%	100.	100.%	
Climb	80.	90.%	78.	86.%	
Approach	40.	87.%	39.	86.%	

#### ASSUMPTIONS:

None

Engine Description: Stratified Charge, Multifuel, 4-Cylinder, Water Cooled, 4 Cycle, In Line, OHC Engine Displacement: 183 CLD Engine Rated Brake H.P.: 82 at 3500 rpm Fuel Hydrogen-Carbon Ratio: 0.157 (by weight)

	ENGINE CO REQUI	INDITIONS IRED		DATA REQUIRED					WET						ACTUAL ENGINE		
MODE NAME	ENGINE BRAKE HORSEPOWER (%)	ENGINE SPEED	FUEL FLOW (1b/hr)	AIR FLOW (1b/hr)	MASS FUEL- AIR RATIO	INDUCTION TEMPERATURE (°F)	ON AIR UPS PRESSURE (in- Hg abs)	TREAM SPECIFIC HUMIDITY (1b/1b)	HC (ppm)	NOx (ppm)	CO (ppm)	CO2 (%)	0 <sub>2</sub> (%)	MANIFOLD PRESSURE (in. Hg abs)	ENGINE POWER (H.P.)	ENGINE SPEED (rpm)	INDICATED H.P.
Idle	-	600 rpm	1.00	132	0.0076	78	29.85	0.00857	224	46	1000	1.45	19.0		0	725	2.6
Taxi	-	1200 rpm	5.63	305	0.018	78	29.95	0.00914	329	166	1200	3.55	16.0		11	1500	18.8
Take-Off	100	100%	39.3	643	0.061	80	29.99	0.00572	2	1420	1000	13.8	1.6		82	3500	107.2
C1 tmb	80	90% of Max.	29.4	539	0.055	78	29.22	0.01021	8	1 300	2000	12.0	5.2		64	3000	83.2
Approach	40	87% of Max.	16.0	575	û, 028	78	29.22	0.01021	100	340	1400	<del>6</del> .3	12.5		32	3000	52.7

NOTES:

4 . . . .

\*Engine operates unthrottled

to care 1

Sec. 16

**!** 

a di ana ang maratara

. ...

Section 1

100 C 100 C 10 C

ويحفظهم استثقارته والمرور والمحد

HC NDx CO		Total hydrocarbons in ppm Cx Hy by volume Total oxides of nitrogen in ppm by volume Carbon monoxide in ppm or % by volume	- Undiluted - Undiluted - Undiluted	(or) gm/hr of Cx Hy (or) gm/hr of NOx (or) gm/hr of CO	(define x and y) $x = 6$ , $y = 14$ (define x) $x = 2$ PPM
00	-	Carbon monoxide in ppm or % by volume	- Undi luted	(or) gm/hr of CO	PPM
CO2	-	Carbon dioxide in ppm or 3 by volume	- Undijuted	(or) gm/hr of CU2 (or) gm/hr of Cu2	2. Volume V Kolumo
v2	-	oxygen in ppm of a by vorume	- 010130000		a vorone

183 CID MILITARY ENGINE WITH TEXACO CCS

PBARLAV		FUEL HYDROGEN-	TAMB	RATED	CID	EXHAUST	AVG H	20 IN AIR	
IN HG ABS		CARBON RATIO	DEG F	HP	INCH**3	C – H FORI	HULA .	PERCENT	
29.720		1.8700	78-30	82.00	183.00	1.000 1.	850	0.867	
	UNITS	NODE 1	MODE 2	MODE 3	MODE 4	MODE 5	NODE 6	MODE 7	TOTAL
TIME IN NOGE	MINUTES	1.00	11.00	0.30	5.00	6.00	3.00	1.00	27.30
FUEL FLOW	LBZHR	1.00	5-63	39.30	29.40	16.00	5.63	1.00	
AIR FLOW	LBZHR	132.00	305.00	643.00	539.00	575.00	305.00	132.00	
HYERCEARBON CUNC.	PPM-C	1344-00	1974-00	12,00	48.00	600.00	1974.00	1344.00	
<b>EXIDES OF NITROGEN CO</b>	DNC PPM	40-00	166.00	1420.00	1300.00	340.00	166.00	46.00	
CARBON MONEXIDE CONC.	PERCENT	0-10	0-12	0.10	0-20	0.14	0.12	0.10	
CARBON DIGXIDE CONC.	PERCENT	1.45	3.55	13.80	12.00	6+30	3.55	1.45	
OXYGEN CONC.	PERCENT	19-CC	10.00	1+60	5.20	12.50	16.00	19.00	
PROP. TERLUE	FT-LB	1	38.51	123.05	112-04	56+02	38.51		
PRUP. SPEED	RPM	725-00	1500-00	3500.00	3000.00	3000.00	1500.00	725.00	
DRY BULB TEMP	DEG F	70.00	78.00	80.00	78.00	78.00	78.00	78.00	
WET BULB TEMP	UEG F	63.60	63.90	59.00	65.10	65.10	63.90	63.00	
FUEL AIR RATIO	L <b>H/L</b> 8	0.00764	0.01863	0.06148	0.05511	0.02811	0.01863	0.00764	0.02706 TA
FUEL AIR EQUIVALENCE	RATIU	0.11	0+27	0,90	0.80	0.41	0.27	0.11	0.40 TA
ENGINE UBSERVED PUWER	k HP	,	11.00	82.00	64+00	32.00	11.00		
OBS BMEP	PS1	•	31.74	101.40	92+33	46.16	31.74		
OBS BSFC LI	BM/BHP-HR	•	0.512	0.479	0.459	0.500	0.512		
EXHAUST NOLL. NT. LI	B/LB-NOLE	28.90	28.95	28.91	28.92	28.94	28.95	28.96	
WET CORRECTION FACTOR	ι – <del>–</del>	0.95206	0.96010	0.84575	0.88462	0.89471	0.96010	0.95206	
HC EMISSION RATE	L B/HR	0.08564	0.29388	0.00393	0.01309	0.17000	0.29388	0.08564	
HC NASS / NOVE	LB	0.00143	0.05388	0.00002	0.00109	0.01700	0.01469	0.00143	0.08954
HC MASS / RATED HP	L B/HP								0.00109
HC - PERCENT OF EPA	STANDARU	1							57+47
CO EMISSIÓN RATE	L B/HR	0-12864	0.36065	0.66103	1.10114	0.80077	0.360 65	0.12864	
CO MASS / NODE	ĹВ	0.00214	0.06612	0.00331	0-09175	0.08008	0.01803	0.00214	0.26358
CO MASS / RATED HP	L 8/HP	•							0.00321
CO - PERCENT OF EPA	STANUARD	•							7.65
NOX EMISSION RATE	L B/HR	0.00972	0.08195	1.54180	1.17564	0.31943	0-08195	0.00972	
NUX MASS / MODE	LB	0.00016	0.01502	0.00771	0.09797	0.03194	0-00410	0.00016	0.15707
NOX MASS / RATED HP	L8/HP	<b>-</b>	· · - ·						0.00192
NCX- PERCENT OF EPA	STANDARD	)							127.70
CALCULATED FUEL AIR A	ATIO FRO	M EXHAUST GAS	ANALYSIS						
CAL. FUEL AIR RATIO	LB/LB	0.00805	0.01833	0.06381	0.05352	0.03002	0+01833	0.00805	0.02709 TA
DIFF. HEAS & CAL. F/A	A PERCENT	5.31	-1.64	3.80	-2.87	6.77	-1.64	5.31	0.10 TA

والمستحدة المتحافظ فتحتج والمستعد المساعد

ļ

F,

#### TEXACO CONTROLLED COMBUSTION SYSTEM

#### CASE 2

DATA SOURCE: Southwest Research Institute (Ref. 5, p. B-14, Table B-18)

**ENGINE DESCRIPTION:** 

Manufacturer: Plymouth (Cricket) Cylinder Arrangement: I-4 Displacement (in<sup>3</sup>): 141 Aspiration: Natural Rated (Maximum) Power: 67 hp at 3000 rpm Fuel: Gasoline

**OPERATING CONDITIONS:** 

	REQUIR	ED	ACTUAL			
MODE	BHP (%)	rpm	BHP (%)	rpm		
Idle, In and Out	-	600.	-	900.		
Taxi, In and Out	-	1200.	17.	1800.		
Take-Off	100.	100.%	100.	100.%		
Climb	80.	90,%	75.	100.%		
Approach	40.	87.%	50.	100.%		
	1	1 '		1		

**ASSUMPTIONS:** 

- Equilibrium values of CO2 and O2 used for all modes.
- Fuel hydrogen to carbon ratio assumed to be 2.0.

# ORIGINAL PAGE IS

141 CID PLYMOUTH CRICKET WITH TEXACO CCS (GASOLINE)

Z PBAKUAV		FUEL HYDRUGEN-	TAMB	RATED	CI0	EXHAUST	AVG H2	O IN AIR	
IN HG ABS		CARBON RATIO	DEG F	HP	1NCH##3	C - H FUR	HULA P	ERCENT	
29.000		2.0000	a4.00	67.10	141.00	1.000 1.	850	1.039	
5								1.011	
	UNITS	MODE 1	MODE 2	MODE 3	MODE 4	MODE 5	MODE 6	MODE 7	TOTAL
TIME IN MODE	MINUTES	1.60	11.00	0.30	5.00	6.00	3.00	1.00	27.30
FUEL FLOW	L B / HR	1.46	7.54	24.48	73-39	15.48	7.54	L.46	
AIR FLUW	LBZHR	101-87	316.20	612.55	563.60	550-37	316.20	101.87	
HYDRGCARBON CONC.	Pbw-C	1440.CO	270.00	17.00	17.00	65.00	270.00	1808.00	
OXIDES OF NITROGEN CO	INC PPM	108.60	231-00	924.00	660.00	496-90	231.00	98.00	
CARBEN MUNCXIDE CUNC.	PERCENT	0.03	0.00	0-00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.04	
CARBON DIDXIDE CONC.	PERCENT	2.94	4.85	<b>8</b> +0₽	7.18	5-71	4.85	2.94	
OXYGEN CONC.	PERCENT	16.10	13.15	8.10	9.55	11.85	13.15	16.10	
PROP. TOKGUE	チエーレロ		33.58	117.57	88.12	58.90	33.58		
PHOP. SPEED	RPM	906.66	1800-50	3000-00	3000.00	3000-00	1800.00	900.00	
DRY BULL TEMP	<b>DEG P</b>	63.00	63.00	70.20	63.00	63.00	63.00	63.00	
WET BULB TEMP	UEG F	- 60.dü	ດປະມິນ	65.00	60.00	60.00	6 <b>0.</b> 00	60.00	
COOLING AIR TEMP	UÉG F	· 04.00	64.UU	64-ÜÜ	64.00	64-00	64+ ÜÜ	64.00	
INDUCTION AIR TEMP	DEG F	64.00	64.00	64+00	64.00	64-00	54.00	64.00	
FUEL AIR RATIO	LB/LB	0-01448	6-02409	0.04044	0.03582	0.02842	0.02409	0.01448	0.02666 TA
FUEL AIR EQUIVALENCE	RATIO	· 0.21	0.30	0.00	0.53	0+42	0.36	0.21	0.39 TA
ENGINE OBSERVED POWER	k HP	•	£1.51	67-16	50.34	33.64	11.51		
GBS BMEP	PSI		35.92	125.74	94-25	62.99	35.92		
UBS BSFC LI	вм/внр-нк		U+655	0.365	0.397	<b>0.460</b>	0.655		
EXHAUST MOLE. NT. LI	B/LB-MULE	28.95	28.94	28.93	28293	28.94	28.94	28.95	
WET CORRECTION FACTOR	k	0.92702	0.93317	0.90097	0.91219	0.92715	0.93317	0.92044	
HC EMISSION RATE	LB/HR	0.07130	0.04190	0.00519	0.00476	0.01763	0-04190	0-08953	
HC MASS / MODE	LB	J. 00119	0.00768	0.00003	0-00040	0.00176	0.00210	0.00149	0.01464
HC MASS / KATED HP HC - PERCENT OF EPA									0.00022
CU EMISSIUN NATE	L B/HR	0-03459	0-00470	0.02282	0-01977	0_01588	0-00470	0-04348	*** **
CH MASS / MUDE	L 16	0.00058	0-00080	0-00011	0.00165	0-00159	0-00023	0.00072	0.00575
CO MASS / RATEC HP	LB/HP								0.00009
LE - PERLENT OF EPA	STANDARD	1							0.20
NOX ENISSIEN RATE	I B/HR	0.01773	0.11887	0.93609	0.61245	0.36522	0-11887	0.01609	0120
NOX MASS / NODE	1.8	0.0000.0	0-02179	0.00468	0.05104	0-03652	0.00594	0.00027	0 12054
MUK MASS -/ RATED HP	I RZHP			0.00100	4442401	0000000	Q1002771	94000414	0.00180
NOX- PERCENT OF EPA	STANDARD	1							119.76
CALCULATED FUEL AIR +	ATIN FRG	M EXHAUST GAS	ANALYSIS						
CAL. FUEL AIR RATIO	LB/LB	0.01550	0.02428	0.04058	0.03592	0.02846	0-02428	0-01574	0-02687 **
DIFF. MEAS & CAL. F/A	A PERCENT	7.62	0.77	0.34	0.29	0.17	0.77	8.72	0.79 TA

n han dan saka katalah sa katalah sa katala kata

· ^ 🕈

and a start of the start of the starting starting
#### TEXACO CONTROLLED COMBUSTION SYSTEM

1

.

1

ſ

. 1

#### CASE 3

DATA SOURCE: Southwest Research Institute (Ref. 5, p. B-12, Table B-16)

ENGINE DESCRIPTION:

Manufacturer: Plymouth (Cricket) Cylinder Arrangement: I-4 Displacement (in<sup>3</sup>): 141 Aspiration: Natural Rated (Maximum) Power: 76 hp at 3000 rpm Fuel: Diesel Fuel

**OPERATING CONDITIONS:** 

	REQUIF	RED	ACTUAL.				
MODE	BHP (%)	rpm	<u>BHP (%)</u>	rpm			
Idle, In and Out	_	600.	-	900.			
Taxi, In and Out	-	1200.	19.	1800.			
Take-Off	100.	100.%	100.	100.%			
Climb	80.	90.%	75.	100.%			
Approach	40.	87.%	50.	100.%			

ASSUMPTIONS:

- Equilibrium values of CO<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>2</sub> used for all modes.
- Fuel hydrogen to carbon ratio assumed to be 2.0.

A-10

## 141 CID PLYMOUTH CRICKET WITH TEXACO CCS (DIESEL FUEL)

te a state and a state of the s

التلديد فتشتش

1 Mar 2 1 Mar 2

PBARUAV		FUEL HYDREGEN-	TAMB	RATED	013	EXHAUST	AVG H2	O IN AIR	
IN HG ABS		CARBUN RATIO	DEG F	HP	INCHARS	C - H FOR		ERCENT	
29.000		2.0000	73.00	76+40	141.00	1.000 1.	.850	0.794	
	UNITS	HODE 1	MODE 2	MODE 3	NODE 4	NODE 5	NODE 6	M00E 7	TOTAL
TIME IN MUDE	MINUTES	1.60	11.00	0.30	5-00	6-00	3.00	1.00	27.30
FUEL FLUm	LB/HR	1.85	8.47	28.84	22.49	16-93	8.47	1.77	21030
AIX FLOW	LB/HR	101-87	314-87	633.72	586-09	549-04	314.67	101 97	
HYDROCARBON CUNC.	PPH-C	2624-00	1184-00	72.00	37-00	52.00	1184.00	1968 00	
UXIDES OF AITRUGEN CO	UNC PPM	73.60	230-00	1140-00	849-00	614-00	230.00	110.00	
LARBEN MENLALDE CUNL	. PERGENT	<b>G</b> 13	0-01	0.01	4.01	0.01	0.01	0 13	
CARBON DIGXIDE CONC.	PERCENT	3.71	5.47	9-10	7.74	6.25	5.47	3.48	
DXYGEN LUNC.	PERCENT	14.90	12-20	6-15	8-60	10.95	12.20	15 20	
PROP. TURCUE	FT-LB		42.30	153.88	100.38	66.94	42.36		
PROP. SPEEC	RPM	960-66	1800-00	3000-00	3000-00	3000.00	1803.00	900.00	
DRY BULD TEMP	DEG P	10-60	11-00	12.00	74-90	74.90	71.00	75.70	
MET BULB LEMP	UEG F	60+00	0 <b>0.</b> 00	6 <b>4</b> -00	60 <b>-</b> 00	60+00	60.00	60.00	
FUEL AIR KATTU	LB/LB	0.01834	0.02/12	0.04589	0.03867	0.03108	0.02712	0.01701	0.02962 TA
FUEL AIR ELUIVALENLE	RATIO	0+27	0-40	0.08	0.57	0.46	0.40	Q. 25	0.44 TA
ENGINE OBSERVED PURE	K H5		14.52	76.48	57.34	38.24	14.52		
DBS BMEP	PSI		45.31	143.19	107.35	71 59	45.31		
OBS BSFC LI	зм/внр-нк		0-583	0.377	0.392	0.443	0.583		
EXHAUST MULE. aT. LI	3/L3-HUL :	28-95	28+94	28+92	28-93	28.94	28.94	28,95	
WET CORRECTION FACTUR	(	0,90483	0.92153	0.89044	0.90919	6.92401	ü.92153	0,91008	
HC ENISSION RATE	LBZHR	U.13044	0.18553	0-02268	0.01080	0.01411	0.18353	0.09770	
HG MASS / MOUL	LB	0.60217	V <b>.</b> 033o5	u-00011	0-00090	0-00141	0+00918	0_00163	0.04905
HC MASS / RATED HP	LB/HP								U.00064
HC - PERCENT OF EPA	STANDARD								· 79
CO EMISSIUN RATE	L B/HK	0.12926	0.01815	0+04684	0.03771	0.03013	0.01015	0-12959	
CO MASS / NUDE	LB	J-00215	0.00333	0.00023	0.00314	0.00301	0.00091	0.00216	0 +94
CO MASS / RATED HP	F9/H5								/ ,020
CO - PERCENT OF EPA	STANDARD								0.47
NOX EMISSION RATE	L B/HR	0.01263	0.11822	1-20141	0.82165	0.55250	0+11822	0.01811	
NUX MASS / MUUE	LB	J-40020	0.02167	0.00601	0.00847	u-05525	0.00591	0.00030	0.15781
NUX MASS / RATED HP	L B/HP								0.00207
NUX- PERCENT UP EPA	STANDARD								137.71
CALCULATED FUEL AIR H	ATIO FRO	M EXHAUST GAS	ANALYSIS	. Note a set of					
CAL. FUEL AIR RATIO	LÜ/LB	0.02045	0.02790	J. J4676	0-03895	0.03129	0+02790	0.01889	0.03027 TA
DIFF. MEAS & CAL. F/d	V PERCENT	11.50	2-65	1.89	0.74	0-69	2.88	11.08	2.21 TA

a strategy and the second

مىلەردۇر يېزىزى 18 مىزورى دىنىشىزى 19

ŧ

## FOUR-STROKE DIESEL CASE 1

DATA SOURCE: Southwest Research Institute (Ref. 10, pp. C-20 and C-25) (Ref. 52)

ł

ENGINE DESCRIPTION:

Manufacturer: International Harvester Company Cylinder Arrangement: I-6 Displacement (in<sup>3</sup>): 407 Aspiration: Natural Rated (Maximum) Power: 112 hp at 2400 rpm

### **OPERATING CONDITIONS:**

	REQUI	RED	ACTUA	
MODE	BHP (%)	rpm	BHP (%)	rpm
Idle, In and Out	-	600.	-	700.
Taxi, In and Out	-	1200.	11.	1800.
Take-Off	100.	100.%	100.	100.%
Climb	80.	90.%	73.	92.%
Approach	40.	87.%	47.	84.%

## ASSUMPTIONS:

None

A-12

#### 407 CID INTERNATIONAL FOUR-STROKE DIESEL

นี่สาวที่และมีคนสาวแล้วแปลแกรมเป็นการแห่งนี้แต่และสารสิตร์และสาวที่ได้เรื่องไม่ได้เห็นได้ "สาวที่สาวต่องไปและกา

والتلافية وا

PBAKLAV		FUEL HYURGEN-	ľ AM B	KATED	C L L	EXHAUST	AV/5 H2	O IN ATR	
IN HG ABS		CARBUN RAILU	DEG F	HP	INCH##3	C - H FURI		FRCENT	
29-200		2.0000	74.ÚU	113.60	407.00	1.000 1.	850	1.161	
	UNITS	1 400E 1	MODE 2	Multi E - S	M(II)F 4	MDDE 6	MODE 4	M/2012 7	TOTAL
TIME IN MUDE	MINUTES	1.66	11-00	14-44	5.00	6 00	2 00		101AL
FUEL FLUM	LOZHH	1.70	9-10	46-60	34.10	22 40	9 10	1.00	21.34
AIR FLGW	LB/HH	282.00	728-00	945-60	892.40	845 00	7040	202 00	
HYERGCARGON CONC.	PPM-C	575.00	525-44	1040-00	000-00	630.00	465 00	202+VU	
OXIDES OF NITROGEN CL	INC PPR	116.60	177-00	1440-00	1154-00	538-00	177 00	212.00	
CARBON MENLATUR LUNC.	PERCENT	0.03	4-44	0-22	0_07	0.04	0.04	0.02	
LARDON LIUXIDE CONC.	PERCENT	1.41	2.51	8.7.	7-62	5-40	2.51	1 41	
UXYGEN CUNL.	PERCENT	18.30	17-50	0.30	9-10	12.50	17.50	19 30	
PROP. TORQUE	FT-LB		35.01	237.39	189.07	131.30	35.01	10+30	
PROP. SPEED	КРИ	700.00	1800.00	2500.00	2300-00	2100.00	1800-00	700.00	
DRY EULB TEMP	UEG F	74.00	74.00	74-40	75.00	15-00	74-00	74.00	
WET BULS TEMP	DEG F	65.00	65+00	65+00	67.00	67.00	65.00	65+00	
INDUCTION AIR TEMP	UEG F	74.00	74.00	74.00	75.00	75.0	74.00	74.00	
FUEL AIR KATLU	LB/LB	0.00610	0-01264	0.04986	<b>0.03870</b>	0.02684	0.01264	0.00610	0.02046 TA
FUEL AIR EQUIVALENCE	KATIU	0.65	0+19	Ú.74	U-57	0.40	0.19	0.09	0.30 TA
ENGINE UBSERVED PUWER	нР		12.00	113.00	d2+8U	52.50	12.00		
DBS BNEP	PS1		12.97	87.96	70.05	48.65	12.97		
DES BSEL LO	м/внр—нк		0.750	0.412	J.412	0.427	0.758		
EXHAUST HULLS HT. LB	/LB-MLLE	28.96	23.96	28.92	26.93	28.94	28.96	28.96	
MET CORRECTION FACTOR		0.67436	0.90516	0.92018	0.91042	0.92337	0.96516	0.87436	
HE ERISSION RATE	LBZHR	0.07815	L.19603	0.49474	0.29313	u.26197	0.19603	0.07815	
HC MASS / NUUE	Lø	0.00130	0.03594	0+00247	0.02443	0.02620	0.00380	0-00130	0-10144
HE MASS Z RATED PP	LB/HP								0.00090
HC - PERCENT OF CPA	STANDARD								47.25
CO EMISSION KATE	LB/HK	0.08598	0.26454	2-09646	0.63121	0-32151	0.20454	0.08698	_
CO MASS Z MODE	LB.	0.00145	0.04850	0-01048	0.05260	u=03215	0.01323	0+00145	0.15986
CL MASS / MATER HP	LB/HP								0.00141
LE - PERCENT OF CPA	STANDARD								3.37
NUX EMISSION KATE	LB/HR	J.J5228	6.20730	2.27151	1.69955	0.74183	0.20730	0.05228	
NOX MASS / MODE	LB	3.00057	0.03801	0.01136	0.14163	<b>U_U7418</b>	0.01037	0.00087	0.27728
NOX MASS / RATEU HP NOX- PERCENT OF EPA	LUJHP STANDARD								0.00245 163.59
CALCULATED FUEL AIN R	ATLU FRU	4 EXHAUST GAS A	MALYSIS						
CAL. FUEL AIK RATIG	LB/LB	0-00751	0.01243	0.04707	0.03833	0.02713	0.01243	0.00751	0.02043 TA
DIFE. MEAS & CAL. F/A	PERCENT	23.29	-1-63	-5.60	-0.97	1.09	÷i+63	23.29	-0-18 TA

and the second second second

ţ

+28× C

f

فالمتعاد التعمير الدينية المتدا

## FOUR-STROKE DIESEL CASE 2

DATA SOURCE: Southwest Research Institute (Ref. 10, pp. C-48 and C-55) (Ref. 52)

į

Ì

ł

ENGINE DESCRIPTION:

Manufacturer: Perkins Engines, Incorporated Cylinder Arrangement: I-4 Displacement (in<sup>3</sup>): 236 Aspiration: Natural Rated (Maximum) Power: 76 hp at 2500 rpm

**OPERATING CONDITIONS:** 

	REQUI	RED	ACTUAL				
MODE	BHP (%)	rpm	BHP (%)	rpm			
Idle, In and Out	-	600.	-	600.			
Taxi, In and Out	-	1200.	9.	1450.			
Take-Off	100.	100.%	100.	100.%			
Climb	80.	90.%	67.	88.%			
Approach	40.	87.%	45.	88.%			

ASSUMPTIONS:

- Airflow for climb and approach modes determined as function of rpm.
- Equilibrium values of 02 used for all modes.

A-14

236 CID PERKINS FOUR-STROKE DIESEL

PBARLAV In Hg Ars		FUEL HYDROGEN-	TAMB DEG E	RATED	CID Inchars	EXHAUST	AVG H2	O IN AIR	
29.300		2.0000	72.30	75.60	236.00	1.000 1	.850	1,161	
	UNITS	NODE 1	HODE 2	NODE 3	NODE 4	NGDE 5	MODE 6	NODE 7	TOTAL
TIME IN MUDE	MINUTES	1.60	11.00	0.30	5.00	6.00	3.00	1.00	27.30
FUEL FLOW	LB/HR	0.70	4.20	30.20	18.60	12.80	4.20	0.70	
AIR FLOW	L B/HK	157.00	385.00	580.00	522.00	522.00	385.00	157.00	
HYDROCARBON CONC.	PPH-C	280.00	194.00	38.00	180.00	210.00	194.00	280.00	
UXIDES OF AITROGEN C	GNC PPH	74.00	177.00	1793.00	1618.00	814.00	177.00	74.00	
CARBON MONGXIDE CONC	. PERCENT	0-02	0-03	0.34	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.02	
CARBON DIOXIDE CONC.	PERCENT	1.18	2.10	9.99	7.51	5.21	2.10	1.18	
DXYGEN CONC.	PERCENT	19-20	17.20	4.56	9.54	13.01	17.20	19.20	
PRCP. TURLUE	FT-LB	•	24.99	165.44	127.30	85.28	24.99		
PROP. SPEED	RPN	600.00	1450.00	2400-00	2100-00	2100.00	1450.00	600.00	
DAY BULG TEMP	DEG F	75.00	75.00	75.00	73.00	73.00	75.00	75.00	
WET BULL TEMP	UEG F	67.00	67.00	67.00	65.00	65.00	67.00	67.00	
INDUCTION AIR TEMP	UEG F	75.00	75.00	75.00	73.00	73.00	75.00	75.00	
FUEL AIR RATIO	L8/L8	0.00451	0.01104	0.05271	0.03604	0.02480	0.01104	0.00451	0.01862 TA
FUEL AIR EQUIVALENCE	RATIO	0.07	0.16	0.78	0.53	0.37	0.16	0.07	0.28 TA
ENGINE LOSERVED POWE	R HP		6.90	75.60	50.90	34.10	6.90		
UBS BMEP	PSI		15.97	105.71	81.34	54.49	15.97		
OBS BSFC L	BM/BHP-HR		0.609	ü.399	0.365	0.375	0.609		
EXHAUST MULL. WT. L	8/L8-NOLE	28.56	28.96	28+92	28.93	28.94	28.96	28.96	
WET CORRECTION FACTO	R	0.83060	0.97354	0.87977	0.89975	0.91705	0.97354	0.83060	
HC EMISSION RATE	LBZHR	0.02115	0.03618	0.01113	0.04666	0.05384	0.03618	9:02115	
HC MASS / NODE	LB	0-00035	0.00663	0.00006	0.00389	0.00538	0.00181	0.00035	0.01847
HC MASS / BATED HP	LB/HP								0.00024
HC - PERCENT UF EPA	STANDARD								12.86
CO EMISSION RATE	L BZHK	0.02791	0.10090	1.98881	0.06542	0+10972	0.10090	0.02791	
CO MASS / MODE	LB	0-00047	0.01850	0.00994	0.00545	0.01097	0.00504	0-00047	0.05084
CO MASS / RATED HP	LB/HP								0.00057
CO - PERCENT OF EPA	STANDARD								1.60
NOA EMISSION RATE	L B/HR	0.01854	0.10945	1.74064	1.39085	0-69197	0.10945	0.01854	
NOX MASS / MODE	LB	0.00031	0.02007	0.00870	0.11590	0-06920	0.00547	0.00031	0.21996
NOX MASS / RATED HP	LB/HP								0.00291
NOX- PERCENT OF EPA	STANDARD								193.97
CALCULATED FUEL AIR	RATIO FRO	M EXHAUST GAS	ANALYSIS						
CAL. FUEL AIR RATIO	LB/LB	0.00598	0.01071	0.05305	0.03682	0.02562	0.01071	0.00598	0.01889 TA
DIFF. HEAS & CAL. F/	A PERCENT	32.56	-3-01	0.64	2.17	3.31	-3.01	32.56	1.42 14

ţ

14.4

يحرجه البوخجيت بتوريعوهبه وودائم

.

## FOUR-STROKE DIESEL CASE 3

DATA SOURCE: Southwest Research Institute (Ref. 5, p. B-2, Table B-3)

ENGINE DESCRIPTION:

Manufacturer: Nissan Motors - Datsun Cylinder Arrangement: I-4 Displacement (in<sup>3</sup>): 132 Aspiration: Natural Rated (Maximum) Power: 70 hp at 4000 rpm

**OPERATING CONDITIONS:** 

	REQUI	RED	ACTUA	L
MODE	BHP (%)	rpm	BHP (%)	rpm
Idle, In and Out	-	600.	-	1150.
Taxi, In and Out	-	1200.	-	1150.
Take-Off	100.	100.%	100.	100.%
Climb	80.	90.%	75.	100.%
Approach	40.	87.3	50.	100.%

**ASSUMPTIONS:** 

- Equilibrium values of CO2 and  $O_2$  used for all modes.
- Fuel hydrogen to carbon ratio assumed to be 2.0.

A-16

#### 132 CID DATSUN FOUR-STROKE DIESEL

PBARUAV		FUEL HYDROGEN-	TAMB	RATED	CID	EXHAUST	AVG H2	O IN AIR	
IN HG ABS		CARBON RATIO	DEG	HP	INCH**3	C - H FOR	IULA P	ERCENT	
14.700		2.0006	80.00	70.00	132.40	1.000 1.	850	0.621	
	UNITS	MODE 1	MODE 2	NODE 3	NODE 4	MODE 5	MODE 6	MODE 7	TOTAL
TINE IN MUDE 1	<b>INUTES</b>	1.60	11.00	0.30	5.00	6.00	3.00	1.00	27-30
FUEL FLOW	LB/HR	1.72	1.72	32.55	27-25	21.70	1.85	1.85	41434
AIR FLOW	L8/HR	153.47	153.47	537.14	522.59	534 . 49	154.79	154.79	
HYDROCARBON CONC. P	PH-C	24.60	24.00	160.00	128.00	80.00	48.00	48.00	
OXIDES OF NITROGEN CONC	P PM	98.CO	98_00	441.00	488.00	437.00	78.00	78.00	
CARBUN MUNUXIDE CONC. P	PERCENT	0.01	0.01	0.20	0.05	0.03	0.02	0.02	
CARBON DIDXIDE CONC. P	PERCENT	2.30	2.30	11-90	10.35	8.18	2.46	2.46	
DXYGEN CONC. P	PERCENT	17.10	17.10	1.65	4.30	7.95	16-90	16.90	
PROP. TORGUE	FT-LB			91.96	69-01	45.98			
PROP. SPEŁU	RPH	1150.00	1150.00	4000-00	4000-00	4000.00	1150.00	1150.00	
DRY BULB TEMP	UEG F	40.50	80.50	79.10	79+10	79.10	80.30	80.30	
WER BULB TEMP	DEG F	60-0 <u>0</u>	60.00	60.00	60 <u>-</u> 00	60.00	60.00	60.00	
FUEL ALR RATIO	LANA	111128	0.0E12a	0-06100	0.05249	0-04087	0.01203	0-01203	0.02500 14
SUEL ATE FOUTVALENCE RA		0.17	0.17	0.90	0-78	100+000 10-60	0.18	0.18	0.38 14
ANGINE ORSEDVEL DOWER	но но			70-04	52.56	35-02	V+ 10	V+ L0	0430 14
CAS RALD	129			104.74	78.60	52-37			
	AHP-HR			0.465	0.518	0-620			
EVENAUST MOLE WT. 1674	Hand Mills In	28-96	28.96	28.91	28.92	28.02	28. 94	28 06	
WET CODULCTION EACTON	.0-11066	A. 94143	1.06163	1.96024	0 99111	A 00502	A 06997	0.05007	
MC EMISSION WATE	1 8 / 49	4.00179	0.00174	0.06374	0.03377	0 02126	0.00360	0.00360	
HE ENISSION RATE	I B	0.00013	0.000133	0.00022	0 00281	0.002134	0.00019	0.00006	0.00574
HE MASS / HUDE H/ Mice / Dister Ed	13740	0200003	0.00000	0,00022	0.00201	0400413	0200010	0.00000	0.00000
HE HADD / BALES IF	1020F								4 23
CO EMISSION PATE	L H /HD	0.01467	0.01907	1.09052	0.28918	0.15294	0.02288	0.02289	4.33
CU MASS / NODE	1.8	0.00032	0-00350	0.00545	0.02410	0.01520	0 00116	0.02200	0 05010
TO MASS / BATED AD	LBZHD	0100001	v: 30370	0000342	0.01110	V4V1767	0.00114	0200030	0.00072
TO - DEPIENT OF EDA ST	ANDARO								3 71
MAY ENICSICK DATE	I R /HH	0.02416	0.02416	0 40000	0 47488	0 34666	0 01941	0 01053	7447
MUN CREDIEN NAIC	18	0.0040	0.00443	0.00200	0 02557	0.02946	0.04741	0 00022	0 00225
NON MASS / PADE	18/40	0100010	0.00113	0000200	0.000000	0203003	0.00071	0.00032	0.00233
NOX- PERCENT OF EPA ST	ANGARD								78.43
GALGULATED FUEL /IR RAT	10 FR0	H EXHAUST GAS A	ANALYSIS						
CAL. FUEL AIR HAIID	LB/LB	0-01144	0.01144	0+06265	0.05328	0.04125	0-01223	0-01223	0.02633 TA
DIFF. MEAS & CAL. F/A P	ERCENT	1.47	1.47	2.70	1.50	0.92	1.72	1.72	1.34 TA

.

#### TWO-STROKE DIESEL

DATA SOURCE: McCulloch Corporation (Ref. 53)

ENGINE DESCRIPTION:

Manufacturer: McCulloch Corporation Cylinder Arrangement: Radial-4 Displacement (in<sup>3</sup>): 180 Aspiration: Turbocharged Rated (Maximum) Power: 116 hp at 2500 rpm

**OPERATING CONDITIONS:** 

	REQUI	RED	ACTUA	L
MODE	BHP (%)	rpm	BHP (%)	rpm
Idle, In and Out	-	600.	1.	770.
Taxi, In and Out	-	1200.	6.	1800.
Take-Off	100.	100.%	100.	100.%
Climb	80.	90.%	75.	100.%
Approach	40.	87.%	44.	72.%

ASSUMPTIONS:

- Engine rated at 180 hp at 2500 rpm but emissions data taken only up to 116 hp at 2500 rpm; assumed 116 hp at 2500 rpm as 100% BHP/100% rpm take-off mode.
- Equilibrium value of 02 used for all modes.

A-18

180 CID MC CULLOCH TWO-STROKE DIESEL

РВАКО In Hg Abs <b>30-</b> 050	TDRY Deg F 72.00	T#67 DEG F 50.00	FUEL HYDROGEN- Canson Ratic 1.0000	ТАМЫ ЙЕС Н 72.00	Катер НР 110,00	015 INCH*#3 185.00	ЕХНАЦЫ С — М Бокм 1.000 — 1.	Г Н2С ЛИСА РЕ 1850 d	1н Аік Ксерт 9 <b>70</b> 0	
		ULITS	HEDE 1	HCDE 2	ALUE 3	MODE 4	Aube 5	MUDE 6	MUDE 7	TOTAL
TIME IN MO	DE	MINUTES	5 L. CC	11.00	u.30	5.00	5.VO	3.00	1.00	27.30
FUEL FLOW		EB/HR	2=61	8.u7	55.20	40-40	28.30	3,07	6- UL	
AIR FLOW		Lu/HF	145.00	430.00	2250-30	1703.00	1006.00	430.00	143.00	
HY DROCAR BU	N CUNC.	PP M-C V	42.00	3360.00	700.00	8 <b>40.,UJ</b>	1000.00	3300.00	42.00	
OX LUES OF	NITRÜGEN C	ONE PPM .	86+00	55 <b>.UU</b>	220.00	209.00	179.00	65.00	ao. 00	
CARBON MUN	GXIDE LUNC	<ul> <li>PERCEAL</li> </ul>	0-03	0.15	Ų <b>_U</b> o	0.03	9.35	0.15	U. U3	
CARBON DIO	XIDE CONC.	PERCENT	3.80	3.50	5.00	4-10	5.69	3.90	يان د ف	
OXYGEN CON	С.	PERCENT	15.60	15.00	13+0U	14.43	12.30	15.00	15.80	
PROP. TUR	<b>UUE</b>	FT-LB	6.CO	19.00	-44+00	133.00	150.00	19.00	6.00	
PRÓP. SPE	6D	KPM	770.00	1900-10	<b>2</b> 50∂+30	2500.00	1900.00	1800.00	770+00	
COM THE AL	0 7640	05. 6	70.00	<b>1</b> 0	71.00	15 40	70.00			
INCLUCTION	N 460F	DEG F	72.00	72.00	72.00	12.00	12.00	12.00	12.00	
INDUCTION	AIR ICMP		12.00	12.00	12.00	12.00	12.00	12.00	72.00	
FUEL AIR K	ATIL	LB/LB	J. 01813	0-01-90	0.02464	0.02308	6.02333	0.01300	0.01013	0.07174 TA
FUEL AIR E	OUIVALENCE	RATIO	0.26	0.27	0.50	0.33	<b>U_41</b>	0.27	U-Zu	0.32 TA
ENGINE UBS	ERVED PUWE	R нР	0.88	6.51	110-15	47.11	51.41	14.51	U. i. 5	
LOS BREP		PSL	2.51	7.96	102.21	76.00	02.83	7.96	2.51	
085 8SFC	L	oM∕oHP-HR	2.927	1-239	u.475	J=464	0.550	1-239	2.907	
EXHAUST MU	LE. WT. L	S/LO-MOLE	28.95	28.95	20.94	26.95	20.94	20.95	20.93	
WEE CURREC	TIUN FACTU	P	0.95967	0.91 200	しょうりじょう	J-95574	0.93133	0.91903	0.95967	
HC EMISSIO	N RATE	L3/d8	0.00297	0.70245	U-06415	0-/3131	0.82114	u 7u545	U-00297	
HC MASS /	MGDE	La	0.00005	0.12535	0.00432	0.10394	11/2014	J-13527	4-04405	0-31208
HC HASS /	KATED HP	LB/HP					****			0-00269
HC - PERC	ENT OF EPA	STANDARD								141.60
CO EMISSIO	N RATE	LitZdR	0.04112	0-58-21	1-21542	050036	3-35-01	11. 50427	0.0411	1,14400
CU MASS /	ADDE	LB	0.00069	0-10712	0.00000	0.04170	0.33580	0-07971	0.00054	0. 52158
CO MASS /	RATED HP	LA AIP					0000000	0102/21		0.00450
CO - PERC	ENT OF HPA	STANUARO								10.71
NUX ENISST	ON RATE	LBZHP	0-02017	0.04525	0.50821	0.59508	1. 244.22	0.04626	a aya <b>t</b> 7	10011
NOX MASS /	1006	Lis Lis	U_00034	6. 00 5.50	0.00021	9-9-00	1.67943	0.007225	0.02017	0. 00463
NOX MASS /	RATED HP	16/40			VECUTUT	0 0 0 T / JL	0102343	0.00250	0100034	C. 00082
NOX- PERC	ENT OF EPA	STANDARD								54.38
CALCULATED	FUEL AIR	RATIU FRE	И EXHAUST GAS	ANALYSIS						
CAL. FUEL	AIR RATIG	LB/LB	0.01800	0.02069	0.02441	0.02272	0.02597	0.02069	0.01800	0-02272 14
DIFF. MEAS	& CAL. H/	A PERCENT	-6-70	9.45	-0-95	-1.55	- 26	9.45	-0.70	4.51 TA

ORTOINAL PAGE IS

\$

ţ

ŝ

## THERMAL FUEL VAPORIZATION CASE 1

#### DATA SOURCE: Ethyl Corporation (Ref. 51)

#### ENGINE DESCRIPTION:

Manufacturer: Chevrolet Cylinder Arrangement: V-8 Displacement (in<sup>3</sup>): 350 Aspiration: Natural Rated (Maximum) Power: 176 hp at 3600 rpm - standard induction system 183 hp at 3600 rpm - Ethyl TFS

**OPERATING CONDITIONS:** 

	REQU	I RE D	ACTI	JAL
MODE	BHP (%)	rpm	BHP (%)	rpm
Idle, In and Out	-	600.	2.	600.
Taxi, In and Out	-	1200.	3.	1200.
Take-Off	100.	100.%	100.	100.%
Climb	80.	90.%	80.	90.%
Approach	40.	87.%	40.	78.%

ASSUMPTIONS:

- NOx emission data not provided for take-off mode used approach mode value.
- No data provided for climb mode used take-off mode emission data and fuel-air ratio. Calculated climb mode air and fuel flows based on engine horsepower.

A-20

Engine Description: 1975 Chevrolet - 8.5 C.R. - Standard 4-Barrei Induction System Engine Displacement: 350 CID Engine Rated Brake H.P.: Fuel Hydrogen-Carbon Ratio: 1.855 - Indolene + 3 gn/gal TEL

<b></b>	ENGINE CO	NDITIONS RED		DATA REQUIRED									ACT CO	ACTUAL ENGINE CONDITIONS			
HODE Name	ENGINE BRAKE HORSEPOWER (%)	ENGINE SPEED	FUEL FLOW (1b/hr)	AIR FLOW (1b/hr)	MASS FUEL- AIR RATIO	INDUCTI TEMPERATURE (°F)	ON AIR UPS PRESSURE (in. Hg abs)	TREAM SPECIFIC HUMIDITY (grains/ ib)	HC (ppm)	110x (ppm)	co (`.)	002 (``)	02 (2)	MANIFOLD PRESSURE (in. Hg abs)	ENGINE TORQUE (ft/1b)	ENGINE SPEED (rpm)	INDICATED H.P. OR FRICTIONAL H.P.
Idle	-	600 rpm	5.0	(	17.11	97	29.46	48	299	50	0.09	12.80	3.60	15.1	29.7	596	
Taxi	-	1200 rpm	7.6	-	17.63	103	29.33	62	228	85	0.12	12.10	4.05	10.8	24.0	1204	
Take-Off	100	100%	98.4		12.46	94	29.22	80	396	- 1	5.35	11.85	0.18	27.8	257.1	3600	
C)1mb	80	90% of Max.	1	· · ·	<u> </u>	·		1		1							
Approach	50	77% of Max.	38.0		15.89	105	29.34	58	164	2525	0.28	13.50	2.15	18.4	137.6	2800	

- 101	
- 410 (	

HC	-	Total hydrocarbons in ppm Cx Hy by volume	- Undiluted	(or) gm/hr of Cx Hy	(define x and y) x	(= 6
NOx	-	Total oxides of nitrogen in ppm by volume	- Undiluted	[ [or] gm/hr of NUX ]	(define x)	K = 1
C0	-	Carbon monoxide in ppm or % by volume	- Undiluted	(or) gm/hr of CO		
C02	-	Carbon dioxide in ppm or % by volume	- Undiluted	(or)gm/hrofCO2		
02	-	Oxygen in ppm or % by volume	- Undi luted	(or) gm/hr of O <sub>2</sub>		

350 CID CHEVROLET WITH STANDARD INTAKE MANIFOLD

PBARO TURY	TWET	FUEL HYDRUGEN-	TAMB	KATED	CID	EXHAU	5)° H2	D IN AIR	
10 HG ABS DEG F 29.300 100.00	026 F 70-20	1.8550	DEG F 100-00	нр 176.20	1NCH##3 350.00	L-HFU	RMULA 1-850	0.890	
	UNITS	MUDE 1	MODE 2	MODE 3	MODE 4	MODE 5	NODE 6	NODE 7	TOTAL
TIME IN AUCE	MINUTES	1.60	11.00	0.30	5.00	6.00	3+00	1.00	27-30
FUEL FLOW	LBZHR	5.40	7.00	98.40	81.96	38.00	7.60	5,00	
AIR FLOW	L8/HR	85-55	133.99	1226-06	1021.00	603.82	133.99	85,55	
HYUROCARBON CONC.	PPH-C	1794.00	1368.00	2376.00	2376.00	984.00	1368.00	1794.00	
GXIDES OF NITRUGEN C	GRC PPM	50.00	85+00	2525.00	2525-00	2525.00	85.00	50.00	
CARBON MONGXIDE CUNC	. PERCENT	6.69	0.12	5-35	5.35	0.28	0-12	0.09	
CARBEN UIDXIDE CONC.	PERCENT	12.80	12.10	11.85	11.85	13.50	12.10	12-80	
OXYGEN CUNC.	PERCENT	3.60	4.05	0.18	0-18	2-15	4.05	3.60	
PRUP. TURGUE	FI-LB	2547.0	24.00	257.10	228.53	137.00	24-00	29.70	
PROP. SPEED	8P H	596.66	1204-00	3600.00	3240.00	2800.00	1204.00	596.00	
MFLU PRESSURE IN H	G ABS UKY	15.10	19-80	27.80	27.80	18.40	10.80	15-10	
INDUCTION AIR TEMP	UEG F	100.00	10 <b>0-</b> 00	100.00	100-04	100.00	100.00	íuo. 00	
FUEL AIR KATTU	LB/LB	0.05857	v.05723	0.08098	0-08099	0.06350	0.05723	0-05897	0-06335 TA
FUEL AIR EQUIVALENCE	KATIU	0.86	0.83	1.15	1-18	0.93	0.83	0.86	0.92 TA
ENGINE COSERVED PORE	к нр	J.37	5.50	176.23	140.98	73.36	5.50	3.37	
UBS BMEP	PSI	12.80	10.34	110.77	90+46	59.29	10.34	12.80	
085 8SFC L	BHJSHP-HK	1.484	1.381	0.558	0.581	0.518	1.381	1.484	
EXHAUST MULE- HT. L	B/LB-NLLE	28.91	28.92	27.92	27.92	28.91	28.92	28.91	
WET CURRECTION FACTO	R	0.88391	0.88957	0.06911	U.86919	0.88059	0.88957	0.88391	
HC EMISSION RATE	L B/HR	U, 1689Û	0.08268	1.35925	1.13208	0.26691	0-08268	0.06890	
HC MASS / NOUE	LB	0.00115	0-01516	0.00680	0-09434	0.02669	0-00413	0.00115	0.14942
HC HASS / BATED HP	L B/HP STANDARD								0.00085
CU ENISSION KATE	L B/HK	0-06978	0.14641	61.78564	51.46022	1.53327	0-14641	0-06979	TTOJ
CO MASS / MODE	LB	0.00110	0.02684	0.30893	4.28835	0.15333	0.00732	0.00114	4-78710
CO MASS / KATEN NP	LBJHP								0.02717
LO - PERLENT OF EPA	STANDARD								64-69
NUX EMISSION RATE	L & ZHR	0UU6.⊳7	0.01703	4.78986	3.98933	2.27112	0.01703	0-00637	01407
NUX MASS / HUDE	E.43	0-00011	0-00312	0-02395	0-33244	0-22711	0.00085	0-00011	0.58769
NUX MASS / RATED HP	LB/HP							~~~~~	0.00334
NOX- PENCENT OF EPA	STANDARU								222.36
CALCULATED FUEL AIR	RATIO FRUI	I EXHAUST GAS A	NALYSIS			_			
CAL. FUEL AIR RATIO	LB/L3	N-U2862	0.05682	0.08051	0.08051	0-06300	0.05682	0.05862	0.06291 TA
DIFF. MEAS & CAL. F/	A PERCENT	-0.59	-0.72	-0.58	-0.60	-0.78	-0.72	-0.59	-0.69 FA

*.* 

₽÷.

-22

анан Американ

2

2

n and a second n i fi

- 1

• ,

Engine Description: 1975 Chevrolet - 8.5 C.R. - TFM with 4-Barrel Carburetor Engine Displacement: 350 CID

Engine Rated Brake H.P.:

Fuel Hydrogen-Carbon Ratio: 1.967 - Indolene + 3 gm/gal TEL

	ENGINE CONDITIONS REQUIRED			DATA REQUIRED											ACTUAL ENGINE CONDITIONS		
MO DE Name	ENGINE BRAKE HORSEPOWER (%)	ENGINE SPEED	FUEL FLOW (1b/hr)	AIR FLOW ( ()b/hr)	MASS R FUEL- AIR RATIO	INDUCTIC TEMPERATURE (°F)	DN AIR UPS PRESSURE (in. Hg abs)	TREAM SPECIFIC HUMICITY (grains/ 1b)	HC (ppm)	NOx (ppm)	co ()	002 (* }	0 <sub>2</sub> (`.)	MANIFOLD PRESSURE (in. Hg abs)	ENGINE TORQUE (ft/1b)	ENGINE SPEED (rpm)	INDICATED H.P. OR FRICTIONAL H.P.
Idle	-	600 rpm	5.1		17.26	96	29,18	37	228	60	0.10	12.50	3.50	14.7	29.8	602	
Taxi	-	1200 rpm	7.7		17.62	94	29.18	21	141	83	0.11	12.25	4.00	10.7	24.3	1202	
Take-Off	100	10.0%	96.5		12.26	98	28.98	28	275	-	5.9	11.60	0.10	27.9	266.2	3603	
Cl imb	90	90% of Max.															
Approach	50	77% of Max.	36.8		16.06	104	29.60	14	77	2800	0.13	13.40	2.00	18.8	137.3	2800	

(define x and y) x = 6 (define x) x = 1

ł

NOTES:				
HC	-	Total hydrocarbons in com Cx Hy by volume	- Undiluted	(or) gm/br of Cx Hy
NGx	-	Total oxides of nitrogen in ppm by volume	- Undiluted	(or) gm/hr of NOx
ά	-	Carbon monoxide in ppm or % by volume	<ul> <li>Undiluted</li> </ul>	(or) gm/hr of CO
CO2	-	Carbon dioxide in ppm or % by volume	- Undiluted	(or) gm/hr of CO2
02	-	Oxygen in ppm or % by volume	<ul> <li>Undiluted</li> </ul>	(or) gm/hr of O <sub>2</sub>

A-23

#### 350 CID CHEVROLET WITH ETHYL TURBULENT FLOW MANIFOLD

PBARL	TURY	THE T	FUEL HYDRUGEN-	TAMB	RATED	C 10-	EXHAUS	ыт. н20	IN AIR	
IN HE ABS	DEG F	UEG F	CARBUN RATIU	DEG F	HP	INCH##3	C - H FOR	RHULA P	ERCENT	
29.200	98 <b>.</b> Dù	o2.00	1-9670	98.00	182.60	350-00	1.000	.850	0.365	
		UNITS	S NODE 1	NUDE 2	MODE 3	NUDE 4	MODE 5	MODE 6	NODE 7	TOTAL
TIME IN MO	UE	MINUTES	1.00	11-00	0.30	5.00	6.00	3.00	1_00	27-30
FUEL FLOW		L8/H	i 5.10	7.10	96.50	80.85	36.80	7. 70	5.10	2.100
AIR FLUM		L B/HF	88.03	135.67	1183.09	991.00	591.01	135-67	88.93	
HYDROCAROU	IN CUNC.	PPM-C	1308.00	846.00	1650.00	1050-00	462.00	846.00	1368.00	
UXIVES UP	NITROGEN C	UNC PPH	60-60	83.00	2800.00	2800.00	2800-00	83.00	60-00	
CARBON MON	DAIVE CUNC	. PERCENT	i <u>u.10</u>	0.11	5.90	5.90	0.13	0.11	0.10	
CARBON DIG	IXIDE CONC.	PERCENT	۲ 12 <b>-</b> 50	12.25	11-60	11.60	13-40	12.25	12.50	
UXYGEN CLIN	16.	PERCENT	I 3.50	4-00	0.10	0.10	2.00	4.00	3.50	
PRUP. TOR	lule'	FT-LE	29.80	24.30	266-20	236.62	137.30	24.30	29.80	
PROP. SPE	EQ.	<b>RP</b> E	602.00	1202.00	3603-00	3242.70	2800-00	1202.00	602.00	
NFLU PRESS	white the H	G ABS UR1	1 14.70	10.70	27.90	27.90	14-80	10.70	14.70	
induct ion	AIR TEMP	DEG F	98.00	98+09	98-00	98-00	98.00	98.00	98.00	
	A710	16218	0.05815	0-05096	0-08186	0.09188	11.116.249	0_066.06	0.06916	0 04210 74
FILE ALK F	GUT VAL ENCE	HAT10	Ú-86	0-84	1.21	1.21	0.92	(1. 84	0.86	0 02 TA
FNGINE UBS	LAVEN PUBL	к нр	3.42	5-50	182.62	146-09	73.20	5. 56	3.42	U+73 IA
ORS HMEP	20100 1000	PSI	12.84	10.47	114-69	101.95	59.16	10.47	12.94	
OBS BSEC	1.	84/842-44	1-493	1.385	0.528	4.553	0.503	1.195	1.493	
EXHAUST NO	LEANTA LI	HILH-MOLE	28-91	28.91	27.78	27.78	28,91	28.91	28.91	
HET CORREC	TION FACTOR	R	0.88612	0.89110	0.87178	0.87186	0.88202	0.89110	0.88612	
HE FRISSIN	N RVIL		0.05617	0-05186	0.91919	0.77007	0.12278	0 05194	0.05417	
HC MASS /	NGOL	1.6	0.06090	0.00951	0.00460	0.06417	0.01228	0 00259	0.00040	0 00405
HC MASS /	BATED HP ENT OF EPA	LB/HP STANDARD					0101110	0.00237	0.00070	0.00052 27.37
GO EMASSAU	N RATE	LBZHR	4.07994	0-13614	66.35297	55.58820	0.69745	0-13614	9-07994	*****
CU HASS /	HUJE	LB	0-00133	0.02496	0.33176	4.63235	0.06975	0.00681	0.00133	5.06829
CO MASS /	RATED HP	LB/HP								0.02776
CO - PERL	ENT UF EPA	STANUARD								66.09
NUK ENISSI	IN KATE	LBZHK	0.00788	0-01687	5.17234	4-33320	2-46745	0-01687	D. 00788	
NOX MASS /	MOUE	LB	0.00013	0-00309	0.02586	0.36110	0.24675	0-00384	0-00013	0.63791
NUX MASS /	RATED HP	LBZHP	•••••							0.00349
NUA- PERC	ENI UF EPA	STANDARD								232.90
CALCULATED	FUEL AIR I	KATIG FRO	H FXHAUST GAS	NALYSIS	_	_				
CAL. PUEL	AIR RATIO	L B/LB	0-05806	0_05638	0.08076	0.08076	0.06225	0.05638	0.05806	0.06253 TA
DIFF. HEAS	E CAL. F/I	A PERCENT	-0.15	-1-02	-1.35	-1.37	-0.39	-1+02	-0.15	-0.91 TA

Construction of the second statement of the second statement of the second second second second second second s

and in section work in the second state in the international terror and a second state in the second state in t

3 1

w - - - - -

1. ....

a 1

\* •

÷.

1

\*

. .

• • • •

#### THERMAL FUEL VAPORIZATION

#### CASE 2

#### DATA SOURCE: Ethyl Corporation (Ref. 51)

#### **ENGINE DESCRIPTION:**

ł

Manufacturer: BMW Cylinder Arrangement: I-4 Displacement (in<sup>3</sup>): 121.3 Aspiration: Natural Rated (Maximum) Power: 100 hp at 5200 rpm - Standard induction system 103 hp at 5200 rpm - Ethyl TFS

**OPERATING CONDITIONS:** 

	REQU	IRED	ACTUAL			
MODE	BHP (%)	rpm	BHP (%)	rpm		
Idle, In and Out	-	600.	1.	950.		
Taxi, In and Out	-	1200.	6.	1600.		
Take-Off	100.	100.%	100.	100.%		
Climb	80.	90.%	80.	90.%		
Approach	40.	87.%	31.	69.%		

#### ASSUMPTIONS:

- NOx emission data not provided for take-off mode used approach mode value.
- No emission data provided for climb mode used take-off mode data and fuel-air ratio. Calculated climb mode air and fuel flows based on engine horsepower.

Engine Description: 1973 BMW 4-Cylinder - 9.0 C.R. - Production Intake System with Staged 2-Barrel Carburetor Engine Displacement: 121.3 CID (1988 CC) Engine Rated Brake H.P.:

Fuel Hydrogen-Carbon Ratio: 1.855 - Indolene + 3 gm/gal TEL

	ENGINE CONDITIONS REQUIRED			DATA REQUIRED											ACTUAL ENGINE CONDITIONS		
MO DE NAME	ENGINE BRAKE HORSEPOWER (%)	ENGINE SPEED	FUEL FLOW (16/hr)	AIR 0 FLOW (15/hr)	MASS R FUEL- AIR RATIO	TEMPERATURE (°F)	ON AIR UPS PRESSURE (in. Hg abs)	TREAM SPECTFIC HUMIDITY (grains/ 1b)	HC (ppm)	NOx (ppm)	CO {'}}	C02 ()	0 <sub>2</sub> (*)	MANIFOLD PRESSURE (in. Hg abs)	ENGINE TORQUE (ft/1b)	ENGINE SPEED (rpm)	INDICATED H.P. OR FRICTIONAL H.P.
Idle	-	600 rpm	2.5		13.98	89	29.17	38	561	90	2.00	13.65	0.70	10,17	2.5	950	
Taxi	-	1200 rpm	5.0		13.35	89	29.17	38	604	245	2.90	13.90	0.30	11.17	18.0	1600	
Take-Off	100	100%	49.2		12.93	92	28.81	46	407	-	4.05	12.80	0.15	27.01	101.4	5200	
Climb	90	90% of Max.															
Approach	40	69% of Max.	17.3		14.48	95	29.40	22	414	1950	1.30	13.80	0.95	16.80	45.6	3600	

NOTES:

HC NOX CO CO2		Total hydrocarbons in ppm Cx Hy by volume Total oxides of nitrogen in ppm by volume Carbon monoxide in ppm or % by volume Carbon dioxide in ppm or % by volume Ovucon dioxide in ppm or % by volume	<ul> <li>Undiluted</li> <li>Undiluted</li> <li>Undiluted</li> <li>Undiluted</li> <li>Undiluted</li> </ul>	(or) gm/hr of Cx Hy (or) gm/hr of NOx (or) gm/hr of CO (or) gm/hr of CO (or) gm/hr of CO	(define x and y) (define x)	x = 6 x = 1
02	-	Oxygen in ppm or % by volume	- Undiluted	(or) gm/hr of 02		

a de la serie de la composición de la c

and the state of t

ŧ

121 CID BMW WITH STANDARD INTAKE MANIFOLD

ومليدة بزركة بشب

มากันแกะจำสะหันไม่ได้การจะจำนักและจะจะ และสมัยได้เรื

PBARG	TURY	THET	FUEL HYDKLGEN-	TAMB	RATED	415	EXHAU	ST H2	D IN AIR	
IN HG ABS	EEG F	JEGF	CARBUN RATIU	DEG F	HP	INCH**3	- C - H Fu	RMULA	PERCENT	
29-140	51.30	62.20	1.8550	91.30	100.40	121.30	1.000	1.850	0.528	
		UNITS	MODE 1	MODE 2	MODE 3	MODE 4	MODE 5	HODE 6	MODE 7	TOTAL
TIME IN MU	ile	MINUTES	1-00	11-00	0.30	5.00	6.00	3.00	1.00	27.30
FUEL FLGM		L BZHR	2.50	5.00	49-20	41.81	17.30	5.00	2.50	
AIR FLOM		LB/HR	. 34.95	00.75	636.10	541.00	250.50	66.75	34.95	
HY DRECAR BU	IN CUNC+	PPM-C	3366.00	3624.00	2442.00	2442.00	2484.00	624،00ذ	3366.00	
UX10ES UF	AITRUGEN C	UNL PPM	90.ú0	245.00	1950.00	1950.00	1950.00	245.00	90.00	
CARBUN MUN	INTINE CONC	- PERCENT	2.60	2.90	4.05	4.05	1.30	2+90	2.00	
CARBON DIG	ALDE CONC.	PERCENT	13.65	12.90	12.80	12+80	13.80	12.90	13.65	
OXYGEN CON	16.	PERCENT	Ú. 7Ú	0-30	0.15	0.15	0.95	0.30	0.70	
PROP. TUR	LEDE	ドマーレビ	2.50	18.00	101.40	90.14	45.60	18.00	2.50	
PRUP. SPE	: 66	RPH	950.00	1600-00	5200.00	4680.00	3600.00	1600-00	950-00	
MELU PRESS	URE IN H	G ABS UKY	14-17	11-17	27-01	27-01	16.80	11.17	10.17	
INDUCTION	AIR TEMP	DEG F	\$1.30	91 <b>.</b> 3ú	91.30	91.30	91.30	91.30	91.30	
FUEL AIK R	UITA	LB/LB	0-07191	0.07530	0.02775	0-07769	0+06943	0.07530	0.07191	0.07423 TA
FUEL AIR E	GUIVAL ENCE	KAT10	1.05	1.10	1.13	1.13	1.01	1.10	1.05	1.08 TA
ENGINE U85	ERVEN PURE	K HP	0.45	5.48	100.40	80.32	31.26	5.48	0.45	
UBS BMEP		PSI	3.11	22.38	126.06	112.06	56.69	22.38	3.11	
UBS BSFC	L	ым/ынр—нк	5.528	0-912	0.45 /	0.521	0+553	0.912	5.528	
EXHAUST NO	LE. #T. L	8/L8-MQLE	28.63	28.36	28.17	20.17	28.83	28.36	28.63	
HET CURREC	TION FACTO	к	0-87083	0.87227	0.87036	0.87011	U.87495	0.87227	0.87083	
HL ENISSIG	NRATE	Lb/nk	J-U532D	0.11097	0.71755	0.60991	0.28011	0.11097	0.05320	
HE MASS /	NUUE	LB	0-00089	0.02034	0.00359	0.05083	0.02801	0.00555	0.00089	0.11009
HC MASS /	RATED HP	LB/HP								0.00110
HC - PERC	LOT UF CPA	STANUARU								57.71
CU EMISSIO	N KATE	LB/HR	0.63614	1.79260	24.02402	20.42030	2.95937	1.79266	0.63814	
CU MASS /	Nuiz	L B	0-01064	0.32865	0-12012	1.70169	Ú.29594	0.08963	0.01064	2.55730
CO MASS /	HATEL HP	L B/HP								0.02547
LO - PERC	ENT OF EPA	STANDARD								60.65
NUX EMISSI	EN RATE	L B/HR	J-UJ472	0.02468	1.89996	1.61496	0.72914	0.02488	0.00472	
NUX MASS /	NUUE	LB	0-00068	0.00456	0-00950	0.13458	0.07291	0.00124	0.00008	0.22296
NUX MASS /	RATED HP	L8/HP								0.00222
NOX- PERC	ENT OF EPA	SJANDAKU								148.04
CALCULATED	FIEL AIR	RATIO FRU	H EXHAUST GAS A	ANALYSI S						
CAL. FUEL	AIR RATIU	LB/LB	0.07201	0.07544	0.07760	0.07760	0.06943	Ü.07544	0.07201	0.07429 TA
DIFF. NEAS	& CAL. F/	A PERCENT	0.13	0.18	-0-19	-0.12	0.01	0.18	0.13	0.08 TA

والمتأوية والمتحدث والمتحدث والمتحدث والمحافظ والمتحاف والمحص

والمستحد والمستحد والمستحد والمعتمين والمستحد والمتحد والمتحد والمتحد والمتحافظ والمتحافظ والمتحافظ

•

.

. .

÷

• • •

California .

OF POOR QUALITY

Ţ

.

¥

-

10

 $S^{2}$ 

÷

1973 BMW - 4-Cylinder - 9.0 C.R. - TFM with Staged 2-Barrel Carburetor Engine Description: 121.3 CID (1988 CC) Engine Displacement: Engine Rated Brake H.P.: Fuel Hydrogen-Carbon Ratio: 1.855 - Indolene + 3 gm/gal TEL

	ENGINE CO	NDITIONS RED				DATA	REQUIRED				~~~			ACTUAL ENGINE CONDITIONS		
MO DE Name	ENGINE BRAKE HORSEPOWER (%)	ENGINE SPEED	FUEL FLOW (16/hr)	MASS AIR OR FUEL- FLOW OR AIR (1b/hr) RATIO	INDUCTI TEMPERATURE (°F)	ON AIR UPS PRESSURE (in. Hg abs)	TREAM SPECIFIC HUMIDITY (grains/ 1b)	HC (ppm)	tiOx (ppm)	со (.)	02 (%)	02 (_)	MANIFOLD PRESSURE {in. Hg abs)	ENGINE TORQUE (ft/1b)	ENGINE SPEED (rpm)	INDICATED H.P. OR FRICTIONAL H.P.
Idle	-	600 rpm	2.5	15.86	93	29.40	25	190	1 35	0.17	13.8	2.00	12.10	3.2	950	
Taxi	-	1200 rpm	5.0	15.18	94	29.40	25	360	620	0.30	14.25	1.25	12.20	16.4	1600	
Take-Off	100	100%	49.5	12.88	83	29.30	34	372	-	4,15	12.10	2.30	27.00	103.5	5200	
Climb	80	90% of Max.										<u> </u>				
Approach	40	87% of Max.	17.6	18.19	96	29.39	53	243	600	0.16	11.75	4,60	20.89	44.6	3600	

NOTES:

HC NOx	<ul> <li>Total hydrocarbons in ppm Cx Hy by volume</li> <li>Total oxides of nitrogen in ppm by volume</li> </ul>	- Undiluted - Undiluted	(or) gm/hr of Cx Hy (or) gm/hr of NOx	<pre>(define x and y) (define x)</pre>	x = 6 x = 1
CO	- Carbon monoxide in ppm or % by volume	<ul> <li>Undiluted</li> </ul>	(or) gm/hr of CO		
C02	<ul> <li>Carbon dioxide in ppm or % by volume</li> </ul>	- Undiluted	(or) gm/hr of CO2		
02	- Oxygen in ppm or % by volume	<ul> <li>Undiluted</li> </ul>	(or) gm/nr of U <sub>2</sub>		

02 - Oxygen in ppm or % by volume

general second . and when the state of the second

**3**.2%

----

er den de la

1.000

121 CID BMW WITH ETHYL TURBULENT FLOW MANIFOLD

وروان والاعترة فالعالي للعثين

PBARG	TURY	INET	FUEL HYDRUGER	TANH	RATED	C10	EXHAU	ST H2	O IN AIR	
IN HE ABS	466 F	DEGF	LAKUN KAIN	DEGF	HP 102 60	INCH##3	U - H FQ		PERCENT	
29-400	41.30	DZVV	1.0330	91.30	102+30	123.30	1-000	1+820	0-211	
		UNITS	MODE 1	MOUE 2	MODE 3	MODE 4	MODE 5	NODE 6	NODE 7	TOTAL
TIME IN MU	IÚE	HANUTES	1.60	11-00	0.30	5.00	6.00	3.00	1.00	27.30
FUEL FLUM		LBZHŘ	2.50	5.00	49.50	+6-33	17.60	5.00	2,50	
AIR FLÜH		LBZHR	39.65	75.90	637+56	597.00	320.14	25.90	39.65	
HYURLCAKE	in CUNC.	PPN-C	1146.00	2100.00	2232.00	2232-00	1458.00	2160.00	1140.00	
UXIBES UP	AITRUGEN (	CUNL PPH	135.00	-020-UU	620.00	620 <b>.</b> 00	600.00	620.00	135.00	
CARBEN HON	WAIDE CON	C. PERLENT	0.17	0.30	4.15	4.15	U+16	<b>J.</b> 30	0.17	
CARBON DIC	IXIUE CONC.	. PERCENT	13.80	14+23	12.10	12.10	11.75	14.25	13.80	
LIXYGEN CON	16.	PERCENT	2.0	1.25	2.30	2-30	4.60	1+25	2+00	
PROP. TOR	LUVÉ	FT-LB	3.20	18-40	103.50	92+00	44.60	18.40	3.20	
PHOP. SPE	: Eli	HP M	950.00	1600.00	5200+00	4680-00	3600.00	1600-00	950-00	
MFLD PRESS	WRE IN H	HG ABS DRY	12.10	12.20	27.00	27.00	20.89	12.20	12.10	
INDUCTION	AIR TEMP	DEG F	91.50	91-50	91.50	91.50	91.50	91.50	91.50	
SUEL AIR K	ATIG	LB/LB	0.00338	0.06621	0.07804	0.07800	0-05526	0-06521	0.06338	0.06589 T
FUEL AIR E	LUIVALENCE	E RATIU	0. 92	<b>0</b> ₊97	1+14	1.14	0.81	0.97	0+92	0.96 T/
ENGINE LBS	EBVED PUNE	er hp	<b>U.58</b>	5.61	102.48	81_98	30.57	5.61	0.58	
OBS BMEP		PS1	3.91	22.50	126.58	112.52	54.55	22-50	3.91	
OBS BSEC	L. L.	. 8м/внр—нк	4.315	0+892	0.483	0.565	0.576	0.892	4.319	
EXHAUST NO	iLe. WT. L	B/LB-MOLE	28.51	28,91	28.14	28.15	28.92	28.91	28.91	
HEI LURREL	TION FACTO	Эк —	0+87942	0.87496	0.90142	0.90726	0.89490	0.87496	0.87942	
HC ENISSIO	IN KATE	L8/HR	0-02028	0.07339	0.68601	0.64217	0.21144	0.07339	0.02028	
HC MASS /	NGUE	L B	0.00034	V.01345	0.00343	0.05351	0.02114	0.00367	0.00034	0.09589
HC MASS /	BATEU HP	LBZHP								0.00094
HC - PERL	ENT OF EPA	STANDARD	1							49.24
CU EMISSIO	N RATE	L8/HR	0-06105	0.20576	25.74953	24.10400	0.46842	0.20576	0.06105	
CU MASS /	NUDE	LB	0.00102	0.03172	0.12875	2.00867	U+04684	0.01029	0.00102	2-23430
CC MASS /	RATED HP	L8/HP	i							0.02180
CU - PERG	ENT OF EPA	STANDARD	ł							51.90
NUX EMISSI	GN RATE	LB/HR	0.06796	0-06985	0-63168	0.59150	0.28853	0.06985	0-00796	
NOX HASS /	NODE	LB	0.00013	0.01281	0.00316	0-04929	0-02885	0.00349	0.00013	0.09787
NUX MASS /	RATEN HP	LB/HP	1							0.00095
NUX- PERC	ENT OF EPP	STANDARU	,							63.05
CALCULATED	FUEL AIR	RATIG FRO	H EXHAUST GAS	ANALTSIS						
LAL. FUEL	AIK KATIÙ	LB/LD	0.06337	0.06639	0.07095	0.07095	0.05526	0+06639	0.06337	0.06461 T/
DIFF. MEAS	& CAL. FA	A REACENT	-0+61	0.26	-9.08	-9.04	-0.00	0.26	-0.01	-1-95 T/

an com

the second se

÷.

Additional firms were contacted (Refs. 55 through 66) but were unable to provide emissions data due to proprietary reasons or lack of suitable data.

و، دید د **ا** 

1

1

------

1

## APPENDIX B. EXHAUST EMISSIONS CALCULATION PROCEDURE

Charles and a

- -----

Π

and a second and a s

1

Π

Ĺ

#### I. THE COMBUSTION EQUATION

The chemical equation for the combustion of a hydrocarbon fuel in air can be represented symbolically by:

Fuel + Air ---> Products of Combustion

To be able to deal mathematically with the combustion equation, it must be written in a form such that the coefficients, representing the quantities of each constituent, are known by virtue of measurement or are calculable using the principles of mass conservation or chemical equilibrium.

The combustion equation used as the basis for the emissions calculations is:

 $\begin{array}{c} \text{Air} \\ (M_{f}) \cdot C_{x} H_{y} + (M_{a}) & [0_{2} + (3.72744) N_{2} + (0.04451) A_{r}] + (M_{w}) \cdot H_{2}0 \\ \hline \end{pmatrix} \\ (M_{1}) \cdot H_{2}0 + (M_{2}) \cdot Co_{2} + (M_{3}) \cdot Co + (M_{4}) \cdot N0 + (M_{5}) \cdot O_{2} + \\ + (M_{6}) \cdot C_{p} H_{q} + (M_{7}) \cdot H_{2} + (M_{8}) \cdot N_{2} + (M_{9}) \cdot Ar + (M_{10}) \cdot NO_{2} + \\ + (M_{11}) \cdot C \end{array}$ 

where

M<sub>i</sub> is the number of 1bm-moles of the <u>ith</u> constituent. One 1bm-mole (pound-mass mole) of a substance is a quantity of that substance in pounds-mass, numerically equal to the molecular weight of the substance in atomic mass units. One 1bm-mole of water (H<sub>2</sub>O), therefore, would have a mass of (2) (1.008) + 16 = 18.016 1bm.

C<sub>x</sub> H<sub>y</sub> - a pure hydrocarbon fuel containing x atoms of carbon and y atoms of hydrogen in each molecule

- 0<sub>2</sub> oxygen
- N<sub>2</sub> nitrogen
- Ar argon
- H<sub>2</sub>O water (vapor)
- CO<sub>2</sub> carbon dioxide
- CO carbon monoxide
- NO nitric oxide

NO<sub>2</sub> - nitrogen dioxide

- C<sub>p</sub> H<sub>q</sub> unburned hydrocarbon exhaust product containing p atoms of carbon and q atoms of hydrogen in each molecule
- H<sub>2</sub> hydrogen
- C solid carbon

TCM represents the fuel,  $C_XH_y$ , as a pure hydrocarbon molecule. Fuel additives containing elements other than hydrogen and carbon such as antiknock agents, deposit modifiers, detergents, etc. are ignored in the combustion equation since they are deemed negligible. The fuel molecule,  $C_XH_y$ , then is representative of a nominal or average hydrocarbon molecule with a ratio of hydrogen to carbon atoms of y/x. Although the actual values of y and x for the gasoline vary considerably and no specific values can be assigned to them in our simplified fuel molecule, the ratio of hydrogen to carbon atoms in 100/130 octane aviation gasoline can be measured and remains relatively constant at a value of about 2.125.

Likewise, the unburned hydrocarbon constituent in the exhaust may contain several species of hydrocarbons, but a ratio of q/p of 1.85 has been suggested to represent the average ratio of hydrogen to carbon in the exhaust hydrocarbon pollutant. This value, however, for the purpose of this analysis will be considered unknown.

#### 11. BALANCING THE COMBUSTION EQUATION

By the principle of conservation of mass, we know that the atomic quantities introduced into the engine induction system must also be present in the exhaust even though they are rearranged into different molecules by the combustion chemical reaction. Hence, all the carbon atoms entering the engine in the form of hydrocarbon fuel molecules must be present in the exhaust in the form of CO, CO<sub>2</sub>, and C<sub>p</sub> H<sub>q</sub>. This atom-balancing technique provides us with a system of equations by which we may solve for unknown quantities.

Going back to the original combustion equation, we eliminate solid carbon, C, and nitrogen dioxide,  $NO_2$  (it has been found that  $NO_2$  does not exist in any significant quantity for our engines), and then divide each molar value on both sides of the equation by the sum of the molar values on the right-hand side. The equation then becomes

 $(m_f) \cdot C_x H_y + (m_a) [O_2 + (3.72744) N_2 + (0.04451) Ar] + (m_w) \cdot H_2O \longrightarrow$   $(m_1) \cdot H_2O + (m_2) \cdot CO_2 + (m_3) \cdot CO + (m_4) \cdot NO + (m_5) \cdot O_2 +$  $(m_6) \cdot C_p H_q + (m_7) \cdot H_2 + (m_8) \cdot N_2 + (m_9) \cdot Ar$  where

K dated

$$m_1 = \frac{M_1}{M_1 + M_2 + M_3 + M_4 + M_5 + M_6 + M_7 + M_8 + M_9}$$

Thus, every molar coefficient on the right-hand side of the equation is now expressed in mole fractions such that

....

$$m_1 + m_2 + m_3 + m_4 + m_5 + m_6 + m_7 + m_8 + m_9 = 1.0.$$

This is done for convenience, and the reason for it will be demonstrated later.

The nine products of combustion represent an estimated 99.998% of the chemical composition of an equilibrium mixture at exhaust gas temperatures below 3,000°R.

An oxygen balance results in Equation (1):  $2 m_a + m_w = m_1 + 2m_2 + m_3 + m_4 + 2m_5$ or  $m_1 = 2m_a + m_w - 2m_2 - m_3 - m_4 - 2m_5$  (1) A carbon balance gives Equation (2):  $x \cdot m_f = m_2 + m_3 + p \cdot m_6$ or  $m_f = \frac{m_2 + m_3 + p \cdot m_6}{x}$  (2)

Since our measurement of  $C_p\ H_q$  is in parts per million carbon equivalent, we can represent  $C_p\ H_q$  as  $CH_q/p$ . Equation (2) then becomes

$$m_{f} = \frac{m_{2} + m_{3} + m_{6}}{x}$$
(2)

The remaining atomic balances are as follows:

Hydrogen Balance: 
$$y \cdot m_f + 2m_w = 2m_1 + \frac{q}{p}m_6 + 2m_7$$
 (3)

Nitrogen Balance: 
$$(3.72744)$$
 (2)  $m_a = m_4 + 2m_8$  (4)

Argon Balance: 
$$(0.04451) m_a = m_9.$$
 (5)

#### III. THE WATER CORRECTION FACTOR

Since CO,  $CO_2$ , and  $O_2$  are measured on a dry volumetric basis (the water vapor being removed from the exhaust sample before measurement), and HC and NO are measured on a wet volumetric basis, we must determine the amount of water vapor removed from the dry sample in order to correct all measured values to either a dry or a wet volumetric basis for calculative purposes. In doing this, we are solving for one of the unknowns, i.e.,  $m_1$  (H<sub>2</sub>O).

We can define the fuel to dry air mass ratio as

$$\frac{f}{A} = \frac{m_f (12.011 x + 1.008 y)}{m_a (138.2689)}$$
(6)

where

(12.011 x + 1.008 y) = fuel molecular weight

and

The specific humidity, or water vapor to dry air mass ratio is

$$\frac{W}{A} = \frac{m_{W} (18.016)}{m_{a} (138.2689)} .$$
<sup>(7)</sup>

By substituting Equations (2), (6), and (7) into Equation (1) and rearranging the terms, we have

$$m_{1} = \left[2 + 7.67478 \frac{W}{A}\right] \frac{(m_{2} + m_{3} + m_{6}) (12.011 + 1.008 \frac{Y}{x})}{138.2689 (f/A)}$$
  
- 2m<sub>2</sub> - m<sub>3</sub> - m<sub>4</sub> - 2m<sub>5</sub> . (8)

For clarity, Equation (8) may be rewritten using chemical symbols to represent the mole fraction for each constituent

$$H_{2}O = \left[2 + 7.67478 \frac{W}{A}\right] \left[\frac{(CO_{2} + CO + HC)(12.011 + 1.008 \frac{Y}{X})}{138.2689(f/A)}\right] - 2CO_{2} - CO - NO - 2O_{2}.$$
(9)

-- --

Equation (9) then represents the total water vapor (humidity plus water of combustion) contained in the exhaust gas with each constituent measured on a wet basis.

B-4

Defining the water correction factor as

$$C_{\rm W} = 1.0 - H_2 0 \tag{10}$$

we can convert the entire Equation (9) to dry basis measurements by dividing by  $(1.0 - H_20)$ 

$$\frac{H_2O}{1-H_2O} = \left[2 + 7.67478 \frac{W}{A}\right] \left[\frac{\left(\cos_2 + \cos_d ry + \frac{HC_{wet}}{1-H_2O}\right)\left(12.011 + 1.008 \frac{y}{x}\right)}{138.2689 (f/A)}\right]$$

$$-2CO_{2} - CO_{dry} - CO_{dry} - \frac{NO_{wet}}{1 - H_2O} - 2O_{2} - 2O_{2}$$
(11)

where

$$\operatorname{CO}_{2_{dry}} = \frac{\operatorname{CO}_{2_{wet}}}{1 - \operatorname{H}_2 0}, \text{ etc.}$$

The solution to Equation (11) may be obtained iteratively by assuming a value for  $H_2O$  on the right-hand side of the equation, solving for  $H_2O$  on the left-hand side, using this new value for  $H_2O$  on the righthand side, and repeating the process until satisfactory agreement has been obtained between the assumed and calculated values. Using this scheme, convergence is obtained usually within four iterations, starting with  $H_2O$  equalling zero on the right-hand side of the equation.

A more expansive chemical equilibrium calculation was made over the normal range of fuel air ratios, considering the products of combustion to include: C, A, CO, CO<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>O, N<sub>2</sub>, O<sub>2</sub>, O, OH, H, NO, N, NH<sub>3</sub>, and CH<sub>4</sub>. The maximum error determined in the calculation of water vapor using our abbreviated product of combustion equation was less than one-half of 1 percent.

The solution to the wet correction factor then was obtained by using five equations  $\{(1), (2), (6), (7), \text{ and } (10)\}$  involving five unknowns:  $m_a, m_w, m_1, m_f, \text{ and } C_w$ . The assumptions made in order to effect a solution to the water correction factor are:

- The combustion equation represents all of the elemental constituents involved in the actual combustion process.
- The ratio of hydrogen to carbon atoms for all 100/130 octane aviation gasolines remains constant at (y/x).

While there are similar methods which can be used to calculate the water correction factor, it is believed that this method involves the use of the least number of assumptions leading to the most accurate estimate of  $C_w$  based on the quantities currently being measured.

#### IV. CALCULATION OF MASS EMISSION VALUES

As mentioned previously, the raw emissions are measured on a volumetric basis in percent or parts per million. In order to determine the emissions based on the requirements of the EPA Standards, these volumetric values must be converted to volumetric flow rate and then to mass flow values in accordance with Equation (12).

pollutant exi mass vol emission flo rate rat	khaust blumetric <sub>×</sub> low ate	pollutant volumetric concentration	×	pollutant density	(12)
---	--	--	---	----------------------	------

For this equation, the pollutant densities are specified in the Federal Register at a standard pressure and temperature of 760 mm Hg and 68°F. The values of pollutant volumetric concentrations (CO, HC, NOx) are measured, and, in order to calculate the mass emission rates, the exhaust volumetric flow rate must be known.

The EPA Standards state that the exhaust volumetric flow rate "shall be calculated in accordance with good engineering practices".

TCM calculates the exhaust volumetric flow rate at the standard pressure and temperature of 760 mm Hg and 68°F, using the assumption that the exhaust gas follows the ideal gas equation of state.

$$\dot{\mathbf{v}}_{\text{EXH}} = \frac{\mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{m} \cdot \mathbf{T}}{\mathbf{M}_{\text{EXH}} \cdot \mathbf{P}} = \frac{\mathbf{R} \cdot (\mathbf{f} + \mathbf{A}^{2}) \cdot \mathbf{T}}{\mathbf{M}_{\text{EXH}} \cdot \mathbf{P}}$$
(13)

where

 V<sub>EXH</sub> - exhaust volumetric flow rate, ft<sup>3</sup>/hr
 R - universal gas constant 1545.33 ft-lbf lbm-mole R
 m - total exhaust gas mass flow (also equal to total induction mass flow of fuel and air by principle of mass conservation), lbm/hr
 T - absolute temperature, 528°R (68°F)

- M<sub>EXH</sub> exhaust gas molecular weight
- P exhaust pressure, 2116  $\frac{1bf}{ft^2}$  (760 mm Hg) f - fuel mass flow, 1bm/hr
- A' humid air mass flow, lbm/hr.

(2) through (7).

In Equation (13), R, T, and P are given values and  $\dot{m}$  is measured. The value of the exhaust gas molecular weight can be calculated from exhaust products as follows:

$$M_{EXH} = \sum m_i M_i$$
 (14)

where

M <sub>EXH</sub>	-	the "apparent molecular weight" of the exhaust gas
Mi	-	the molecular weight of each constituent
mi	-	the mole fraction of each constituent which can be determined from measured concentrations and solution of Equations

The solution of Equation (14) further requires an assumption of exhaust hydrocarbon hydrogen to carbon ratio, q/p. Studies have indicated however that extremely unreasonable values of calculated fuel-air ratio are obtained when the sum of the exhaust gas mole fractions are constrained to unity.

Therefore the method used by TCM for estimating the exhaust gas molecular weight is based on chemical equilibrium calculations and assumes that chemical equilibrium exists among the exhaust products for a given measured fuel-air equivalence ratio, Figure B-1. This assumption is reasonable since the major constituents which contribute to the exhaust molecular weight (e.g., N<sub>2</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>O, CO) do not vary significantly from equilibrium predictions. The calculation of mass emissions of carbon monoxide as an example would be as follows, by substituting Equation (13) into Equation (12):

$$\dot{m}_{co} = \left[\frac{R (f + A^{\prime}) T}{M_{EXH} P}\right] \times [\rho_{co}] \times [C0] .$$
(15)



FIGURE B-1. CHEMICAL EQUILIBRIUM MOLECULAR WEIGHT AS A FUNCTION OF FUEL-AIR EQUIVALENCE RATIO

**B-**8

Since, by the ideal gas assumption

$$\rho_{\rm co} = \frac{M_{\rm co} P}{RT}$$
(16)

substitution of Equation (16) into (15) yields

$$\dot{m}_{co} = \left[\frac{R (f + A^{-}) T}{M_{EXH} P}\right] \times \left[\frac{M_{co} P}{RT}\right] \times [CO]$$

or

ধাঃ

$$\dot{m}_{\rm CO} = \left(\frac{M_{\rm CO}}{M_{\rm EXH}}\right) (f + A^{\prime}) (CO)$$
(17)

where

m <sub>co</sub>	-	mass emission rate of CO, lbm/hr
M <sub>co</sub>		molecular weight of CO, 28.011 $\frac{1 \text{bm}}{1 \text{bm-mole}}$
M <sub>EXH</sub>	-	exhaust gas molecular weight, <u>lbm</u> lbm-mole
(f + A')	-	total induction mass flow rate, $\frac{1 \text{ bm}}{\text{ hr}}$
CO		wet volume fraction of CO in exhaust.

#### V. THE EXHAUST EMISSIONS STANDARDS

Once the mass emission rates of CO, HC, and NO have been determined for the modes, the calculation of exhaust emissions relative to the EPA standards is straightforward.

A Five-Mode Landing/Take-Off (LTO) cycle, as defined by the EPA, is shown in Table B-1. In each mode, run consecutively, the mass emissions are calculated in 1bm/mode. The sum of these values, 1bm/cycle, is then divided by the engine rated brake horsepower so that the final emissions values are in 1bm/BHP/cycle. The maximum allowable values specified by the Standards are:

- CO 0.042 lbm/BHP/cycle
- HC 0.0019 lbm/BHP/cycle
- NOx 0.0015 lbm/BHP/cycle.

MODE NO.	MODE NAME	TIME IN MODE (min)	POWER (%)	ENGINE RPM (%)
1	Taxi/Idle-Out	12.0	***	
2	Take-Off	0.3	100	(100)
3	Climb	5.0	75 to 100	***
4	Approach	6.0	40	***
5 l'axi/Idle-In		4.0	***	
	TOTAL CYCLE	27.3		

#### TABLE B-1. EPA EMISSIONS REGULATIONS REQUIREMENTS

\*\*\*Manufacturer's Recommendation

To compare emissions from different types of engines, the EPA Five-Mode LTO cycle was expanded into a seven-mode cycle by separating the Idle-Taxi mode and further defining the power-speed conditions. Table B-2 presents the seven-mode cycle which was used as the standard for all engines investigated.

MODE NO.	MODE NAME	TIME IN MODE (min)	POWER (%)	PROPELLER RPM
1	Idle-Out	1.0	-	600
2	Taxi-Out	11.0	-	1,200*
3	Take-Off	0.3	100	100% of Maximum
4	Climb	5.0	80	90% of Maximum
5	Approach	6.0	40	87% cf Maximum
6	Taxi-In	3.0	-	1,200*
7	Idle-In	1.0		600
	TOTAL CYCLE	27.3		*

#### TABLE B-2. TCM SEVEN-MODE AIRCRAFT LANDING/TAKE-OFF OPERATIONAL CYCLE

\*900 RPM on geared engines

#### VI. CALCULATED FUEL-AIR RATIO FROM EXHAUST PRODUCTS

The Environmental Protection Agency (20) requires a check on the accuracy of measured data by calculating the fuel-air ratio from exhaust gas constituents. The requirement is for the calculated and measured values to agree within  $\pm 5\%$ . Teledyne Continental Motors employs a method developed by R.S. Spindt (67) which requires the use of the fuel hydrogen-to-carbon ratio, y/x, rather than molecular form as required by many alternative methods investigated. The Spindt equation requires values for  $O_2$ , CO,  $CO_2$ , HC, y/x, and an assumption for the water-gas equilibrium constant, Kp. Equation (18) is the Spindt equation.

$$\frac{f}{A} = \frac{1.0}{FB \left[ (11.492) \ FC \ \frac{1.0 + E/2 + D}{1 + E} + \frac{120 \ (1-FC)}{(K_p + E)} \right]}$$
(18)

where

:

ŧ

1.000

1

÷

f/A	-	calculated fuel-air ratio
FB	-	$(co + co_2)/(co + co_2 + HC)$
FC		(12.011)/(12.011 + 1.008 y/x), the fraction of carbon in fuel, $C_x H_y$
Е	-	co/co <sub>2</sub>
D	-	0 <sub>2</sub> /C0 <sub>2</sub>
к <sub>р</sub>	-	( $H_2O$ ) (CO)/( $H_2$ ) (CO <sub>2</sub> ), the value of $K_p$ was assigned by Spindt as 3.5.

# LIST OF DEFINITIONS AND SYMBOLS

\*\* \*\*

£1

4

4

4

\*\*

50

5

-

\*

\*

.

-

.

Abs	Absolute
Baseline	An engine operating condition defined as the average fuel flow rate (as established by the fuel system's production tolerance band) when operated with the mixture control set at full rich position
Bb1	Barrel
BHP	Brake Horsepower
BMW	Bavarian Motor Works
BTDC	Before Top Dead Center
Case I	The minimum allowable fuel flow rate as established by the engine type certificate (approximately best power for most modal conditions)
Case II	The fuel flow rate corresponding to the leanest fuel- air ratio obtainable before a safety hazard occurs with the engine operating on a propeller test stand
CID	Cubic Inches Displacement
со	Carbon Monoxide
C02	Carbon Dioxide
CO Standard	0.042 lbm/rated horsepower/cycle
CVCC	Compound Vortex Controlled Combustion
EGT	Exhaust Gas Temperature
ЕРА	Environmental Protection Agency
E <sup>3</sup> R	Engine Exhaust Emission Reduction
FEMA	Failure Effects and Modes Analysis
FHP	Friction Horsepower
Fuel-Air	Ratio of Fuel Mass Flow to Dry Air Mass Flow
gm	Gram

# LIST OF DEFINITIONS AND SYMBOLS - Continued

Н	High
H <sub>2</sub>	Hydrogen
нс	Unburned Hydrocarbons
HC Standard	0.0019 1bm/rated horsepower/cycle
Нg	Mercury
НР	Horsepower
Ţ	Inline cylinder configuration (followed by number of cylinders)
IHP	Indicated Horsepower
10-520-D	Fuel-injected six-cylinder opposed engine, 520 CID, D Model, with 300 Maximum Rated Horsepower
JPL	Jet Propulsion Laboratory
kHz	Kilohertz or (cycles per second) $\times 10^3$
L	Low
1b	Pound (mass)
м	Medium
MTBF	Mean Time Between Failures
MTBM	Mean Time Between Maintenance
NACA	National Advisory Committee for Aeronautics
NTIS	National Technical Information Service
NOx	Oxides of Nitrogen
NOx Standard	0.0015 1bm/rated lorsepower/cycle
ppm	Parts per Million
rpm	Revolutions per Minute
R&D	Research and Development
ROM	Rough Order Magnitude
SAE	Society of Automotive Engineers

L-2

# LIST OF DEFINITIONS AND SYMBOLS - Concluded

and the second

- SALES -

-----

Safety butt- line	Fuel/air ratio leaned to the verge of safety problems, excessive cylinder head temperature or inadequate acceleration
SFC	Specific Fuel Consumption
s/n	Serial Number
SWRI	Southwest Research Institute
TA	Time Average
TCCS	Texaco Controlled Combustion System
TCM	Teledyne Continental Motors
TEL	Tetraethyllead
TFM	Turbulent Flow Manifold (Ethyl)
Tiara 6-285-B	Fuel-injected six-cylinder opposed engine, 285 Maximum Rated Horsepower, B-Model, with 406 CID
V-8	Eight Cylinders Arranged in a V Configuration
WOT	Wide Open Throttle
(0)	Binary number indicating "no value" or "less value"
(1)	Binary number indicating "value" or "greater value"
→ and >	Greater than
← and <	Less than
¢	Equivalence Ratio. The ratio of actual fuel/air to stoichiometric fuel/air ratio.

L-3/L-4

enter a service a ser
#### REFERENCES

ł

- A Systems Engineering Decision Algorithm with Ap, lication to Apollo Applications Program Integration Problems. NASA TM X-53992, Marshall Space Flight Center, Alabama, February 2, 1970.
- Rezy, B. J.: Exhaust Emission Reduction for Intermittent Combustion Aircraft Engines; Technical Work Plan. Contract NAS3-19755, January 20, 1976, revised February 20, 1976.
- 3. Menard, Wesley A.; Moynihan, Phillip I.; and Rupe, Jack H.: New Potentials for Conventional Aircraft When Powered by Hydrogen Enriched Gasoline. Technical Memorandum No. 33-760, Jet Propulsion Laboratory, January 1976.
- Date, Tasuku; Fijii, Isao; Ishizuya, Akira; and Yagi, Shizue: Research and Development of the Honda CVCC Engine. Paper 740605, SAE, August 1974.
- 5. Springer, Karl J.: Emissions from Diesel and Stratified Charge Powered Cars. Report No. EPA-460/3-75-001-a, Southwest Research Institute, December 1974.
- Choma, M. A.; Repko, L. L.; and Simko, A.: Exhaust Emission Control by the Ford Programmed Combustion Process - PROCO. Paper 720052, SAE, January 1972.
- Alperstein, M.; Schafer, G. H.; and Villforth, F. J., III: Texaco's Stratified Charge Engine - Multifuel, Efficient, Clean and Practical. Paper 740563, SAE, May 1974.
- Alperstein, Martin; Coppoc, William J.; and Mitchell, Edward: Texaco Controlled Combustion System Provides an Engine with Clean Exhaust and Good Fuel Economy. Swedish Engineering Society, March 27, 1973.
- 9. Adams, W. E.; Hamilton, J. C.; Marsee, F. J.; and Olree, R. M.: Emission, Fuel Economy, and Durability of Lean Burn Systems. Paper 760227, SAE, February 1976.
- Hare, Charles T., and Springer, Karl J.: Exhaust Emissions from Uncontrolled Vehicles and Related Equipment Using Internal Combustion Engines; Final Report, Part 5, Heavy-Duty Form, Construction, and Industrial Engines. Report No. AR-898, Southwest Research Institute, October 1973.
- 11. Kruckenberg, P. L.: The McCulloch Diesel Combustion System. McCulloch publication, February 3, 1975.

12. McCulloch Corporation: The Model TRAD 4180 Light Aircraft Engine -A Radial Two-Stroke Diesel. McCulloch publication, May 9, 1975. - 4

.

. .

.. .

- Bennethum, James E.; De Nagel, Stephen F.; and Schiele, Carl A.: Design and Development of a Variable Valve Timing (VVT) Camshaft. Paper 740102, SAE February and March 1974.
- 14. Freeman, Max A., and Nicholson, Roy C.: Valve Timing for Control of Oxides of Nitrogen (NO<sub>X</sub>). Paper 720121, SAE, January 1972.
- Daniel, W. A.: Engine Variable Effects on Exhaust Hydrocarbon Formations (Single Cylinder Engine Study with Propane as Fuel. Paper 670124, SAE, 1967; Vol. 76.
- 16. Simmonds Aerocessories, Inc.: Simmonds SU Series Fuel Injection Systems. Preliminary Bulletin, 1952.
- Stephenson, R. Rhoads: Should We Have a New Engine? An Automobile Power System Evaluation, Volume II. Report No. JPL SP 43-17, Jet Propulsion Laboratory, August 1975.
- Asik, J. R.; Harrington, J. A.; and Shishu, R. C.: A Study of Ignition Systems Effects on Power, Emission, Lean Misfire Limit and EGR Tolerance of a Single-Cylinder Engine - Multiple Spark versus Conventional Single Spark Ignition. Paper 740188, SAE, February and March 1974.
- 19. Blatter, A.; Datwyler, W. F.; and Hasson, S. T.: Control of Emissions from Light Piston-Engine Aircraft. Report No. APTD-1521, Bendix Corporation, May 1973.
- Environmental Protection Agency: Control of Air Pollution from Aircraft and Aircraft Engines. Federal Register, Volume 38, Number 136, Part II, Tuesday, July 17, 1973.
- 21. Airworthiness Standards: Aircraft Engines. FAR Part 33, Federal Aviation Administration, August 1974 (latest revisions).
- 22. Aircraft Powerplant Handbook. CAA Technical Manual No. 107, U.S. Department of Commerce, January 1949.
- 23. Obert, E. F.: Internal Combustion Engines and Air Pollution. Intext Educational Publishers, New York, N. Y., 1973.
- 24. Airframe and Powerplant Mechanics Powerplant Handbook. AC 65-12, Federal Aviation Administration, 1971.
- 25. Asimow, M.: Introduction to Design. Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, 1962.

## **REFERENCES** - Continued

- Hall, A. D.: A Methodology for Systems Engineering. D. Van Nostrand Company, Inc., New York, N. Y., 1965.
- English, J. M., et al.: Cost-Effectiveness. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, N. Y., 1968.
- 28. Seiler, K.: Introduction to Systems Cost-Effectiveness. Wiley-Interscience, New York, N. Y., 1969.
- 29. English, M. J.: Economics of Engineering and Social Systems. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, N. Y., 1972.
- Hajek, V. G.: Project Engineering. McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York, N. Y., 1965.
- Hackney, J. W.: Control and Management of Capital Projects. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, N. Y., 1965.
- 32. Von Alven, W. H.: Reliability Engineering. Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, 1964.
- 33. Rodgers, W. P.: Introduction to System Safety Engineering. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, N. Y., 1971.
- 34. Bursk, E. C., et al.: New Decision-Making Tools for Managers. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, 1963.
- 35. Miles, K. F., Jr.: Systems Concepts. John Wiley and Sons, New York, N. Y., 1973.
- 36. Forrester, J. W.: Industrial Dynamics. The MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, 1961.
- 37. Jones, B.: Elements of Practical Aerodynamics. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, N. Y., 1958.
- Wood, K. D.: Aircraft Design. Johnson Publishing Company, Boulder, Colorado, 1968.
- Aircraft Performance Engineering. AF Manual 51-9, U.S. Air Force, December 1954.
- 40. Blanchard, B. S., Jr., and Lowery, E. E.: Maintainability. McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York, N. Y., 1969.
- 41. Goldman, A. S., and Slattery, T. B.: Maintainability. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, N. Y., 1967.

R-3

#### **REFERENCES** - Continued

- 42. Blanchard, B. S.: Logisvics Engineering and Management. Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, 1974.
- 43. Maintainability Program Requirements for Systems and Equipments. MIL-STD-470, U.S. Air Force, March 21, 1966 (latest revision).
- 44. Aircraft Engine, Reciprocating, General Specifications. MIL-E-25109, U.S. Air Force, February 7, 1955 (latest revision).
- 45. Samaras, T. T., and Czerwinski, F. L.: Fundamentals of Configuration Management. Wiley-Interscience, New York, N.Y., 1971.
- 46. Leech, D. J.: Management of Engineering Design. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, N.Y., 1972.
- 47. Clapp, W. H., and Clark, D.S.: Engineering Materials and Processes. International Textbook Company, Scranton, Pennsylvania, 1954.
- 48. Titterton, G. F.: Aircraft Materials and Processes. Pitman Publishing Corp., New York, N. Y., 1956.
- 49. Chase, W. P.: Management of Systems Engineering. Wiley-Interscience, New York, N. Y., 1974.
- 50. Mesarovic, M. D., et al.: Theory of Hierarchical, Multilevel Systems. Academic Press, New York, N. Y., 1970.
- 51. Personal Communication, R. M. Olree to B. J. Rezy, Re: Ethyl Turbulent Flow System, March 23, 1976.
- 52. Personal Communication, Charles T. Hare to J. Ronald Tucker, Re: Diesel Engine Exhaust Emissions Studies by Southwest Research Institute, April 14, 1976.
- 53. Personal Communication, B. J. Rezy to George Maffey, Re: McCulloch 2-Stroke Combustion System.
- 54. Personal Communication, W. T. Tierney to J. Ronald Tucker, Re: Texaco Controlled Combustion System, April 8, 1976.
- Personal Communication, Jack C. Priegel to B. J. Rezy, Re: Autotronic Controls Corporation Fuel Control System and Associated Data, April 23, 1976.
- 56. Personal Communication, J. Ronald Tucker to Bill Felker, Re: Bendix Corporation Electronic Fuel Injection, April 27, 1976.
- 57. Personal Communication, J. Ronald Tucker to J. W. Hallberg, Re: Borg-Warner Fluid Jot Carburetion, April 27, 1976.

- 58. Personal Communication, J. Ronald Tucker to P. R. Angell, Re: Chrysler Lean Burn System, March 17, 1976.
- 59. Personal Communication, K. J. Stuckas to Tom Cackette, Re: EPA Emissions Data.

- -

÷ - -

; .

÷.,

- --- -

,

.

1

27.14

**治**(4)

- 60. Personal Communication, J. Ronald Tucker to Aladan Simko, Re: Ford Programmed Combustion Process, March 19, 1976.
- 61. Personal Communication, B. J. Rezy to Bill Garrity, Re: Honda CVCC, April 7, 1976.
- Personal Communication, Wesley A. Merand to B. J. Rezy, Re: J.P.L. Hydrogen Enrichment Concept and Lean Mixture Engine Testing and Evaluation Program, March 18, 1976.
- 63. Personal Communication, B. J. Rezy to Michael Skorobatckyi, Re: NASA/ Lewis Emissions Data.
- 64. Personal Communication, B. J. Rezy to David Collins, Re: Emission Data Request to Ricardo and Company Engineers.
- 65. Personal Communication, H. Shimada to J. Ronald Tucker, Re: Toyota Lean-Burn Engine, April 23, 1976
- 66. Personal Communication, B. J. Rezy to Charlie Brown, Re: White Engines, Inc., Emission Data.
- 67. Spindt, R. S.; Gulf Research and Development Company: Air-Fuel Ratios from Exhaust Gas Analysis. Paper 650507, SAE, 1965.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

4

a e

.

es 4.

- 1. Adams, W. E.; Marsee, F. J; Olree, R. M.; and Hamilton, J. C.; Ethyl Corporation: Emissions, Fuel Economy, and Durability of Lean Burn Systems. Paper 760227, SAE, February 1976.
- 2. Adams, W. E.; and Kerley, R. V.; Ethyl Corp.: The Next Decade for Piston Engines. Paper 670685, SAE, 1967.
- 3. Aiman, William R.; Research Labs., General Motors Corp.: Engine Speed and Load Effects on Charge Dilution and Nitric Oxide Emission. Paper 720256, SAE, January, 1972.
- Alperstein, M.; and Bradow, R. L.; Texaco, Inc.: Exhaust Emissions Related to Engine Combustion Reactions. Paper 660781, SAE, 1966, Vol. 75.
- Amano, M.; Sami, H.; Nakagawa, S.; and Yoshizaki, H.; Toyota Motor Co., Ltd. (Japan).: Approaches to Low Emission Levels for Light-Duty Diesel Vehicles. Paper 760211, SAE, February, 1976.
- Asik, Joseph R.; and Bates, Bradford; Engineering and Research Staff, Ford Motor Co.: The Ferroresonant Capacitor Discharge Ignition (FCDI) System: A Multiple Firing CD Ignition with Spark Discharge Sustaining Between Firings. Paper 760266, SAE, February, 1976.
- Bascom, C.; Broering, Louis C.; and Wulfhorst, David E.; Cummins Engine Co., Inc.: Design Factors that Affect Diesel Emissions. Paper 710484 (SP-365), SAE, 1971.
- Beaudoin, G. L.; Laud, K. R.; Logothetis, E. M.; Meitzler, A. H.; and Park, K.; Engineering & Research Staff, Ford Motor Co.: CoO Sensors for Measurement and Control of Exhaust from Lean-Burn Engines. Paper 760312, SAE, February, 1976.
- 9. Bellan, J. R.: A Theory of Turbulent Combustion and Nitric Oxide Formation for Dual-Carbureted Stratified-Charge Engines. Princeton University, Publication Number 75-20, 612, August, 1974.
- Bishop, I. N.; and Simok, Aladar; Ford Motor Co.: New Concept of Stratified Charge Combustion - The Ford Combustion Process (FCP). Paper 680041, SAE, 1968, Vol. 77.
- Blair, G. P.; and McConnell, J. H.; Department of Mechanical Engineering. The Queen's University of Belfast (Northern Ireland): Unsteady Gas Flow through High-Specific-Output 4-Stroke Cycle Engines. Paper 740736, SAE, September, 1974.

. .

а. .

- Boekhaus, K. L.; and Copeland, L. C.: Performance Characteristics of Stratified Charge Vehicles with Conventional Fuels and Gasoline Blended with Alcohol and Water. Paper 760197, SAE, February, 1976.
- Bosecker, R. E.; and Webster, D. F.; Caterpillar Tractor Co.: Precombustion Chamber Diesel Engine Emissions - A Progress Report. Paper 710672, SAE, August, 1971.
- Brandstetter, W. R.; Decker, G.; Schafer, H. J.; and Steinke, D.; Volkswagenwerk AG (Germany): The Volkswagen PCI Stratified Charge Concept - Results from the 1.6 Liter Air Cooled Engine. Paper 741173, SAE, November, 1974.
- Breisacher, P.; Nichols, R. J.; and Hicks, W. A.: Exhaust Emission Reduction through Two-Stage Combustion. Combustion Science and Technology, Volume 6, pages 191 - 201, 1972.
- Bright, C.; et al: Comparison of Air Pollution from Aircraft and Automobiles (Project Eagle). Report No. FAA-NO-70-14, Rutgers University, September, 1970.
- Brisson, B.; Societe d'Etude des Marchines Thermiques,: and Ecomard, A.; and Eyzat, P.; Institut Francais due Petrole: A New Diesel Combustion Chamber - The Variable-Throat Chamber. Paper 730167, SAE, January, 1973.
- Camp, John; and Rachel, Todd; Bendix Corp.: Closed-Loop Electronic Fuel and Air Control of Internal Combustion Engines. Paper 750369, SAE, February, 1975.
- Campau, R. M.; Stefan, A.; and Hancock, E. E.; Ford Motor Co.: Ford Durability Experience on Low Emission Concept Vehicles. Paper 720488 (SP-370), SAE, 1972.
- Chiu, W. S.; Shahed, S. M.; and Lyn, W. T.; Cummins Engine Co., Inc.: A Transient Spray Mixing Model for Diesel Combustion. Paper 760128, SAE, February, 1976.
- 21. Coffin, K. P.: Effect of Timed Secondary Air Injection on Automotive Emissions. NASA TM X-2737, March, 1970.
- Date, Tasuku; and Yagi, Shizuo; Honda Research and Development Co., Ltd.: Research and Development of the Honda CVCC Engine. Paper 740605, SAE, August, 1974.
- Davis, G. C.; Krieger, R. B.; and Tabaczynski, R. J.; Research Labs., div., General Motors Corp.: Analysis of the Flow and Combustion Processes of a Three-Valve Stratified Charge Engine with a Small Prechamber. Paper 741170, SAE, November, 1974.

- 24. Dowdy, M. W.; Hoen, F. W.; and Vanderburg, T. G.: Lean Mixture Engine Testing and Evaluation Program, Volumes I, II, and III. Report Number DOT-TSC-OST-75-26, JPL, November, 1975.
- Evers, L. W.; Myers, P. S.; and Uyehara, O. A.; Univ. of Wisconsin: A Search for a Low Nitric Oxide Engine. Paper 741172, November, 1974.
- Eyzat, P.; and Guibet, J. C.; Institut Francais du Petrole: New Look at Nitrogen Oxides Formation in Internal Combustion Engines. Paper 680124, SAE, 1968, Vol. 77.
- 27. Fay, James A.; and Heywood, John B.; Massachusetts Institute of Technology: The Dispersion of Pollutants from Aircraft. Paper 710322 (P-37), SAE, 1971, Vol. 80.
- Felt, A. E.; and Krause, S. R.; Ethyl Corp.: Effects of Compression Ratio Changes on Exhaust Emissions. Paper 710831, SAE, 1971, Vol. 80.
- Cast, Richard A.; Res. Labs., General Motors Corp.: Pulsair A Method for Exhaust System Induction of Secondary Air for Emission Control. Paper 750172, SAE, February, 1975.
- Gompf, H. L.: Evaluation of the Texaco Stratified Charge (TCP) M-151 Army Vehicle. Report Number APTD-1378, EPA, August, 1972.
- Griffin, J. R.; Chevron Research Co.; and Wittek, H. L.; List-Rosen-Wittek Associates Inc.: Versatile Single-Cylinder Diesel Test Engine for Lubricant, Emissions, and Fuel Research. Paper 730831, SAE, September, 1973.
- Grigg, H. C.; CAV Ltd.: The Role of Fuel Injection Equipment in Reducing 4-Stroke Diesel Engine Emissions. Paper 760126, SAE, February, 1976.
- Grundy, J. R.; Kiley, L. R.; and Brevick, E. A., Teledyne Continental Motors, General Products Division: AVCR 1360-2 High Specific Output-Variable Compression Ratio Diesel Engine. Paper 760051, SAE, February, 1976.
- 34. Hansel, James G.; Esso Research and Engineering Co.: Lean Automobile Engine Operation - Hydrocarbon Exhaust Emissions and Combustion Characteristics. Paper 710164, SAE, 1971, Vol. 80.
- 35. Hansel, James G.; Esso Research and Engineering Co.: Low NOX Emissions from Automotive Engine Combustion. Paper 720509, SAE, May, 1972.
- 36. Hamburg, D. R.; and Hyland, J. E.; Engineering and Research Staff, Ford Motor Co.: A Vaporized Gasoline Metering System for Internal Combustion Engines. Paper 760288, SAE, February, 1976.

н н.

- --

r.

. .

hr: 🛥

. .

**-**.

. .

. .

.

- 37. Harrington, J. A.; Shishu, R. C.; and Asik, J. R.; Ford Motor Co.: A Study of Ignition System Effects on Power, Emissions, Lean Misfire Limit, and EGR Tolerance of a Single Cylinder Engine - Multiple Spark versus Conventional Single Spark Ignition. Paper 740188, SAE, March, 1974.
- Herrin, Ronald J.; General Motors Research Labs: The Importance of Secondary Air Mixing in Exhaust Therma. Reactor Systems. Paper 750174, SAE, February, 1975.
- 39. Hires, S. D.; Ford Motor Company; and Ekchian, A.; Heywood, J. B.; Tabaczynski, R. J.; and Wall, J. C.; Massachusetts Institute of Technology: Performance and NOx Emissions Modeling of a Jet Ignition Prechamber Stratified Charge Engine. Paper 760161, SAE, February, 1976.
- 40. Hiroyasu, H.; and Kadota, T.; University of Hiroshima: Models for Combustion and Formation of Nitric Oxide and Soot in Direct Injection Diesel Engines. Paper 760129, SAE, February, 1976.
- Hittler, D. L.; and Hamkins, L. R.; American Motors Corp.: Emission Control by Engine Design and Development. Paper 680110, SAE, January, 1968.
- 42. Hoehn, F. W.; Baisley, R. L.; and Dowdy, M. W.: Advances in Ultraclean Combustion Technology Using Hydrogen-Enriched Gasoline. Presentation Paper, Intersociety Energy Conversion Engineering Conference, August, 1975.
- 43. Houseman, John; and Cerini, D. J.; California Institute of Technology: On-Board Hydrogen Generator for a Partial Hydrogen Injection Internal Combustion Engine. Paper 740600, SAE, August, 1974.
- 44. Houseman, John; and Hoehn, Frank W.; Jet Propulsion Laboratory, California Institute of Technology: A Two-Charge Engine Concept: Hydrogen Enrichment. Paper 741169, SAE, November, 1974.
- 45. Houseman, J.; Molinari, L. F.; and Dowdy, M. W.: Lean Combustion of Hydrogen/Gasoline Mixtures. Presentation Paper, American Chemical Society, April, 1975.
- 46. Hubbard, M.; University of California at Davis; and Bonilla, J. J.; Randall, K. W.; and Powell, J. D.; Stanford University: Closed Loop Control of Lean Fuel-Air Ratios Using a Temperature Compensated Zirconia Oxygen Sensor. Paper 760287, SAE, February, 1976.
- 47. Hughes, D. W.; and Goulburn, J. R.; Ashby Institute. Queen's University of Belfast (Northern Ireland).: Economy with Reduced Exhaust Emissions -A Simple Technique. Paper 760140, SAE, February, 1976.

- Huls, T. A.; Ford Motor Co.; and Myers, P. S.; and Uyehara, O. A.; Wisconsin Univ.: Spark Ignition Engine Operation and Design for Minimum Exhaust Emission. Paper 660405, SAE, June, 1966, Vol. 75.
- 49. Huls, T. A.; and Nickol, H. A.; Ford Motor Co.: Influence of Engine Variables on Exhaust Oxides of Nitrogen Concentrations from a Multi-Cylinder Engine. Paper 670482, SAE, May, 1967.
- 50. Isley, W. F.: The Application of Fuel Injection to Ordnance Gasoline Engines. Continental Aviation and Engineering Corp., November, 1956.
- 51. Jackson, M. W.; Wiese, W. M.; and Wentworth, J. T.: The Influence of Air-Fuel Ratio, Spark Timing, and Combustion Chamber Deposits on Exhaust Hydrocarbon Emissions. Paper 486-A, SAE, March, 1962.
- 52. Jet Propulsion Laboratory: Hydrogen-Enrichment-Concept Preliminary Evaluation - Final Report. Document 1200-237, JPL, December 15, 1975.
- 53. Jo, Souk Hong; Japan Automobile Research Institute, Inc.; Jo, Pan Do; Institute of Industrial Science, Tokyo University; Comi, Tsutomu; Sophia University: and Ohnishi, Shigeru; Nippon Clean Engine Research Institute: Development of a Low-Emission and High-Performance 2-Stroke Gasoline Engine (NiCE). Paper 730463, SAE, May, 1973.
- 54. John, J. E. A., et al: Emission Control of Engine Systems. NTIS Report Number PB-242097, National Research Council, September, 1974.
- 55. Johnson, Steven A.; Onan Div., Onan Corp.; and Kittelson, David B.; and Murphy, Thomas E.; University of Minnesota: An Ionization Probe Study of Small Engine Combustion Chambers. Paper 760170, SAE, February, 1976.
- 56. Johnson, P. R.; Genslak, S. L.; and Nicholson, R. C.; Engineering Staff, General Motors Corp.: Vehicle Emission Systems Utilizing a Stratified Charge Engine. Paper 741157, SAE, November, 1974.
- 57. Kant, F. H.; et al: Feasibility Study of Alternative Fuels for Automotive Transportation, Vol. II - Technical Section. Report No. EPA-460/3-74-009-b, Exxon Research and Engineering Co., June, 1974.
- 58. Keranen, T. W.; and Wertheimer, H. P.; The Bendix Corp.: Spark Ignition Engine Control Variables Study, Paper 730004, SAE, January, 1973.
- 59. Khan, I. M.; Greeves, G.; and Wang, C. H. T.; CAV Ltd.: Factors Affecting Smoke and Gaseous Emissions from Direct Injection Engines and a Method of Calculation. Paper 730169, SAE, January, 1973.
- Kirwin, J. M.; and Hasse, E. A.; The Bendix Corp.: Fuel System Requirements for Light Aircraft Turbocharged Reciprocating Engines. Paper 740382, SAE, April, 1974.

10 B

. .

. .

- E

- Klomp, Edward D.; and Deboy, Gail R.; Research Labs., General Motors Corp.: The Effects of Fluid Motions on Combustion in a Prechamber Bomb. Paper 760162, SAE, February, 1976.
- 62. Killman, R. E.; Lestz, S. S.; and Meyer, W. E.; The Pennsylvania State University: Exhaust Emission Characteristics of a Small 2-Stroke Cycle Spark Ignition Engine. Paper 730159, SAE, January, 1973.
- 63. Komiyama, Kunihiko; Komatsu, Ltd. (Japan) and Massachusetts Institute of Technology; and Heywood, John B.; Massachusetts Institute of Technology: Predicting NOx Emissions and Effects of Exhau: t Gas Recirculation in Spark-Ignition Engines. Paper 730475, SAE, May, 1973.
- 64. LaMasters, G. D.; Marvel-Schebler/Tillotson Div., Borg Warner Corp.: Fuel Injection - Another Tool for Emission Control. Paper 720679, November, 1971.
- 65. Lancaster, David R.; Research Labs., General Motors Corp.: Effects of Engine Variables on Turbulence in a Spark-Ignition Engine. Paper 760159, SAE, February, 1976.
- 66. Lancaster, David R.; and Krieger, Roger B.; Research Labs., General Motors Corp.; and Sorenson, Spencer C.; and Hull, William L.; Mechanical Engineering Dept., University of Illinois: Effects of Turbulence on Spark-Ignition Engine Combustion. Paper 760160, SAE, February, 1976.
- 67. Lee, R. C.; Phillips Petroleum Co.: Effect of Compression Ratio, Mixture Strength, Spark Timing, and Coolant Temperature Upon Exhaust Emissions and Power. Paper 710832, SAE, October, 1971.
- Lestz, S. S.; Meyer, W. E.; and Colony, C. M.: Emissions from a Direct-Cylinder Water-Injected Spark-Ignition Engine. Paper 720113, SAE, January, 1972.
- Lord, H. A.; Sondreal, E. A.; Kadlec, R. H.; and Patterson, D. J.; The University of Michigan: Reactor Studies for Exhaust Oxidation Rates. Paper 730203, SAE, January, 1973.
- 70. Lucas, Albert G.; General Motors Corp.: Spark Ignition Engine Progress. Paper 670199, SAE, May, 1966.
- 71. Lucas, G. G.; and Varde, K.; University of Technology, Leicestershire (England): Analysis of Nitric Oxide Formation in Spark Ignition Engine with Heat Transfer and Effect of Ignition Point. Paper 740189, SAE, March, 1974.
- Lucas, G. G.; and Varde, K. S.; Loughborough Univ. of Tech. (United Kingdom): Off-Stoichiometry Operation of an SI Engine - A Model of Formation and Control of Nitric Oxide. Paper 750352, SAE, February, 1975.

- 73. MacDonald, J. Scott; Research Labs., General Motors Corp.: Evaluation of the Hydrogen-Supplemented Fuel Concept with an Experimental Multicylinder Engine. Paper 760101, SAE, February, 1976.
- 74. Malliaris, A. C.; Trella, T.; and Gould, H.; U. S. Dept. of Transportation: Engine Cycle Simulations and Comparisons to Real Engine Performance. Paper 760155, SAE, February, 1976.
- 75. Malliaris, A. C.; Withjack, E.; and Gould, H.; U. S. Dept. of Transportation: Simulated Sensitivities of Auto Fuel Economy, Performance and Emissions. Paper 760157, SAE, February, 1976.
- 76. Manger, Hansjoerg: Robert Bosch GmbH (West Germany): Digital Electronic Spark Advance Systems. Paper 760265, SAE, February, 1976.
- 77. Matthes, William R.; and McGill, Ralph N.; Research Labs., General Motors Corp.: Effects of the Degree of Fuel Atomization on Single-Cylinder Engine Performance. Paper 760017, SAE, February, 1976.
- 78. May, Hans; and Schulz, Harry; Technical University Aachen, Germany: New Distributing Injection System and Its Potential for Improving Exhaust Gas Emissions. Paper 680043, SAE, January, 1968.
- 79. Mayo, J.; Combustion Engineering Dept., Ford Motor Co.: The Effect of Engine Design Parameters on Combustion Rate in Spark-Ignited Engines. Paper 750355, SAE, February, 1975.
- Megonnel, William H.; Environmental Protection Agency: Regulation of Pollutant Emissions from Aircraft - Today and Tomorrow. Paper 710337, SAE Transactions, Volume 80, 1971.
- Menard, W. A.; Moynihan, P. I.; and Rupe, J. H.; Jet Propulsion Lab., California Institute of Technology: New Potentials for Conventional Aircraft when Powered by Hydrogen-Enriched Gasoline. Paper 760469, SAE, April, 1976.
- 82. Milkins, E. E.; Watson, H. C.; Goldsworthy, L. C.; and Hallworth, R. J.; Dept. of Mechanical Engineering, Univ. of Melbourne: Cycle by Cycle Variability in Emissions of a Spark Ignition Engine. Paper 741034, SAE, October, 1974.
- Milks, David; and Matula, Richard A.; Mechanical Engineering and Mechanics Dept., Drexel University: Emissions and Fuel Economy Test Methods and Procedures for Light Duty Motor Vehicles - a Critique. Paper 760141, SAE, February, 1976.
- Mitchell, E.; Cobb, J. M.; and Frost, R. A.; Texaco Inc., Res. Center: Design and Evaluation of a Stratified Charge Multifuel Military Engine. Paper 680042, SAE Transactions, Vol. 77, January, 1968.

17 A

· .

. .

45 **5** 

- -

- Mitchell, E.; Alperstein, M.; Cobb, J. M.; and Faist, C. H.; Texaco Research Center: A Stratified Charge Multifuel Military Engine - A Progress Report. Paper 720051, SAE, January, 1972.
- 86. Miyake, Masataka; Mitsubishi Heavy Industries, Ltd.: Developing a New Stratified Charge Combustion System with Fuel Injection for Reducing Exhaust Emissions in Small Farm and Industrial Engines. Paper 720196, SAE Transactions, Volume 81, 1972.
- 87. Morgan, C. R.; and Hetrick, S. S.: The Effects of Engine Variables and Exhaust Gas Recirculation on Emissions, Fuel Economy, and Knock -Part II. Paper 760198, SAE, February, 1976.
- Motoyoshi, Eiichi; Yamada, Tadashi; and Mori, Mitsuyoshi; Yamar Diesel Engine Co., Ltd. (Japan): The Combustion and Exhaust Emission Characteristics and Starting Ability of Y. P. C. Combustion System. Paper 760215, SAE, February, 1976.
- 89. Myers, P. S.; Uyehara, O. A.; and Newhall, H. K.: The ABC's of Engine Exhaust Emissions. Paper 710481, SAE, 1971.
- 90. Nakagawa, Hiroshi; and Tateishi, Mataji; Mitsubishi Heavy Industries, Ltd. (Japan); and Sekino, Masaaki; Mitsubishi Motors Corp. (Japan): Application of Fuel Spray Theory to Exhaust Emission Control in a D. I. Diesel Engine. Paper 760214, SAE, February, 1976.
- 91. Newhall, H. K.; and El-Messiri, I. A.; the University of Wisconsin: A Combustion chamber Designed for Minimum Engine Exhaust Emissions. Paper 700491, SAE Transactions, Volume 79, 1970.
- 92. Nicholson, Roy C.; and Niepoth, George W.: Effect of Emission Constraints on Optimum Engine Size and Fuel Economy. Paper 760046, SAE, February, 1976.
- 93. Ospring, Michael; Karnopp, Kean; and Margelis, Donald; Dept. of Mechanical Engineering, University of California at Davis: Comparison of Computer Predictions and Experimental Tests for Two-Stroke Engine Exhaust Systems. Paper 760172, SAE, February, 1976.
- 94. Parks, Fred B.; Research Labs., General Motors Corp.: A Single-Cylinder Engine Study of Hydrogen-Rich Fuels. Paper 760099, SAE, February, 1976.
- 95. Patterson, D. J.; General Motors Corp.: Cylinder Pressure Variations, A Fundamental Combustion Problem. Paper 660129, SAE Transactions, Volume 75, January, 1966.
- Perez, J. M.; and Landen, E. W.; Caterpillar Tractor Co.: Exhaust Emissions Characteristics of precombustion Chamber Engines. Paper 680421, SAE Transactions, Volume 77, 1968.

1.....

.

.

1.

3

- 97. Pischinger, F. F.; and Klocher, K. J.; Lehrstuhl fur Angewandte Thermodynamik an der Rheinisch-Westfalischen Technischen Hochschule Aachen: Single-Cylinder Study of Stratified Charge Process with Prechamber-Injection. Paper 751162, SAE, November, 1974.
- 98. Platt, Melvin; and Bastress, E. Karl; Northern Research and Engineering Corp.: The Impact of Aircraft Emissions Upon Air Quality. Paper 720610 (P-44), SAE Transactions, Volume 81, May and June, 1972.
- 99. Pozniak, Donald J.; Res. Labs., General Motors Corp.: Exhuast-Port Fuel Injection for Chemical Reduction of Nitric Oxide. Paper 750173, SAE, February, 1975.
- 100. Pozniak, Donald J.; Research Labs., General Motors Corp.: A Spark Ignition Lean-Homogeneous Combustion Engine Emission Control System for a Small Vehicle. Paper 760225, SAE, February, 1976.
- 101. Pozniak, Donald J.; and Siewert, Robert M.; Research Labs., General Motors Corp.: Continuous Secondary Air Modulation - Its Effect on Thermal Manifold Reactor Performance. Paper 730493, SAE, May, 1973.
- 102. Purins, Egils A.; Ford Motor Company: Pre-Chamber Stratified Charge Engine Combustion Studies. Paper 741159, SAE, May, 1973.
- 103. Quader, Ather A.; Res. Labs., General Motors Corp.: Effects of Spark Location and Combustion Duration on Nitric Oxide and Hydrocarbon Emissions. Paper 730153, SAE, January, 1973.
- 104. Quader, Ather A.; Res. Lab. Div., General Motors Corp.: Lean Combustion and the Misfire Limit in Spark-Ignition Engines. Paper 741055, SAE, October, 1974.
- 105. Rhodes, K. H.; Walker Mfg. Co.: Project Stratofire, Paper 660094, SAE, January, 1966.
- 106. Ricardo Consulting Engineers: An Evaluation of the Honda CVCC Engined Vehicle and a Comparison with the Conventional 2 Valve Cylinder Head. Report No. DP 76/328, May, 1976.
- 107. Rivard, J. G.; The Bendix Corp.: Closed-Loop Electronic Fuel Injection Control of the Internal Combustion Engine. Paper 730005, SAE, January, 1973.
- 108. Rudey, Richard A.; and Kempke, Erwin, E., Jr.; National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Lewis Research Center, Cleveland, Ohio: Technology for Reducing Aircraft Engine Pollution. Paper 750770, SAE, April, 1975.

- 109. Ryan, T. W., III,; Lestz, S. S.; and Meyer, W. E.; The Pennsylvania State University: Extension of the Lean Misfire Limit and Reduction of Exhaust Emissions of an SI Engine by Modification of the Ignition and Intake Systems. Paper 740105, SAE, March, 1974.
- 110. Sakai, Yasuo; Miyazaki, Hiroaki; and Mukai, Kosaburo; Nissan Motor Co., Ltd.: The Effect of Combustion Chamber Space on Nitrogen Oxides. Paper 730154, SAE, January, 1973.
- 111. Sakai, Yasuo,; Kunii, Kazuya; Tsutsumi, Saburo; and Nakagawa, Yasuhiko; Nissan Motor Co., Ltd. (Japan): Combustion Characteristics of the Torch Ignited Engine. Paper 741167, SAE, November, 1974.
- 112. Sallee, G. P.; American Airlines, Inc.: Status Report on Aircraft and Airports as Sources of Pollution. Paper 710318, (P-37), SAE Transactions, Volume 80, 1971.
- 113. Schiele, Carl A.; Environmental Activities Staff, General Motors Corp.; and DeNagel, Stephen F.; and Bennethum, James E.; Research Labs., General Motors Corp.: Design and Development of a Variable Valve Timing (VVT) Camshaft. Paper 740102, SAE, March, 1974.
- 114. Schoeppel, R. J.: Design Criteria for Hydrogen Burning Engines. Report Number AFTD-0901, Oklahoma State University, October, 1971.
- 115. Schweikert, John F.; and Johnson, John H.; Michigan Technological University: A Turbocharged Spark Ignition Engine with Low Exhaust Emissions and Improved Fuel Economy. Paper 730633, SAE, June, 1973.
- 116. Springer, K. J.: An Investigation of Diesel-Powered Vehicle Emissions, Part V. Report No. AR-936, Southwest Research Institute, April, 1974.
- 117. Springer, K. J.; and Ashby, H. A.: The Low Emission Car for 1975 -Enter the Diesel. Paper No. 739133, Intersociety Energy Conversion Engineering Conference, August, 1973.
- 118. Springer, Karl J.; Southwest Research Institute; and Stahman, Ralph C.; Environmental Protection Agency: Diesel Emission Control through Retrofits. Paper 750205, SAE, February, 1975.
- 119. Springer, Karl J.; Southwest Research Institute; and Stahman, Ralph C.; Environmental Protection Agency: Emissions and Economy of Four Diesel Cars. Paper 750332, SAE, February, 1975.
- 120. Springer, Karl J.; Southwest Research Institute; and White, John T.; and Domke, Charles J; Environmental Protection Agency: Emissions from In-Use 1970-1971 Diesel-Powered Trucks and Buses. Paper 741006, SAF, October, 1974.

121. Stebar, R. F.; and Parks, F. B.; Research Labs., General Motors Corp.: Emission Control with Lean Operation Using Hydrogen-Supplemented Fuel. Paper 740187, SAE, March, 1974.

-

1.

!.

- 122. Suzuki, Takashi; and Usami, Kozi; Hino Motors, Ltd. (Japan): A Modification of Combustion Systems for Low Exhaust Emission and Its Effects on Durability of Prechamber Diesel Engine. Paper 760213, SAE, February, 1976.
- 123. Tabaczynski, Rodney J.; and Klomp, Edward D.; Research Lab., Div., General Motors Corp.: Calculated Nitric Oxide Emissions of an Unthrottled Spark Ignited, Stratified Charge Internal Combustion Engine. Paper 741171, SAE, November, 1974.
- 124. Tanuma, Takeshi; Sasaki, Kenichi; Kaneko, Touru; and Kawasaki, Hajime; Nissan Motor Co., Ltd.: Ignition, Combustion, and Exhaust Emissions of Lean Mixtures in Automotive Spark Ignition Engines. Paper 710159, SAE Transactions, Volume 80, 1971.
- 125. Thomas, Stanley R., Jr.; Lawrence Livermore Laboratory: Characteristics of a Four Cylinder Hydrogen-Fueled Internal Combustion Engine. Paper 760100, SAE, February, 1976.
- 126. Thompson, J. C.: A Report on the Emission Performance of the Ford Stratified Charge Engine Using the 1975 Test Procedure. Report Number APTD-1386, Environmental Protection Agency, August, 1971.
- 127. Thomson, J. C.: An Evaluation of a Variable Cam Timing Technique as a Control Method for Oxides of Nitrogen. Report Number APTD-1431, National Air Pollution Control Administration, October, 1970.
- 128. Thomson, J. C.: Exhaust Emissions on an Uncontrolled Passenger Car Using Variable Cam Timing. NTIS Report Number APTD-1437, National Air Pollution Control Administration, August, 1970.
- 129. Turkish, Michael C.; Eaton Corporation: 3-Valve Stratified Charge Engines: Envolvement, Analysis and Progression. Paper 741163, SAE, November, 1974.
- 130. Urban, C. M.; Springer, K. J.; and Montalvo, D. A.: Emissions Control Technology Assessment of Heavy Duty Vehicle Engines. Report Number EPA-460/3-74-007, Southwest Research Institute, December, 1973.
- 131. Uyehara, O. A.; and Myers, P. S.; University of Wisconsin; and Marsh, E. E.; and Cheklich, G. E.; Army Tank Automotive Command: A Classification of Reciprocating Engine Combustion Systems. Paper 741156, SAE, November, 1974.

- 132. Varde, K. S.; University of Michigan; and Lucas, G. G.; University of Michigan; and Lucas, G. G.; University of Technology (United Kingdom): Effects of Pressure Variations and Combustion Duration on the Emission of Hydrocarbons and Nitric Oxide. Paper 760142, SAE, February, 1976.
- 133. Walder, C. J.; Ricardo & Co. Engineers (1927) Ltd.: Reduction of Emissions from Diesel Engines. Paper 730214, SAE, January, 1973.
- 134. Warren, Glenn B.; and Bjerklie, J. W.; Mechanical Technology Inc.: Proposed Reciprocating Internal Combustion Engine with Constant Pressure Combustion in a Combustion Chamber Separated from Cylinders (Modified Brayton Cycle). Paper 690045, SAE, January, 1969.
- 135. Watfa, M., D. E.: The Effects of Charge Stratification on Nitric Oxide Emission from Spark Ignition Engines. Paper 741175, SAE, November, 1974.
- 136. Weil, K. H.: The Hydrogen I. C. Engine Its Origins and Future in the Emerging Energy - Transportation - Environment System. Report Number N74-18403, Stevens Institute of Technology, 1974.
- 137. Wentworth, J. T.; Research Labs., General Motors Corp.: Effects of Combustion Chamber Shape and Spark Location on Exhaust Nitric Oxide and Hydrocarbon Emissions. Paper 750529, SAE, June, 1974.
- 138. Westfield, William T.; Federal Aviation Administration: The Current and Future Basis for Aircraft Air Pollution Control. Paper 710339 (P-37), SAE Transactions, Volume 80, 1971.
- 139. Wigg, Eric E.; Esso Research and Engineering Co.: Reactive Exhaust Emissions from Current and Future Emission Control Systems. Paper 730196, SAE, January, 1973.
- 140. Wimmer, D. B.; and Lee, R. C.; Phillips Petroleum Co.: An Evaluation of the Performance and Emissions of a CFR Engine Equipped with a Prechamber. Paper 730474, SAE, May, 1973.
- 141. Witzky, J. E.; and Clark, J. M. Jr.; Southwest Res. Institute: A Study of the Swirl Stratified Charge Combustion Principle. Paper 660092, SAE Transactions, Volume 75, 1966.
- 142. Yagi, Shizuo,; Date, Tasuku; and Inoue, Kazuo; Honda R&D Co., Ltd. (Japan): NO<sub>x</sub> Emissions and Fuel Economy of the Honda CVCC Engine. Paper 741158, SAE, November, 1974.
- 143. Yagi, Shizuo; Fujii, Isao; Narasaka, Mori and Shin: On the Emission-Combustion Temperature Relationship in the CVCC Engine. Paper 760109, SAE, February, 1976.

na ile e d'Ile ile e d'Altre a da sel

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY** - Concluded

for vol.

- 144. Yun, H. J.; and Lo, R. S.; Ford Motor Company; and Na, T. Y.; The University of Michigan, Dearborn Campus: Theoretical Studies of Fuel Droplet Evaporization and Transportation in a Carburetor Venturi. Paper 760289, SAE, February, 1976.
- 145. Zechnall, Richard; Baumann, Guenther; and Eisele, Hermann; Robert Bosch, GmbH (Germany): Closed-Loop Exhaust Emission Control System with Electronic Fuel Injection. Paper 730566, SAE, May, 1973.
- 146. Zegel, W. C.; Souza, A. F.; and Reckner, L. R.; Scott Research Labs: Exhaust Emissions of Light Aircraft. Paper 710370, SAE Transactions, Volume 80, 1971.
- 147. Zimmerman, Klaus D.; Robert Bosch GmbH (Germany): New Robert Bosch Developments for Diesel Fuel Injection. Paper 760127, SAE, February, 1976.